## THE ROLE OF PUTATIVE NOX INHIBITORS IN HOMOCYSTEINE-INDUCED VASCULAR DYSFUNCTION

By

Renee Melissa Smith, B. Sc. (Hons)

Submitted in the month of September 2018

In total fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of

## **Doctor of Philosophy**

Principle Supervisor: Prof. Alan Hayes Secondary Supervisor: Dr. Anthony Zulli Institute for Health and Sport (IHES), Victoria University, Melbourne, Victoria 8001. Australia

#### I. Abstract:

Excess plasma homocysteine (Hcy; hyperhomocysteinemia, HHcy) remains an independent risk factor for cardiovascular disease (CVD) and treatments remain elusive. The source of Hcy, methionine, is an essential amino acid acquired by ingestion of animal foods. Normal methionine metabolism effectively removes Hcy via recycling back into methionine or excretion via the kidney. However, in aberrant methionine metabolism, Hcy accumulates and causes damage to the vascular system by increasing oxidative stress; the exact mechanism of how this occurs is unknown. Importantly, the B vitamins B<sub>6</sub>, B<sub>9</sub> and B<sub>12</sub> are essential to proper methionine/Hcy metabolism and are often found in low levels in patients presenting with HHcy; this has provided a potentially viable treatment strategy in the clinical setting. Disappointingly, clinical trials administering B vitamins to reduce HHcy have been unsuccessful in reducing CVD and treatments continue to be sought.

The NADPH oxidase (Nox) family of enzymes are expressed in a broad range of cell types throughout the body and are the primary source of superoxide (Nox1, Nox2) and hydrogen peroxide (Nox4) within the vasculature under both physiological and pathological conditions. Nox1, 2 and 4 are of primary interest in vascular disease, as there is evidence that Hcy can interfere with the proper function of Nox1, 2 and 4 signalling, potentially leading to an over-expression of pro-oxidants. Nox1, 2 and 4 have been implicated in vascular disease (endothelial dysfunction), hypertension, vascular inflammation, stroke, diabetes, and atherosclerosis, and putative inhibitors of these enzymes are now available. Additionally, nitric oxide (NO) is also measured as a marker of proper vascular function; indeed, the current gold standard of assessing NO availability is by indirectly measuring vascular responses to acetylcholine. Accordingly, a loss of NO bioavailability is linked to the development of many of the same vascular pathologies caused by HHcy and also potentially increased Nox1, 2, and 4 activity.

Thus, this thesis examined if current putative Nox inhibitors could prevent vascular dysfunction caused by homocysteine (as indirectly measured by acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation). Using New Zealand white rabbits, C57BL/6 mice and a Nox2<sup>-/-</sup> (C57BL/6 background) mouse models, we observed that pharmacological intervention with single Nox1, 2 and 4 inhibitors reduced the effect of acetylcholine on vasorelaxation. In 1% methionine-fed Nox2<sup>-/-</sup> mice, we observed an improvement in function. We also assessed combinations of Nox1, 2 and 4 inhibitors and found that, although function was not restored to control levels, it was improved compared with single Nox inhibition. Due to these results, we performed a gp91ds-tat dose response in rabbit aorta. We found that in our models of vascular dysfunction, lower doses of gp91ds-tat significantly improved acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation. These results showed for the first time that in both pharmacological and diet-induced HHcy, high dose putative Nox inhibitors might not be effective.

In conclusion, the observations made in this thesis highlight the important role that Hcy plays in the redox balance in the context of vascular function. Future work in this area should focus on low dose Nox inhibition in Hcy induced disease in *in vivo* models, in order to better determine which drug can be used to HHcy induced vascular damage.

#### **II.** Doctor of Philosophy Student Declaration

"I, Renee Melissa Smith, declare that the PhD thesis entitled The Role Of Nox1, 2 And 4 Inhibition In Homocysteine-Impaired Acetylcholine-Mediated Vasorelaxation is no more than 100,000 words in length including quotes and exclusive of tables, figures, appendices, bibliography, references and footnotes. This thesis contains no material that has been submitted previously, in whole or in part, for the award of any other academic degree or diploma. Except where otherwise indicated, this thesis is my own work".

Signature

Date 03/09/2018

Institute for Health and Sport (IHES), Victoria University, Melbourne, Victoria, 8001, Australia

#### **III.** Acknowledgements

Thanks to my supervisors, Prof. Hayes and Dr. Zulli. Without your constant encouragement, teaching and engaging, I never would have gotten through the last 3 years. Both of your contributions to this part of my life will not be forgotten. Anthony, in particular, you've been instrumental in guiding me through this process with patience and wisdom. I thank you and will always appreciate the things about science and life that I've learned by listening to you and conversing with you.

Thanks to my lab colleagues, Sudarshan Rai and Tawar Qaradhaki. Your kindness and willingness to help were and are always appreciated. Tawar, in particular, I've really benefitted from our friendship; I just know you have so far to go in science and will get there. Thanks also to the current students, Alex, Laura, Kristen and Chris for trusting me to help you learn these experimental techniques and quirks of our lab.

Thanks to Anne Luxford, VU Animal Facilities Operations Supervisor. You've been a constant and generous help, I have really enjoyed working with you.

Thanks to the technical support staff at WB, Stacey, Mary, Charmaine, Larry, and Joe. You have always been so helpful and generous with your time and it is a joy to work in a place with such lovely, helpful staff.

### To Leon

This thesis would not have been possible without your constant guidance, companionship, and support. I will be forever grateful, thank you.

#### Contents

I. Abstract	2
II. Doctor of Philosophy Declaration	4
III. Acknowledgements	5
IV. List of Abbreviations	12
Chapter 1	14
1.1 Summary	14
1.2 General Introduction	16
1.3 Atherosclerosis Pathogenesis	17
1.4 Risk Factors for Atherosclerosis	19
1.5 Homocysteine	20
1.6 Impaired ACh-Mediated Vasorelaxation as a sensor for reduced	nitric oxide
bioavailability	24
1.7 Nox family of enzymes: Focus on Nox1, 2 and 4	24
1.8 Studies Linking Hcy to Nox	26
1.9 Clinical studies: Disappointing Outcomes	
1.10 Current Treatments: Statins	29
1.11 Nox1, 2 and 4 Inhibition	31
1.12 Inducible Nitric Oxide Synthase (iNOS)	36
Chapter 2	37
2.1 General Methods	
2.2 Experimental Protocol: Anaesthesia and Culling	40
2.3 Immunohistochemistry	41
2.4 Statistics	43
2.5 Solutions	
Chapter 3	45

3.1 Putative Nox2 Inhibitors Apocynin, Gp91ds-Tat, and PhoxI2 Worsen Homocysteine-Induced Impaired Acetylcholine-Mediated Relaxation (manuscript accepted May 2019)..... 45

3.2 Abstract	45
3.3 Background	46
3.4 Methods	
3.5 Results	50
3.6 Figures	51
3.7 Discussion	54
3.8 Limitations	58
3.9 Conclusion	58
3.10 The Effect of Nox4 Inhibitor VAS2870 in Acute and Chronic Homocysteine	-Induced
Endothelial Dysfunction	61
3.11 Abstract	61
3.12 Introduction	63
3.13 Methods	66
3.14 Results	67
3.15 Figures	69
3.16 Discussion	76
3.17 Limitations	81
3.18 Conclusion	81
Chapter 4	84
4.1 eNOS phosphorylation is impaired in HHcy plus GP incubated tissue	82
4.2 Abstract	82
4.3 Introduction	83
4.4 Methods	83
4.5 Results	84

4.6 Discussion	84
4.7 Limitations	86
4.8 Conclusion	86
Chapter 5	87
5.1 Combinations of Nox1, 2 and 4 inhibition improves HHcy-impaired ace mediated vasorelaxation, whereas iNOS inhibition worsens it	tylcholine- 87
<ul><li>5.2 Abstract</li><li>5.3 Introduction</li><li>5.4 Methods.</li></ul>	87 89 91
<ul><li>5.5 Results</li><li>5.6 Discussion</li><li>5.7 Limitations</li></ul>	
<ul> <li>5.8</li> <li>Conclusion</li> <li>Chapter 6</li> <li>6.1 The Effect of Combined Nox Inhibitors in Homocysteine-Induced I</li> </ul>	100 102 Endothelial
Dysfunction	102
6.3 Introduction.	102
6.4 Methods	106
6.5 Results	108
6.6 Discussion	114
6.7 Limitations	116
6.9 An atherogenic diet causes imanired acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation w	hich is not
rescued by combined Nox1, 2 and 4 inhibition	
6.10 Abstract	117

6.11 Introduction1	18
6.12 Methods1	21
6.13 Results1	21
6.14 Discussion1	.32
6.15 Limitations1	.36
6.16 Conclusion1	36
Chapter 712	37
7.1 The Benefit of GP91DS-TAT in Improving Homocysteine-Induced Impair Acetylcholine-Mediated Vasorelaxation is Dependent on Concentration	red
7.2 Abstract1	.37
7.3 Introduction1	39
7.4 Methods	40
7.5 Results	12
7.6 Discussion14	4
7.7 Limitations14	5
7.8 Conclusion14	-5
Chapter 814	6
8.1 General Discussion Summary of Major Findings14	6
8.2 Single Nox2 and 4 inhibition worsens HHcy-impaired acetylcholine-mediat vasorelaxation, but this can be partially rescued by activating the Akt pathway or inducing 0 generation	ted D <sub>2</sub> - 46
8.3 eNOS phosphorylation is impaired in HHcy plus GP incubated tissue1	.47
8.4 Combinations of Nox1, 2 and 4 inhibition improves HHcy-impaired acetylcholin mediated vasorelaxation, whereas iNOS inhibition worsens it	ne- 47

8.5 An atherogenic or 1% methionine diet worsens acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation in
rabbits and wild-type (WT) mice, but improves function in a Nox2 <sup>-/-</sup> mouse model148
8.6 The efficacy of GP in HHcy-impaired acetylcholine-impaired vasorelaxation in dependent
on the dose

8.8 Future Directions	
8.9 Concluding Remarks	151

8.7 Summary......149

#### **IV. List of Abbreviations**

#### Abbreviation/Explanation

ACh	Acetylcholine
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
CβS	Cystathionine $\beta$ synthase
CaCl	Calcium chloride
CAD	Coronary artery disease
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
DAB	3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
DPI	Diphenylene iodonium
EC <sub>50</sub>	Half maximal effective concentration of a drug
ED	Endothelial dysfunction
eNOS	Endothelial nitric oxide synthase
g	Grams
GKT	GKT137831
GP	Gp91ds-tat
H <sub>2</sub> O	Hydrogen dioxide
$H_2O_2$	Hydrogen peroxide
HDL	High-density lipoprotein
Нсу	Homocysteine
ННсу	Hyperhomocysteinemia
iNOS	Inducible nitric oxide synthase
I/U	International units
HUVECs	Human umbilical vein endothelial cells
KCl	Potassium chloride
KH2PO4	Potassium dihydrogen phosphate
L	Litre
LDL	Low-density lipoprotein
μΜ	Micromolar concentration
mM	Millimolar concentration
Μ	1 Molar concentration

Page | 12

MgSO4	Magnesium sulfide
ML	ML-090
MTHFR	Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase
NaCl	Sodium chloride
NADPH	Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide Phosphate
NaHCO3	Sodium hydrocarbonate
NO	Nitric oxide
NOS	Nitric oxide synthase
Nox	Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide Phosphate Oxidases
NOX	Nox2 <sup>-/-</sup> transgenic mice
<b>O</b> <sub>2</sub>	Oxygen
O <sub>2</sub> -	Superoxide
OS	Oxidative stress
PBS	Phosphate buffer solution
PFA	Paraformaldehyde
Phen	Phenylephrine
Pi3K/Akt	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/protein kinase B
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RT	Room temperature
SEM	Standard error of the mean
Ser <sup>1177</sup>	Serine <sup>1177</sup>
T1DM	Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus
T2DM	Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus
Thr <sup>495</sup>	Threonine <sup>495</sup>
TrisHcl	Trisaminomethane
WT	Wild type
VAS	VAS2870

#### Chapter 1

#### 1.1 Thesis summary

The pathological effect on the vasculature due to excess plasma Hcy has been known since the early 20<sup>th</sup> century, yet although efforts have been made to treat this disease, there is still no treatment to improve CVD. Work by Dr. Zulli and others had already provided evidence that Hcy causes vascular dysfunction in an ex vivo rabbit model. Further, Zulli and colleagues also reported that Hcy and eNOS are inextricably linked, with Hcy hypothesised to interfere with eNOS enzymatic activity, although the mechanism remains unknown. The finding that reductions in vascular function were related to the endothelial layer highlight the essential role of NO in normal vascular function. The evidence that membranous signalling Nox enzymes are the primary source of ROS within the vasculature under both physiological and pathological conditions, led us to hypothesise that if putative Nox inhibitors are used in HHcy, this could improve function in the vasculature and thus be used to treat HHcy. Separately, Hcy and Nox, particularly Nox2, have been implicated in the development and ongoing dysfunction in impaired acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation. We hypothesised that Nox might be directly implicated in Hcy-induced endothelial dysfunction. We tested these hypothesises with different models: pharmacological Nox inhibition in rabbits and mice and Nox2 deletion in mice using acute (in vitro) and chronic (dietary) HHcy. In rabbits, in both acute and chronic models, Hcy-impaired acetylcholine mediated vasorelaxation, which worsened with putative Nox inhibitors. This was dependent on the inhibitor used. We subsequently found that when a superoxide donor or Akt activator was used, the effect of gp91ds-tat was blunted. Interestingly, Nox2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were protected from impaired function when fed a 1% methioninerich diet, whereas in other mice we observed reduced acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation. We also investigated, using semi-quantitative immunohistochemistry, the effect that Hcy and/or gp91ds-tat has on eNOS phosphorylation. We found that Hcy plus gp91ds-tat reduces

eNOS phosphorylation in the acute Hcy rabbit at Ser<sup>1177</sup>, an position that requires increased phosphorylation with concomitant reduction in phosphorylation at Thr<sup>495</sup>. Interestingly, in the acute Hcy rabbit model, phosphorylation was decreased at Thr<sup>495</sup>.

As the thesis evolved, we reduced the dose of gp91ds-tat in our acute model, which improved aortic function.

In conclusion, the observations made in this thesis establish the foundation to further study low dose gp91ds-tat in a pathological model, which could be a promising avenue for reducing CVD in HHcy.

#### **1.2 General Introduction**

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is the leading cause of mortality and morbidity in the world (Lozano et al. 2012). CVD is the umbrella term that describes the major diseases of the heart and blood vessels; including coronary artery disease (CAD), increased blood pressure, peripheral artery disease and atherosclerosis (Epstein 1996). Classic CVD lifestyle risk factors contributing to the development and augmentation of morbidity and mortality outcomes include smoking (Bild et al. 2014), obesity (Coppieters & von Herrath 2014), insulin resistance and Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (T2DM), (Cannizzo et al. 2012; Hills et al. 2004) and lack of physical activity (CADTH 2014). Diet is a major factor in CVD risk, with public policy advising on a reduction of foods high in saturated fat, refined sugars and starches, advice which has been in place since 1980 (HHS & USDA 1980; NHMRC 2017). Dietary guidelines such as these are part of a CVD prevention strategy, as by reducing the risk of CVD events, such as heart attack and stroke, the economic burden may also be lessened (Baer et al. 2014; Bowen et al. 2018; Flueckiger et al. 2016; Roth et al. 2017). It is established that diet contributes to the risk of CVD incidence (Iacono et al. 1975; Kannel & McGee 1979), and cholesterol was highlighted as a potential associated factor (Doyle et al. 1957; Jolliffe 1959; Lawry et al. 1957; Mann et al. 1955). From this evidence, the targeting of single macronutrients, such as the recommendation to reduce saturated fats with carbohydrates, justified the implementation of the dietary guidelines. This advice has now been replaced with a broader guideline, focusing instead on improving the dietary pattern as a whole, as it is now thought that a wide variety of healthy foods can improve CVD risk from a dietary perspective (Baer et al. 2014; Liu et al. 2017). Importantly, homocysteine (Hcy), a sulphur-containing amino acid by-product of methionine metabolism, remains an independent risk factor for increased CVD risk and dietary intervention has not proven successful in clinical trials to date (Clarke, Robert et al. 2014; Debreceni, Balazs & Debreceni 2012; Hodis et al. 2009; Lonn et al. 2006; Saposnik et al. 2009;

Toole et al. 2004). Strategies to reduce risk and improve outcomes involve pharmacological administration and lifestyle changes, and, depending on the severity of the disease, surgical intervention. Lifestyle modifications aimed at reducing CVD symptoms complement pharmacological treatments such as statins to reduce cholesterol (Lee, H-Y et al. 2014), diuretics to reduce blood pressure (Schaffer et al. 2014), in addition to policies for dietary modification, such as reducing saturated fatty acids and carbohydrates to improve the total HDL and LDL cholesterol ratio (Baer et al. 2014).

The burden of CVD across the world has varying impacts. A recent large-scale study assessing the relationship between sociodemographic regions and CVD risk found that while there has been a sharp decline in CVD in high socio-economic regions over the last 25 years, lower socio-economic regions showed either no change or an increase in incidents (Roth et al. 2017). This brings into focus the increasing economic burden of CVD, which is of particular importance to nations without the means to investigate preventative measures aimed at reducing CVD development. Importantly, a recent report using modelling to investigate the cost benefit of preventative screening for CVD in the USA, found that hypertension screening and aspirin counselling saved money per patient (Dehmer et al. 2017), while a 2009 review reported that combined for the USA, Canada and Europe, approximately 600 billion was spent on the total cost of CVD for 2006 (Tarride et al. 2009).

#### 1.3 Pathogenesis of Atherosclerosis

Atherosclerosis is essentially an inflammatory condition, caused by events that result in excess oxidative stress (Sorescu 2002) leading to vessel remodelling (Moraes et al. 2010). Initially, damage occurs at the site of attack and triggers a normal inflammatory response involving monocyte and leukocyte recruitment, which repair the area, and, in a normal response, leave the area (Raggi et al. 2018). As repeated attacks occur, the vascular wall undergoes modification which triggers ongoing aggregation and proliferation of lipoprotein-filled

macrophages which first become foam cells and then, over time, become fibrotic (Burke et al. 2001; Miida et al. 2014). Acting in a positive feedback mechanism, damaged cells continue to cluster in the arterial vessels and provoke an aggressive and repetitive immune response, resulting in deposition of lipid and smooth muscle actin (Moraes et al. 2010). The proinflammatory response further endangers susceptible plaque caps via degradation of the cap by proteolytic enzymes, and after rupture the contents travel to the heart, lungs or brain (Andreou et al. 2015; Burke et al. 2001; Miida et al. 2014). Plaque instability increases the risk of stroke and myocardial infarction (Crucet et al. 2013) and is used as a predictive risk of CHD events (Amato et al. 2017; Nambi et al. 2010). The significant damage to the endothelium results in an overall change in the ratio of the delicate ROS balance, causing increased  $O_2^-$  and reduced NO, characterised as endothelial dysfunction (ED) (Cai, H & Harrison 2000; Quesada et al. 2015). ED directly affects the normal function of acetylcholine by reducing the amount of available NO and impairing vasodilation (Kobayashi et al. 2004; Lee, J et al. 2016).



Figure 1.1. Atherosclerosis can occur as a result of aberrant inflammatory regulation. The steps of atherosclerosis are varied and rely on several factors, including the deposition of oxidised low-density lipoproteins and the differentiation of monocytes into macrophages (Teixeira & Tam 2018).

#### 1.4 Risk Factors for Atherosclerosis

As a multi-factorial vascular disease, atherosclerosis can develop under a number of conditions, indeed this contributes to the difficulty in both treating and reducing its burden. There are multiple risk factors associated with developing atherosclerosis: T2DM, smoking, hypertension, obesity, sedentarism and hyperlipidaemia; recently, changes to gut bacteria have also been identified as a novel risk (Bays 2014; Bild et al. 2014; Khan et al. 2014; Mudau et al. 2012; Nyyssonen et al. 2012; Steed & Tyagi 2011; Tan et al. 2012). There are currently no effective treatments in place for atherosclerosis, only preventative policies addressing lifestyle behaviours, such as smoking cessation, physical activity and dietary modification, particularly to reduce low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) (Bild et al. 2014; Bowles & Laughlin

2011; Eijsvogels et al. 2016; Kalanuria, Nyquist & Ling 2012; Nyyssonen et al. 2012; Tejani et al. 2014; Thompson et al. 2003). Establishing an exact pathophysiological mechanism from these risk factors has been very difficult. HHcy is supported as a causal factor involved in the development of atherosclerosis, although how impaired methionine metabolism impacts on the development of atherosclerosis remains unclear (Hoffman 2011; Jiang et al. 2012; Julve et al. 2013). Importantly, despite the indication of a relationship between atherosclerosis and HHcy, the available evidence does not support the hypothesis that attempting to reduce HHcy levels with B vitamins reduces disease (Debreceni, Balazs & Debreceni 2012; Lonn et al. 2006). Elevated plasma Hcy levels, both moderate and severe, might increase the risk of adverse atherothrombotic events in humans: animal studies support this, such as in apolipoprotein E knockout (ApoE<sup>-/-</sup>) mice where there is a proposed link to atherosclerosis (Carluccio et al. 2007). In addition, dietary intervention in a rabbit model has been shown to produce HHcy and ED relatively quickly (4 weeks) along with stable plaque formation after 12 weeks of a normal diet (Rai, Hare & Zulli 2009), which has enabled study of the larger role that HHcy might play in the progression of atherosclerosis (Smith, R et al. 2015; Zulli & Hare 2009). Despite their widespread use in pharmacological research, wild-type mice are resistant to developing heart disease and thus genetically modified and intensive diet-fed models are routinely employed to mimic human pathophysiology (Liao, Huang & Liu 2017; Russell & Proctor 2006; Zaragoza et al. 2011).

#### 1.5 Homocysteine

Homocysteine (Hcy), an intermediary product of methionine metabolism, has been shown to play an important role in CVD development. Hcy was first associated with disease in children presenting with vascular lesions, thrombosis, and severe mental retardation in the early 1960s; homocystinuria (Hcy in the urine) was noted and a genetic defect in methionine metabolism proposed as the cause (Carson & Neill 1962; Gerritsen & Waisman 1964; Gibson, Carson & Neill 1964). Several decades after these ground-breaking studies, idiopathic excess Hcy (hyperhomocysteinemia; HHcy) was implicated as an independent risk factor for coronary artery disease (CAD), stroke and heart attack (Beard, Reynolds & Bearden 2012; Erol et al. 2007; Sen et al. 2010). HHcy is characterized by blood vessel dysfunction and proposed to exacerbate plaque accumulation via an upregulation of inflammatory mediators and thus impair endothelial function via reduced nitric oxide (NO) bio-availability (Steed & Tyagi 2011; Wilson et al. 2007; Zulli et al. 2004). Therefore, treatments aimed at reducing Hcy plasma levels have been focused on reducing the burden of impaired methionine metabolism by increasing critical B vitamins (Kaul, Zadeh & Shah 2006). However, attempts to reduce Hcy through B vitamin administration, which are essential for re-methylating Hcy to methionine (Castro et al. 2006), have been unsuccessful in reducing CVD (Debreceni, Balazs & Debreceni 2012) and novel treatments to directly reduce the detrimental cardiovascular effects of Hcy are still required.



Figure 1.2. Methionine requires the B Vitamins B<sub>6</sub>, B<sub>9</sub>, and B<sub>12</sub> for the metabolism of Hcy. Excess homocysteine leads to redox stress and promotion of inflammation (Roman, Mancera-Paez & Bernal 2019).

Methionine is a sulphur-containing amino-acid first isolated and described in the early 1920s (Mueller 1923). Methionine is provided by ingestion of animal products in the diet and its metabolism into homocysteine, regulated by Vitamin B<sub>6</sub>, B<sub>9</sub> (folate), and B<sub>12</sub> (Joseph & Loscalzo 2013). HHcy often accompanies low B-vitamin levels (Gao et al. 2003), however, B-vitamins are not a predictor of mortality in either all-cause or CVD-related deaths (Dangour et al. 2008) and moderate increases in total Hcy levels are generally attributed to genetic mutations to the gene coding the enzyme methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) (Frosst et al. 1995). Importantly, the MTHFR enzymes is required for folate metabolism and HHcy is present in individuals with homozygous mutated MTHFR (Liew & Gupta 2015). Normal methionine metabolism metabolises Hcy to cysteine via cystathionine via transsulfuration or back into methionine via methyl donation (Ansari et al. 2014). In healthy individuals, the kidney excretes excess Hcy (about 6 µmol/day) via the glomerulus and it is estimated that 99% of Hcy is reabsorbed (van Guldener 2006). In patients with end-stage renal disease, the incidence of HHcy is 85-100%, however the exact nature of how Hcy becomes dysregulated and increased is still unclear (van Guldener 2006). Importantly, proper Hcy regulation relies upon a correct ratio of Hcy between in its re-methylated form and its transsulfuration form (Ansari et al. 2014) and a recent study reported that poor ratio distribution could be related to its negative influence on pro-inflammatory markers (Fang et al. 2014). Dysregulated methionine metabolism, such as reduced B vitamins, or genetic anomalies such as cystathionine  $\beta$  synthase (CBS) deletion results in less Hcy excretion, which eventually overwhelms the rate of clearance and thus Hcy accumulates in the plasma (Castro et al. 2006). In addition to catastrophic vascular events at young ages, genetically impaired HHcy presents with associated problems including mental retardation (Carson & Neill 1962), fatty liver (Gibson, Carson & Neill 1964) and displacement of the lens (Yap 2003). Importantly, these deficiencies present early in development, providing evidence that normal methionine metabolism is essential not only for proper development of the brain, vascular, and optic system but for long-term vascular health. Plasma Hcy levels indicate risk: mild HHcy is 13-30  $\mu$ M, moderate 31-100  $\mu$ M, and severe >100  $\mu$ M (Beard, Reynolds & Bearden 2012; Friedman et al. 2001; Lim & Cassano 2002). Plasma Hcy levels in the normal population is reported as approximately 9  $\mu$ M (Friedman et al. 2001; Lim & Cassano 2002). In clinical trials, reducing plasma Hcy to mild levels in those with the disease or other risk factors rarely see improvements (Clarke, R. et al. 2011; Debreceni, Balazs & Debreceni 2012; Hoffman 2011; Lonn et al. 2006). However it is revealing that plasma levels were typically not reduced below 9.5  $\mu$ M, still within a risk category; it has also been reported that >85% dialysis patients show HHcy in the mild to moderate state (Friedman et al. 2001), indicating that for damage to be reduced, Hcy levels would ideally be below 9  $\mu$ M.

HHcy is involved in clot formation through pathological platelet aggregation driven by collagen and thrombin adhesion, which have been modified by protein thiol groups. Malinowska, Tomczynska and Olas (2012) conducted a study measuring the impact of HHcy on platelet adhesion. They found significant differences between control (resting, not treated) and experimental (thrombin-treated) cells when exposed to concentrations of Hcy of 0.1, 0.2 and 1.0  $\mu$ M for 15 minutes at 37°C. Platelet aggregation was not affected by collagen unless treated with thrombin first, indicating that the cells need to be compromised before platelet aggregation attributed to Hcy becomes detrimental. These results support the hypothesis that Hcy contributes to the dysfunction of the vessel wall, but importantly that it promotes a

worsened state if already compromised. These results are in line with those previously reported (Jakubowski 1999, 2000) showing changes to the proteins that have had an impact on the vasculature. HHcy has also been reported to have contributed to reduced blood flow via endothelial damage in mice (Tyagi et al. 2011). There are conflicting reports of Hcy's influence on NO, where a reduction in plasma HHcy has not resulted in an improvement in disease/risk factors (Sharma, M et al. 2008). However, Zivkovic and colleagues (2012) report that cardiac cells showed reduced coronary flow when treated with a 10  $\mu$ M dose of Hcy. The complex nature of these interactions indicate that there are many factors at play in the changes of expression in regulatory signalling. For example, HHcy has been shown in separate studies to upregulate NO (Upchurch et al. 1997) and down-regulate NO (Ann De Groote et al. 1996).

# 1.6 Impaired ACh-Mediated vasorelaxation as a sensor for reduced nitric oxide bioavailability

An important mitigating factor in the development of CAD is a reduction in NO bioavailability, which is measured by impaired acetylcholine (ACh)-mediated vasorelaxation, (Kruzliak, Sabo & Zulli 2015). Proper endothelial function is essential for normal blood flow, blood pressure (Dharmashankar & Widlansky 2010) and its dysfunction is a key aspect in the development of CAD and an important predictor of disease which can be measured directly via *in vitro* isometric tension testing of arteries, as well as *in vivo* measurements of forearm flow mediated vasodilatation (Rees et al. 1989). HHcy-impaired ACh-mediated vasorelaxation appears to be a catalyst for increasing CVD risk, however the mechanism of action is unclear (Ren et al. 2016).

#### 1.7 Nox family of enzymes: Focus on Nox1, 2 and 4

The nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidases (NADPH; Nox1, 2, 3, 4, 5, Duox1 & 2) generate ROS as signalling molecules and this is reported be their sole purpose (Rivera et

al. 2010; Selemidis et al. 2008; Shafique et al. 2013). Nox have been implicated in CAD when their normal ROS production becomes dysregulated and increased, essentially causing a signal fault (Gimenez et al. 2016; Judkins et al. 2010; Sampson, N. et al. 2011). Although the literature indicates that ROS attenuate vascular function, their vasculoprotective capacity is becoming better understood (Barbosa et al. 2013; Shafique et al. 2013; Silva et al. 2016).

The reduction in basal levels of essential vascular relaxing factors, such as NO, (Aurora, Hare & Zulli 2012) and upregulation of ROS, generated as a by-product of mitochondrial respiration and important signalling molecules for vascular cells (Bedard & Krause 2007a; Rochette et al. 2013) could be key in the development of impaired ACh-mediated vasorelaxation (Cai, H & Harrison 2000; Suematsu et al. 2007). ROS are important both for the health and pathology of the vasculature (Rochette et al. 2013; Shafique et al. 2013), but if dysregulated, are associated with a reduction in vascular function (Cai, H & Harrison 2000; Förstermann & Sessa 2012).



Figure 1.3. The Nox family of membrane-bound enzymes are made up of 7 different subtypes. Their main function is the generation of essential ROS. Additionally, they all have unique sub-catalytic formation requirements that require conformation to be activated (Downs & Helms 2013).

The focus of our work is on Nox1, 2 & 4 and how they might interact with and influence Hcy in the vasculature, as putative pharmacological inhibitors have been developed. Briefly, to inhibit Nox1 production, we used ML-090 (ML); for Nox2 inhibition, we used apocynin, gp91ds-tat (GP) and PhoxI2; and for Nox4 inhibition, we used VAS2870 (VAS). They will be discussed in greater detail in a later section, keeping in mind the possibility of non-specificity and other 'off target' effects.

Nox1 and 2 transport electrons across the cell membrane to reduce levels of free oxygen ( $O_2$ ) and increase superoxide ( $O_2^-$ ), whereas Nox4 directly produces hydrogen peroxide ( $H_2O_2$ ), although recent evidence suggests that Nox4 also produces small amounts of  $O_2^-$  (Ahmad et al. 2010). Nox1, 2 and 4 can all promote the development of endothelial dysfunction, hypertension and inflammation when they become dysregulated (Rivera et al. 2010). Risk of adverse thrombotic events is increased plasma  $H_2O_2$  (Dayal et al. 2013). In addition to its role in cardiovascular disease, elevated Hcy levels are also proposed to play an important but unclear role in chronic renal disease (van Guldener 2006); there is also evidence to suggest that an interaction with the NADPH oxidases is involved in the pathophysiology of thrombosis (Abais et al. 2013; Yi et al. 2004). Further, previous work by Edirimanne and co-workers (2007) found that a Nox inhibitor was able to improve endothelial relaxation in hyperhomocysteinemic rats.

#### 1.8 Studies Linking Hcy to Nox

Inflammation increases the activity of Nox, however they are implicated in CAD pathogenesis due to oxidative stress caused by dysregulated signalling and electron uncoupling (Schramm et al. 2012); evidence suggests that HHcy can activate Nox to release ROS and cause oxidative stress, whether directly or indirectly (Takeno et al. 2016; Takeno et al. 2015; Tyagi et al. 2005; Yi et al. 2004). There have been several studies reporting associations between HHcy and Nox. Zhang and colleagues (2010) reported that in HHcy-induced rat mesangial cells, inhibiting O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> (via NDMA-receptor Nox-dependent inhibitor MK-801; 200µM; 2 hours) reduced glomerular injury and extracellular matrix deposits were reduced, as was Hcy-induced Nox-dependent O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> generation. Also in the renal system, Yi et al (2004), reported that Nox is involved in glomerular injury, via Hcy-dependent activation of Nox subunits. In the cardiovascular system, Edirimanne and co-workers (2007) found that the Nox inhibitor apocynin (4mg/kg; 7 days) was able to improve endothelial relaxation in the aortae of HHcy rats; whereas Bao et al. (2010) reported that inhibition of Nox with diphenylene iodonium (DPI; 10µM; 30 minutes) in human endothelial progenitor cells blunted the formation of ROS induced by Hcy via Nox. In studies assessing pathway links between Hcy and Nox in endothelial dysfunction, Carluccio et al (2007) showed that in human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) increased levels of Hcy (100µM) induced translational changes to Nox and increased ROS and oxidative stress. In their review, Kassab and Piwowar (2012) reported findings that Hcy increased Nox activity and ROS generation, via several proposed mechanisms in different models of T2DM, including mitochondrial damage and Hcy-induced apoptosis. Thus, the evidence points to a possible link between Hcy and Nox in pathology. In addition to this, there is recent evidence of HHcy producing immune-related "inflammasomes" in renal podocytes in the presence of Nox (Abais et al. 2013). It was found that when Nox was inhibited, either by a chemical inhibitor or by translational interference, immune-complexes and cytokines were otherwise reduced and surrounding infrastructure was spared further insult. However, as the overwhelming evidence shows that inhibiting the oxidative stress induced by Nox appears to be beneficial the cellular environment, it is unclear if this the due to cause or effect.



Figure 1.4. Homocysteine may increase ROS generated from Nox1, 2 and 4. Therefore we hypothesised that by using Nox inhibitors, this would reduce ROS, and improve AChmediated vasorelaxation.

#### 1.9 Clinical studies: Disappointing Outcomes.

The relationship between methionine metabolism and HHcy is linked to the dysregulated vitamin levels required for proper methionine metabolism (Hoffman 2011), and this formed the rationale that targeted vitamin treatment might reduce plasma HHcy and improve the risk of embolism and myocardial infarction. Additionally, the proposed upregulation of oxidative stress by HHcy justified the use of antioxidants to reduce plasma HHcy to normal levels (Au-Yeung et al. 2004). However, studies investigating the administration of B vitamins and

antioxidants have been disappointing (Clarke, Robert et al. 2014; Debreceni, Balazs & Debreceni 2012; Hodis et al. 2009; Kaul, Zadeh & Shah 2006; Lonn et al. 2006; Pettigrew et al. 2008), suggesting that increased CVD risk in HHcy is not caused by low B-vitamins or increased oxidative products. However, it's most likely that no reduction in morbidity and mortality was due to Hcy levels not being reduced low enough to make a significant difference. For example, in the Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation 2 (HOPE2) study, which was attempting to improve morbidity and mortality by reducing Hcy levels using vitamin B therapy, Hcy levels were only reduced to approximately 9.5  $\mu$ M in the 2 different treatment groups, respectively (Lonn et al. 2006), and are both above normal Hcy blood levels. It is thus tempting to speculate that either vitamin therapy does not reduce Hcy far enough or may be better used as a preventative measure against future HHcy.

#### 1.10 Current Treatments: Statins

There is a range of therapeutic interventions currently advised for those either suffering with CVD or at risk of developing CVD symptoms; statins are the most widely administered for both groups and their extensive use over the years has resulted in large body of literature supporting their efficacy (Ray, KK et al. 2014). Statins target the liver and, depending on the statin, the dose is retained anywhere from 46 - >80% (Stancu & Sima 2001). Functionally, statins target hepatocytes to reversibly bind an essential enzymatic cholesterol precursor, HMG-CoA reductase, and alter its conformational structure to render it ineffective; the effect of this is reduced plasma cholesterol (Stancu & Sima 2001). Statin therapy reduces risk by reducing detrimental levels of LDL-c, which are established as associated with atherosclerotic plaque development (Bild et al. 2014; Magalhaes et al. 2016). However, statin therapy is not suitable treatment for many patients and in some cases, subjects have ceased statin administration due to intolerance (Ray, KK et al. 2014). In addition to this, there is conflicting

evidence on the efficacy of treating low-risk populations with statin therapy for those attempting to prevent onset of CAD; this is a common recommendation (Debreceni, B. & Debreceni 2014). As the authors point out, there has been a major study offering contradictory advice on the use of statins as a prevention for CAD. The study by Taylor et al. (2011) initially advised no improvement to low-risk population and implied unnecessary risk with administration; 2 years later Taylor et al. (2013) revised their conclusion to indicate that there is no risk to low risk population and administration is more likely to be followed by a drop in mortality rate across all groups. The update was met with some controversy, with suggestions that such recommendations are dangerous.

HHcy has been shown in both cell culture and animal studies to interfere with the mechanism of statins at the molecular level. Simvastatin was not able to reduce HHcy levels or rescue HHcy-induced increased iNOS expression in human hepatocarcinoma cells and murine macrophages and in MTHFR<sup>-/-</sup> and MTHFR<sup>+/+</sup> female and male murine models, Hcy levels were higher in the over-expressed models, but there were no differences attributed to simvastatin (Mikael & Rozen 2008). The authors suggest that Hcy can interfere with both anti-atherogenic and anti-inflammatory properties of statins, providing a rationale that statin therapy may not be suitable for treating HHcy (Mikael & Rozen 2008).

#### 1.11 Nox1, 2 and 4 Inhibition

There are several pharmacological inhibitors acting on the different Nox isoforms that have shown to be effective in reducing ROS production in pathophysiological states (Kahles & Brandes 2012). These inhibitors are relevant to understanding the complex role that Nox1, 2 and 4 have on the vasculature.

The research on ML is limited but some work has shown its efficacy against Nox1-generated ROS; currently our lab has the only publication on ML in Hcy-impaired acetylcholinemediated vasorelaxation. Another study showed that ML provided a protective effect on murine oxygen and glucose deprived retinas, where ML treated cells attenuated ROS production and were protected from ischaemic death (Dvoriantchikova et al. 2012). This study provides novel evidence that ROS production is reduced by ML, by a proposed mechanism of action of Nox1 inhibition, particularly via its role in contributing to ischaemic injury. They also found no significant difference between two Nox inhibitors (ML and VAS) ability to reduce ROS after ischaemia, suggesting that Nox1 was responsible for generating ROS. Their work provides further evidence of an increase in ROS production following ischaemia. In contrast, work from our lab provides the novel evidence that ML reduces the effect of Hcy thiolactone (HcyT; the atherogenic form of Hcy) in impaired ACh-mediated vasorelaxation in rabbit aortae; we attributed these results to HcyT-induced increased Nox1 activity, contributing to vascular dysfunction, via a mechanism possibly related to its product  $O_2^-$  (Smith, R et al. 2015).

The putative Nox2 inhibitor GP has been used more widely as a Nox2 inhibitor; it has been reported to have attenuated vascular  $O_2^-$  production which was attributed to Nox2 inhibition but GP's effect as a pan-Nox inhibitor remains controversial (Drummond et al. 2011; Kahles & Brandes 2012). In a study by Rey and colleagues (2001), GP (50  $\mu$ M; 30 mins) applied to mice aorta cells was found to attenuate angiotensin-II induced  $O_2^-$ , attributed to GP's capacity to inhibit Nox2. More recently, Meyer and co-workers (2014) reported that in the carotid vessels of young and old mice, GP was effective at reducing contraction in vitro, suggesting a role for Nox2 in ageing vessels. In renal cells, GP was reported to have attenuated Nox-induced  $O_2^-$  and improving vasodilation in an HHcy environment (Abais et al. 2013). Further, work in our own lab revealed that a combination of inhibiting Nox2 with GP plus Hcy impaired blood

vessel relaxation to acetylcholine (Smith, R et al. 2015). This is significant for our work, as we propose that mechanisms involving both HHcy and Nox are intrinsically involved in endothelial dysfunction.

Apocynin is a purported Nox2 inhibitor and potential antioxidant (Heumuller et al. 2008), which has been shown to attenuate vascular lesions and signs of oxidative stress, and its efficaciousness is well-documented (Drummond & Sobey 2014; Kahles & Brandes 2012), however, its use is not without controversy. Apocynin is a 'pro-drug' and requires activation via myeloperoxidase to elicit its effect; it has been reported to only be effective as an inhibitor in leukocytes (Heumuller et al. 2008). Kelly et al. (2009) report that apocynin treatment (5mg/kg; 30 minutes) worsens stroke outcome in mice. In addition to this, Huemueller et al. (2008) report that apocynin is in fact an antioxidant and should not be used as a Nox inhibitor in endothelial cells and VSMCs. There are several studies highlighting the efficacy of apocynin as a Nox2 inhibitor. Dayal et al. (2013) report that apocynin (600 µM; 15 minutes) inhibited fibrinogen binding in platelets of 18 month old mice thus reducing blood clotting. Importantly, there is evidence of apocynin's positive effect on hypertensive animals: Zhang et al.(2014) found that apocynin (1µM; 2 weeks) reduced O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> production in macula densa cells of hypertensive mice; Hu et al. (2006) reported that apocynin (1.5mM in drinking water (DW); 4 days) reversed dexamethasone-induced hypertension in rats and Baumer et al. (2007) reported reduced blood pressure in hypertensive rats using apocynin (2mM in DW; 4 weeks). Studies involving Nox2 genetically deficient mice have reported different findings, with the majority showing improvements in pathophysiological markers. A few studies show the benefit of Nox2 in pathology. In a model of aortic aneurysm, Kigawa and colleagues (2014) reported that Nox2 deficiency enhances both macrophage recruitment and MMPs, which then disrupts tissue remodelling and concluded that Nox2 inhibition would not be beneficial in treating aortic aneurysm.

The overwhelming majority of studies, however, point to an up-regulation of ROS-generation by Nox2 that deletion of which effectively removes and thus function improves (extensively reviewed by Rivera et al. (2010). Of the few studies looking at genetic overexpression of Nox2, results were in contrast: Shafique et al. (2013) found that Nox2 overexpression improved function and pointed to a beneficial role for excess  $O_2^-$ . However, Douglas et al. (2012) found that Nox2 overexpression plus ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> resulted in possibly earlier plaque initiation and also pointed to increased oxidative stress. Pharmacological studies mentioned previously point to an important role for oxidative stress in the development of endothelial dysfunction, however whether this will be determined as positive or negative remains unclear.

PhoxI2 is described as a specific Nox2 inhibitor and it functions by disrupting the two catalytic subunits essential for Nox2 conformational binding,  $p67^{phox}$  and Rac (Jo & Luo 2012). It has been reported as successfully blocking  $O_2^-$  production in neutrophils, presumably via Nox2 inhibition (Bosco et al. 2012). Other studies have reported the efficacy of PhoxI2 in reducing oxidant production from Nox2: in mice and human platelets, PhoxI2 reduced ROS and platelet aggregation (Akbar et al. 2018).

VAS, which is reported as non-selective for Nox, is purported to block Nox1 and 2 action via its ability to inhibit oxidised LDL generated ROS but its effect on Nox4 is controversial (Kahles & Brandes 2012). Data from our lab supports its role as a possible Nox4 inhibitor, as putative Nox1 or Nox2 inhibitors yielded differing results. Support for its efficacy in blocking Nox4 has been reported by Wind and co-workers (2010), where they discuss that in spontaneously hypertensive rat (SHR) aortae, vascular ROS production was reduced to healthy, control levels and that ROS-induced signalling was inhibited by VAS, suggesting an inhibition of superoxide. In addition to this, aortic relaxation was increased in both the control and experimental rats, highlighting an improvement in endothelial function. Further support for VAS inhibiting the effects of Nox has been reported by d'Uscio and colleagues (d'Uscio et al. 2012), where they

report that VAS inhibits superoxide formation generated by Nox in the aortae of mice with mutated amyloid-β precursor protein. In contrast, in mesenteric microvessels of morbidly obese human subjects with insulin-resistance, VAS was not found to have attenuated the effects of Nox as there was no reported improvement in the vessels that had shown reduced vasorelaxation in the presence of bradykinin, a potent vasodilator (El Assar et al. 2013). However there are differences to this study's methodology: the vessels treated were from the mesentery, whereas previously described studies have tested coronary vessels. Microvessels therefore might not be a suitable model to study as they may respond differently than aortae in disease (Karabag et al. 2007); indeed in the recent RESOLVE trial, it was reported that exercise training improved arterial function but not microvascular function in metabolic syndrome (Vinet et al. 2018). It is unknown why microvessels respond differently than larger vessels but could be due to exposure to comparatively lower shear stresses (Green, DJ et al. 2004), requiring a longer adaptation period to intervention (Olver & Laughlin 2016) or the presence of a metabolic disease such as T2DM (Caballero et al. 1999). HHcy appears to contribute to microvascular dysfunction, especially in T2DM, rather than act as a causal factor, suggesting that microvascular complications arise independently of plasma Hcy levels (Karabag et al. 2007).

As Nox1 and 2 generate  $O_2^-$  (Bedard & Krause 2007a) and the main product of Nox4 is H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (Nisimoto et al. 2014), it has therefore been tempting to measure responses to the vascular system using combinations of the available Nox inhibitors, results from our lab were unsuccessful in the context of HHcy (Smith, R et al. 2015). However, a recent development in Nox inhibition is the introduction of a novel, specific Nox1 & 4 inhibitor GKT137831 (GKT; also called GKT831) and has shown promise in reducing the inflammation associated with vascular disease, T2DM and cancer (Gray et al. 2017; Sampson, Natalie et al. 2018). GKT efficacy has been assessed in both animal studies and clinical trials are currently ongoing, but

not yet published. In animals, administration of GKT (10-40 mg/kg/day) has been effective at reducing vascular disease-associated morbidities: in a murine model of T2DM, albuminuria was reversed (Gray et al. 2017), a murine model of Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus had reduced diabetes-induced glomerular hypertrophy and mesangial matrix accumulation (Gorin, Yves et al. 2015) and in a rat model of chronic hypoxia, oxidative stress was significantly reduced (Lu et al. 2017). In cell culture, results have been equally promising in cancer treatment where GKT (30  $\mu$ M)-treated prostate fibroblasts had reduced ROS and impaired ability to migrate (Sampson, Natalie et al. 2018). Additionally, in retinal vascular disease, GKT (100 nM) reduced ROS generation and supported normal cell growth under oxidative stress (Appukuttan et al. 2018). The literature suggests that the combination of O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> inhibition, potentially leading to a homeostatic balance of pro- and anti-oxidants, are the key to their efficacy.

#### 1.12 Inducible Nitric Oxide Synthase (iNOS)

Our interest in the inflammatory markers that characterise atherosclerosis extend to inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), a product upregulated in vascular disease (Depre et al. 1999). iNOS appears to be present only in inflammatory and pathological conditions, especially atherosclerosis, where it produces high amounts of NO, possibly in an attempt to maintain vascular homeostasis (Ponnuswamy et al. 2009). This can exacerbate an already compromised environment when NO reacts with  $O_2^-$  to produce the powerful oxidant peroxinitrite (ONOO<sup>-</sup>) and the delicate balance between pro- and anti- oxidants may be lost (Pacher, Beckman & Liaudet 2007). NO is an essential and regulatory vasodilator, synthesised by the conversion of the amino acid L-arginine to L-citrulline and mediated by the family of nitric oxide synthase (NOS) isoforms and their cofactors, especially tetrahydrobiopterin (BH<sub>4</sub>) (Lee, J et al. 2016). In pathological states, the inability of iNOS to bind with the essential cofactor BH<sub>4</sub> results in ROS production instead of NO, resulting in NOS uncoupling (Lee, J et al. 2016) and leading to a pro-oxidant state. In the context of Hcy, this is of particular interest given that BH<sub>4</sub> can be

reduced by excess Hcy (Bendall et al. 2014), providing the potential for iNOS uncoupling and free radical production. In addition, excess Hcy may also increase Nox-derived  $O_2^-$ , (Kassab & Piwowar 2012), resulting in accumulating oxidative stress, which also contributes to the unbalanced redox state.
#### Chapter 2

# 2.1 General Methods

All procedures were carried out in relation to the Victoria University Animal Experimental Ethics Committee (VUAEEC) #13/011, #12/019, and #14/005. Procedures were carried out at Western Centre of Research Excellence (WCHRE) and Werribee Animal Holding Facility (WAHF).

White New Zealand rabbits were obtained from Nanowie Small Animal Production Unit (Bellbrae, Victoria).

C57BL/6 mice were obtained from Animal Resource Centre (ARC) and Nox2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were obtained from Monash Animals Services (Prof. Grant Drummond).

All animals were transported by a commercial animal transport carrier to either WCHRE or WAHF, according to the Australian Code of Practice for the Housing and Care of Laboratory Mice, Rats, Guinea-pigs and Rabbits "Standards for transportation" in adequately ventilated, vermin- and escape-proof containers with food and water provided during transportation. The containers were supplied with cushioning for thermoregulation, impact absorption and stress reduction. The number of animals was the maximum per container to provide sufficient space and prevent injury. All containers were clearly labelled. Animals were transferred on arrival to standard cages (rabbits 1 per cages; mice 5 per cage) with clean water. Food and bedding was then provided according to AEEC GUIDELINE G005 (2013).

Once onsite at WAHF, all animals were acclimatised for at least 5 days prior to use.

WCHRE: Once the rabbit arrived at WCHRE, it was taken to Level 4, Animal Procedures Room (room 6.050), given food and water and killed as soon as practical. The time between delivery of animal and killing did not exceed 3 hours.

WAHF: VU Animal Facility Standard Feeding, Bedding and Enrichment. Rabbits were held onsite according to AEEC GUIDELINE G005 (2013). For rabbits, each male was housed separately. They were able to see each other and animals were not left alone in the animal for more than 48 hours. For mice, each held a maximum of 5 animals. Additionally, no vegetables or fruit was given to animals when they were fed a specialised diet designed to increase plasma homocysteine, as this has been clearly shown to inhibit the initiation and progression of blood vessel disease in animals and humans (i.e. beneficial effects of Mediterranean diet). As well, no hay or straw was given as this adds fibre to the diet and fibre has well established anti-lipid effects (MacMahon 1999). Further, non-edible items of environmental enrichment (wooden blocks and non-edible plastic for gnawing) were provided. In previous applications, there was no observation of deleterious health impacts to animals as a result of removing hay, vegetables and fruit, in this time period.

Special formulated feeds for rabbits and mice designed to increase plasma homocysteine were sourced from Glen Forrest Stockfeeders (Glen Forrest, Perth, WA). Rabbits were fed an atherogenic chow of (5% Peanut Oil, 0.5% cholesterol and 1% methionine) (Zulli & Hare 2009) and mice were provided a 1% methionine-rich chow. All food and water was provided *ad libitum*.

# 2.2 Experimental Protocol: Anaesthesia and Culling

Rabbits: New Zealand rabbits (12-24 weeks, male, n=63) were weighed. Rabbits were weighed, swaddled in a towel to restrict movement, and then injected SC with 0.25mg/kg medetomidine in the neck scruff. The animal was left to rest in a covered cage for a minimum

of 10 minutes. The animal was then removed from the cage and placed in an airtight box attached to an isoflurane and oxygen pump (4% isoflurane). The animal stayed in the cage, covered, for at least 10 minutes or until unable to right itself after being gently tilted. The animal was then laid out on the bench on a bluey and a mask attached to the same isoflurane/oxygen pump placed over its face for 5 minutes or until there were no reflexive responses from pinching the foot between the toes, paw and ear. Whilst the mask was still on, the ventral side of the body was wetted, and the area just above the groin was then cut opened (approx. 10 cm) and the intestines moved out of the cavity onto the bench. The inferior vena cava was located and an opening cut (approx. 2-3 cm). For all rabbits, bleed out for a minimum of 3 minutes or until animal was also cut to ensure brain death.

Mice: C57BL/6 (n=80) and Nox2<sup>-/-</sup> (n=16). Each mouse was weighed and placed in an airtight box attached to an isoflurane and oxygen pump (4% isoflurane) for a minimum of 5 minutes or until loss of consciousness. The mouse was then removed from the box and immediately underwent cervical dislocation. The protocol for removing the aorta was the same with the exception of the amount for flushing, which was 3 x 5mL.

Dissection: The body was cut open with a scalpel near the groin and then opened from chest to groin. The intestines were lifted up and placed out of the cavity in order to expose the fat beneath. Using gauze, the fat was gently pulled away from the vena cava. The thoracic aorta was located under the heart and a small tube inserted and clamped so that solution would not leak into cavity. The vena cava was open with a small cut down near the groin and then ice-cold Krebs was very slowly flushed through the aorta (3 x 60 mL for rabbits; 3 x 5 mL for mice). After flushing, the aorta (thoracic to iliac at the bifurcation) was cleaned of fat and connective tissue, removed from the animal and placed in ice-cold Krebs. The aorta was then placed on ice in Krebs under a microscope, further cleaned and cut into aortic rings (2-3 mm Page | 39

lengths for rabbits; 1-2 mm for mice) and placed in organ baths with Krebs, kept at a constant temperature of 37 °C and continuously bubbled with carbogen (95%  $O_2$  /5% CO<sub>2</sub>). Baths hold 5 mL. After a 30 minute equilibration period where rings were left unmounted in the bath, rings were then mounted on 2 metal hooks attached to force displacement transducers (OB8, Zultek Engineering, Australia), taking care not to scrape the endothelium along the hook and stretched (2 g for rabbits; 0.5 g for mice) then rinsed with fresh Krebs and left to plateau for 30 mins. Once they reached plateau, they were re-stretched to the first tension, refreshed with fresh Krebs and left another 20 mins to plateau a second time.

Separate, adjacent aortic rings were incubated with either VAS, apocynin, GP, ML, GKT, 1400W (all  $10^{-6}$ ) or combinations thereof. Once applied, they were left to incubate for 30 minutes. After 30 minutes, the inhibitor was reapplied to compensate for drug metabolism. For rings also incubated with Hcy, this was applied now and left to incubate for 1 hour. In total, rings were incubated with the inhibitor for 1.5 hours and Hcy for 1 hour. Baselines were taken at the end of 1 hour and phenylephrine (rabbits) or thromboxane analogue (mice; U46619) added. Then, to assess endothelial dependent relaxation to ACh, aortic rings were pre-contracted with Phenylephrine (Phen,  $0.3\mu$ M). After the contraction reached a plateau, a concentration-response (CR) curve to acetylcholine-induced relaxation was obtained. For pyrogallol (1 $\mu$ M) and SOD (1000 I/U), this was added 5 minutes before the first ACh dose.



Figure 2.1. Schematic illustrating the timeline of the experimental drug protocol. This schedule remained unchanged for all experiments, unless otherwise indicated.

#### 2.3 Immunohistochemistry

Several sections of the abdominal aortae were removed from the organ bath immediately after the last dose of ACh and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde in 1x PBS, pH 7.3 for the immunohistochemical detection of eNOS at Ser1177 and Thr495 (Envision kit system using the monocyte/macrophage monoclonal antibody (DAKO Corporation, Carpentaria, USA), the eNOS antibody (monoclonal IgG1, Transduction Laboratories, USA).

Rings were embedded vertically in single paraffin blocks to maintain equal cutting thickness throughout all vessels. Paraffin ribbons were cut at 5  $\mu$ m and placed on a 40°C water bath to allow the sections to expand to their original size before they were collected on microscope slides and dried for 72 hours at 37°C.

Immunohistochemical analysis was performed using the 'Envision' kit system (Cat#K4006, Dako, USA) following manufacturer's protocol. Monoclonal antibody (dilutions all 1:100 in 10mM TrisHCl, pH7.3, overnight incubation) to eNOS, eNOS<sub>ser1177</sub>, eNOS<sub>thr495</sub> antibody (Cat#610297, Cat#612393, Cat#612707 respectively, Transduction Laboratories, USA) were used (3) and diaminobenzidine (DAB) was used to identify phosphorylation sites (10mM TrisHCl, pH7.3 was used as wash buffer). Images of tissue for quantification (4 per ring, x400 magnification) were randomly selected using a light microscope (BX53, Olympus, USA) and analysed using the MCID analysis software (MCID, UK). To capture the phosphorylation sites, which were stained brown, the 'ribbon' tool was used to trace around the edge.

В



Figure 2.2. The 'ribbon' tool was used to trace the edge of phosphorylated sites for each image and then the proportional intensity of these areas were divided by the colour intensity to ascertain the extent of phosphorylation. Figure 2.2A shows the site of phosphorylation. The red line indicate examples of where the sites have been captured (Figure 2.2B) and the yellow line shows the trace of the captured phosphorylated sites that were then calculated (Figure 2.2C).

The hue, saturation and intensity was adjusted to highlight all the DAB (brown) stain, and the proportional area and intensity recorded (Arora, Hare & Zulli 2012). The mean was calculated for all four sections of eACh ring and this value was used for statistical analysis (for n=1).

# 2.4 Statistics

All data were analysed using either a one or two -way ANOVA (where appropriate and unless otherwise indicated) followed by Sidak's Multiple Comparisons test. Data are represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM.

# 2.5 Solutions

Krebs Buffer Solution: (mM): NaCl 118.4, KCl 4.7, NaHCO3 25, MgSO4 1.2, CaCl2 2.5, glucose 11.1 + ddH2O.

KPSS: (mmol/L): KCl 123.7, MgSO4 1.17, KH2PO4 1.18, NaHCO3 25, glucose 5.5) + ddH2O.

100 mL 4% Paraformaldehyde solution (PFA): dissolve 4 g paraformaldehyde in 50 mL ddH2O, add 10 drops of 1 M NaOH and heat on a block with a magnetic stirring action until clear and 55C, ensuring not to go over 55 C. Once clear, add 10 mL 10 x PBS and 30 mL of RT ddH2O. Check pH and adjust to 7.3. ddH2O was added to 100 mL.

ACh: Acetylcholine (Sigma) was made into a  $10^{-2}$  stock with ddH2O and then serially diluted to into a  $10^{-3}$ ,  $10^{-4}$ , and  $10^{-5}$  solutions for the ACh curve. Final bath concentrations were  $10^{-8}$ - $10^{-5}$ .

Phen: Phenylephrine (Sigma) solution was made into a  $10^{-3}$  stock with ddH2O. Final bath concentration was  $3x10^{-7}$ .

Thromboxane (U46619; Sigma): stock  $10^{-4}$ , added to bath (5 uL into 5mL), final concentration was  $10^{-7}$ .

10 x PBS: NaCl 118 mM, KCl 4.7 mM, Na2HPO4, KH2PO4 1.2 mM + ddH2O.

10 mM TrisHCl pH 7.3.

#### Chapter 3

# 3.1 Putative Nox2 Inhibitors Apocynin, Gp91ds-Tat, and PhoxI2 Worsen Homocysteine-Induced Impaired Acetylcholine-Mediated Relaxation

#### 3.2 Abstract

*Background:* Increased homocysteine (Hcy) is a risk factor for coronary artery disease (CAD). Hcy increases reactive oxygen species (ROS) via NADPH oxidases (Nox), reducing acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation. We aimed to determine if putative Nox2 inhibitors prevent Hcy-impaired acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation.

*Methods:* New Zealand White rabbit and wild-type (C57BL/6) and Nox2<sup>-/-</sup> (NOX) mice aortic rings were mounted in organ baths. Rabbit rings were incubated with either apocynin (10 $\mu$ M), gp91ds-tat (GP, 1 $\mu$ M) or PhoxI2 (1 $\mu$ M) and mice rings GP (1 $\mu$ M) only. Some rabbit rings were incubated with 3mM Hcy, before pre-contraction, followed by dose-response relaxation to acetylcholine (ACh; 0.01 $\mu$ M-10 $\mu$ M). In rabbit rings treated with Hcy and GP, O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> donor pyrogallol (1 $\mu$ M) or Akt activator SC79 (1 $\mu$ M) was added 5 minutes before ACh. Mice rings were used to compare Nox2 deletion to normal ACh-mediated relaxation.

**Results:** In rabbits, Hcy reduced ACh-mediated relaxation vs. control (p < 0.0001). Treatment + Hcy reduced relaxation compared with treatment alone (p < 0.0001). Pyrogallol and SC79 reversed the response of GP + Hcy (p = 0.0001). In mice, Nox2 deletion reduced ACh-mediated vasorelaxation.

*Conclusions:* Apocynin, GP and PhoxI2 worsens ACh-mediated vascular relaxation in rabbit aorta, which is supported by results from mouse Nox2 deletion data. These inhibitors worsen Hcy-induced vascular dysfunction, suggesting that current putative Nox2 inhibitors might not be useful in treating HHcy.

#### 3.3 Background

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is a leading cause of mortality and morbidity (Steed & Tyagi 2011), and impaired acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation is a classical risk for the development of CVD (Gheissari et al. 2018). Hyperhomocysteinemia (HHcy) is an independent risk factor for CAD and atherosclerosis (Zulli & Hare 2009) via initiating impaired acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation (Song et al. 2015; Zulli et al. 2003). Thus, restoration of endothelial function is a vital step in the prevention of CVD (Santos-Parker, LaRocca & Seals 2014). Low risk individuals report plasma Hcy between 6-9µmol/L, risk is increased >10µmol/L, with levels reported as high as 300 µM in chronic kidney disease (CKD) (Beard, Reynolds & Bearden 2012). Endothelial function is measured by acetylcholine mediated vasorelaxation, and is reliant upon concomitant endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) phosphorylation of Ser<sup>1177</sup> and dephosphorylation at Thr<sup>495</sup> (Schmitt et al. 2009), resulting in nitric oxide (NO) release (Zhao, Vanhoutte & Leung 2015). Impaired eNOS phosphorylation results in reduced acetylcholine mediated vasorelaxation, and the development of atherosclerosis, a key factor in CVD (Feletou, Kohler & Vanhoutte 2010). Pharmacological targeting of eNOS to improve phosphorylation has been effective in reducing atherosclerotic lesions in apoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Xing, SS et al. 2015) and improving acetylcholine mediated vasorelaxation in obese C57BL/6 mice (Han, F et al. 2015),

In the Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation 2 (HOPE2) study and the Vitamin Intervention for Stroke Prevention (VISP) study, Hcy levels were not reduced to the low risk level and indeed risk was still elevated for these patients (Beard, Reynolds & Bearden 2012; Lonn et al. 2006). Additional findings of the HOPE2 study found that overall risk of stroke was reduced but not the severity or disability (Saposnik et al. 2009). Taken together, novel treatments for HHcy are necessary to reduce CVD. Nox2 is a member of the nicotinamide adenosine diphosphate (NADPH) oxidases family (Nox1-5, Duox1, 2). These trans-membranous enzymes produce functional reactive oxygen species (ROS) essential for cell signalling and proper endothelial function (Bedard & Krause 2007b; Rivera et al. 2010). Increased  $O_2^-$  has also been reported in HHcy and cell culture studies show that Hcy promotes cellular damage, presumably from ROS production via Nox2 (Zou, T et al. 2010). Further, Hcy has been reported to stimulate the Nox2 subunit p47<sup>*phox*</sup> and increase apoptotic ROS production in rats (Sipkens et al. 2011).

Pharmacological inhibitors that target enzymes which produce ROS are a potential therapeutic avenue in CVD. We hypothesised that apocynin, GP, and PhoxI2 are potentially novel treatments to reduce the detrimental effects of Hcy on blood vessel disease.

### 3.4 Methods

All experiments were carried out according to the National Health and Medical Research Council "Australian Code of Practice for the Care and Use of Animals for Scientific Purposes (8<sup>th</sup> Ed. 2013). Apocynin, PhoxI2, pyrogallol, SC79, ACh, Hcy, and phenylephrine) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich, (Merck), Darmstadt, Germany. Gp91ds-tat was purchased from Australian Biosearch, Perth, WA, Australia and U46619 (thromboxane analogue, Cayman Chemical) was purchased from Sapphire Biosciences, Sydney, NSW, Australia.

# Rabbits

New Zealand rabbits (12 weeks, male, n=15, VUAEC #12/019) were housed in separate cages and maintained at a constant temperature of approximately 23°C and were provided water and food *ad libidum*. Whilst in our care, animals were fed a normal chow diet. Animals were anaesthetised (3mg/kg xylazine + 2mg/kg ketamine), exsanguinated and the abdominal aorta excised and flushed with cold oxygenated Krebs buffer (NaCl 118.4, KCl 4.7, NaHCO<sub>3</sub> 25, MgSO<sub>4</sub> 1.2, CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 2.5, glucose 11.1, mM). Mice

Wild-type (WT) and Nox2<sup>-/-</sup> (NOX) mice (12-14 weeks old, male, n=8, VUAEC #14/014) (Zulli & Hare 2009). Animals were housed in cages with a maximum of 5 mice per cage and maintained at a constant temperature of approximately 23°C. Food and water were provided *ad libidum*. At sacrifice, mice were anaesthetised with isoflurane (4% O<sub>2</sub>) followed by cervical dislocation.

The aortae were cleaned of fat and connective tissue, cut into rings (2-3 mm lengths) and placed in organ baths (OB8, Zultek Engineering, Australia), filled with Krebs, kept at a constant temperature of 37°C and continuously bubbled with carbogen (95%  $O_2 + 5\%$  CO<sub>2</sub>). These rings were left to rest, unmounted, for 30 mins. Rings were then mounted between two metal hooks attached to force displacement transducers, stretched to 2g (rabbits) or 0.5g (mice) and allowed to reach resting tension plateau. Rings were then re-stretched and allowed to reach resting tension plateau a second time.

#### Experimental Protocol

Rings were incubated with the Nox2 inhibitors apocynin (10 $\mu$ M; (Tang et al. 2012)), gp91dstat (GP, 1 $\mu$ M; (Rey et al. 2001)) or PhoxI2 (1 $\mu$ M; (Bosco et al. 2012)) for 30 minutes; NOX rings were not incubated with Nox2 inhibitors. Drugs were re-introduced into the baths immediately prior to the addition of 3mM Hcy for 1 hour where used. Control rings had neither Hcy nor Nox2 inhibitor added. To assess ACh mediated relaxation (ACh; 0.01-10 $\mu$ M (Zulli et al. 2003)), rings were pre-contracted with either phenylephrine (rabbits; Phen; 0.1-0.3 $\mu$ M (Zulli et al. 2003)) or a thromboxane analogue (mice; thx; 0.3  $\mu$ M (Gauthier et al. 2011)). After the contraction reached a plateau, a concentration-response curve to ACh-induced relaxation was obtained. Pyrogallol (1 $\mu$ M) (an O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> donor) or SC79 (1 $\mu$ M) (an Akt activator) were added 5 minutes before the first ACh dose in rabbit rings treated with Hcy and GP.

#### Immunohistochemistry

Aortic rabbit rings were removed from the organ bath after the last dose of ACh and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 24hr at RT and then maintained in 1x PBS at 4°C, pH 7.3 for immunohistochemical detection of eNOS at Ser<sup>1177</sup> and Thr<sup>495</sup> (Envision kit system, monoclonal antibody (DAKO Corporation, Carpentaria, USA), eNOS antibody monoclonal IgG1, Transduction Laboratories, USA), as described previously (Arora, Hare & Zulli 2012). Slides were prepared using established methods (Montes & Junqueira 1991). Images for all slides were taken with an Olympus microscope (x40 magnification) and the computer program Leica (Leica Microsystems GmbH, Wetzlar, Germany). For eNOS quantification, the endothelial layer was traced with the 'ribbon' tool (MCID Core; InterFocus Imaging, Linton, UK). The endothelial layer was quantified using MCID by setting the hue, saturation and intensity to detect the brown DAB reaction. The intensity and proportional area were recorded for all proteins and tracings were averaged and used for data analysis. All data points are arbitrary units and normalized to control as '1', described previously (Arora, Hare & Zulli 2012).

#### Statistical Analysis

Isometric tension data were analysed using normal or two-way repeated measures ANOVA, measuring differences in response to drug dose between and within groups, followed by Sidak's Multiple Comparisons Test. Control values for each vasorelaxation graph were all pooled. An ordinary one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparisons test was used to determine significances for  $EC_{50}$ . All data were analysed using GraphPad Prism (version 7.01 for Windows, GraphPad Software, La Jolla, California USA). Data are represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Significance was accepted at p < 0.05.

# 3.5 Results

Acetylcholine mediated vasorelaxation

*Rabbits:* Aortic ACh-mediated relaxation was significantly reduced by the addition of Hcy compared to control ( $68.5\pm7.0\%$  vs.  $99.8\pm0.53\%$ , p < 0.0001; Figure 1A-C). To investigate whether putative Nox2 inhibitors could restore this effect, three different pharmacological putative Nox2 inhibitors were used.

Apocynin worsened relaxation compared to control (93.1±1.7% vs. 99.8±0.53%, in the early doses (p < 0.0001, Figure 3.1A). The combination of Hcy plus apocynin further reduced relaxation compared to apocynin (93±1.4% vs. 37.2±12.9%, p < 0.0001) and 3mM Hcy alone. GP reduced relaxation compared with control (83.4±3.3 vs. 99.8±0.53%, p < 0.0001, Figure 3.1B). The addition of Hcy further reduced aortic relaxation compared with GP (43.5±7.1% vs. 83.4±3.3%, p < 0.0001, Figure 3.1B) and 3mM Hcy alone.

PhoxI2 reduced function compared with control (65.4 $\pm$ 6.5 vs. 99.8 $\pm$ 0.53%, *p* < 0.0001, Figure 3.1C), similar to Hcy. Aortic relaxation was further reduced by the combination of PhoxI2 and Hcy compared with PhoxI2 alone (4.8 $\pm$ 28.8% vs. 65.4 $\pm$ 6.5, *p* < 0.0001, figure 3.1C) and 3mM Hcy alone.

To investigate if  $O_2^-$  participated in changes to vascular relaxation, pyrogallol, an  $O_2^-$  donor, was added. The addition of pyrogallol inhibited the effect of GP in treated rings (71.2±6.4% vs 43.5±7.1%, p < 0.01; Figure 3.1D). Secondly, to determine if  $O_2^-$  participated in signal transduction through the Pi3k/Akt pathway, as it is also involved in NO release (Auger 2010), we added SC79 (1µM). SC79 negated the effects of GP in rings incubated with Hcy plus GP (68.9.4±4.5% vs. 43.5±7.1%, p < 0.0001, Figure 3.1D).

*Mice:* NOX showed reduced vasorelaxation compared with WT ( $38.8\pm5.8\%$  vs.  $73.7\pm2.5\%$ , *p* < 0.0001) but showed no difference compared with WT + GP (Figure 3.2). However, WT + GP was significantly impaired compared with WT ( $42.4\pm12.8\%$  vs  $73.7\pm2.5\%$ , *p* < 0.0004; Fig. 3.2).

# 3.6 Figures



Figure 3.1: A) In control rabbit rings, incubation with 3mM Hcy for 1 hour significantly impaired function compared with control. Rings incubated with both Hcy and apocynin resulted in a severe impairment of relaxation, compared with control, Hcy treatment and apocynin treatment alone (\*\*\*\* p < 0.0001). Results are mean ± SEM (n=5 per group). All multiple comparisons were performed using Sidak's Multiple Comparisons Test. Only the highest significance has been recorded.



B) In control rabbit rings, GP significantly impaired function compared with control. Rings incubated with Hcy alone and in combination with GP resulted in a severe impairment of relaxation, compared with control and GP treatment alone (\* p < 0.05, \*\*\*\* p < 0.0001). Results are mean ± SEM (n=5 per group). All multiple comparisons were performed using Sidak's Multiple Comparisons Test. Only the highest significance has been recorded.



C) In control rabbit rings, the addition of PhoxI2 or Hcy significantly impaired function compared with control. Rings incubated with both Hcy and PhoxI2 resulted in a severe impairment of relaxation, compared with control, Hcy alone and PhoxI2 alone (\*\* p < 0.01, \*\*\*\* p < 0.0001). There was no significant difference between treatment with Hcy and PhoxI2. Results are mean ± SEM (n=5 per group). All multiple comparisons were performed using Sidak's Multiple Comparisons Test. Only the highest significance has been recorded.



D) The addition of pyrogallol and SC79 in rabbit rings incubated with Hcy and GP, resulted in an improvement in relaxation, compared with Hcy and Nox2 inhibition alone (\*\*\*\* p < 0.0001). We also report an improvement in function between rings treated with Hcy + GP and Hcy + GP + Pyrogallol (\*\* p < 0.01). Results are mean ± SEM (n=5 per group). All multiple comparisons were performed using Sidak's Multiple Comparisons Test. Only the highest significance has been recorded.



Figure 3.2: In mice, NOX (n=8) and WT + GP (n=4) significantly worsened relaxation vs WT (n=8) (\*\*\*\* p < 0.0001 and \*\*\* p < 0.0004, respectively). Interestingly, there was no difference in function between NOX and WT + GP. Results are mean ± SEM. All multiple comparisons were performed using Sidak's Multiple Comparisons Test. Only the highest significance has been identified.

Table 3.1. EC<sub>50</sub> for rabbits and mice

Rabbits	Control	Apocynin	Apocynin + Hcy**	PhoxI2*	PhoxI2 + Hcy***	
EC <sub>50</sub>	-7.8	-7.1	-7.1	-7.6	-7.4	
SEM	0.2	0.1	0.3	1.9	1.0	
Rabbits	Нсу	GP	GP + Hcy***	GP + Pyrogallol*	GP + Hcy + Pyrogallol**	GP + Hcy + SC79
EC <sub>50</sub>	-7.6	-7.0	-5.5	-6.9	-7.0	-7.1
SEM	1.0	0.1	15.2	0.2	0.2	0.2
Mice	WTChow	WTChow + GP	NOXChow			
EC <sub>50</sub>	-5.3	1.3	-6.8			
SEM	5.1	446.3	0.4			

There were significant differences in ACh response in rings compared with control. Significant differences between the control and treated groups indicate the reduced efficacy of ACh. All groups compared against control using one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's Multiple Comparisons Test. \* p = 0.01; \*\*\* p = 0.001; \*\*\* p = 0.0002. Results are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM.

#### 3.7 Discussion

The present study provides direct evidence that apocynin, GP, and PhoxI2 worsens AChmediated vasorelaxation, and that these drugs further reduce the acetylcholine mediated vasorelaxation observed after Hcy incubation. Interestingly, NOX2 deletion in mice also show reduced acetylcholine mediated vasorelaxation. As well, histochemical analysis of rabbit aorta further revealed that incubation with Hcy decreased phosphorylation at Thr<sup>495</sup> while increasing phosphorylation at Ser<sup>1177</sup> (Fig 3A), suggesting an underlying upregulation of eNOS to maintain homeostasis. In HHcy, GP reduced eNOS phosphorylation at Ser<sup>1177</sup>, suggesting that GP can affect acetylcholine medicated vasorelaxation via this pathway.

The rabbit model showed increased acetylcholine mediated relaxation in the presence of Hcy (Figure 3.1A-C). The drugs employed in this study all act on Nox2 assembly differently: apocynin is a small molecule Nox2 inhibitor that blocks the migration of  $p47^{phox}$  to the membrane (Rastogi et al. 2016), GP is a chimeric 18 amino-acid sequence peptide which blocks assembly of  $p47^{phox}$  and  $gp91^{phox}$  (Rastogi et al. 2016) and PhoxI2, another small molecule inhibitor, exerts its inhibitory action on Nox2 by binding to  $p67^{phox}$ , disrupting the binding of  $p67^{phox}$  to Rac (Bosco et al. 2012; Jo & Luo 2012); they are also structurally different from

each other (Fig. 3.4). Interestingly, despite differences in structure and function, apocynin, GP and PhoxI2 all impaired function in both healthy and HHcy vessels, in both rabbits and (GP) in mice.



Figure 3.4. Nox2 assembly, inactivation by apocynin, GP or PhoxI2 and their structure. Nox2 inactivation results in reduced  $O_2^-$  production (Rastogi et al. 2016).

Thus, here we report that these drugs might not be suitable to impair the detrimental effects of homocysteine on blood vessel function, and suggest further development of novel Nox2 inhibitors for this purpose. We also showed reduced vascular function in NOX mice (Fig. 2), which could be due to failure of genetic compensatory mechanisms. For example, in an eNOS mouse knock-out, it was recently reported that vasodilatory responses in the ophthalmic artery were kept stable by a compensatory mechanism of endothelium-derived hyperpolarising factors, specifically lipoxygenase and with some participation from calcium-controlled K+ channels, which are essential for vasodilation (Manicam et al. 2017). Additionally, gene deletion has resulted in significant upregulation of "non-essential" genes to perform the same or similar function (Bergmiller, Ackermann & Silander 2012), suggesting that compensation

is an essential function. Additionally, there was no difference in response between the WT GP treated and NOX mice, which suggests that the effect of GP on blood vessels is similar to the genetic deletion of Nox2 in this model. This indicates a possible specificity of GP for Nox2 (Fig. 3.2). The major finding in this study is that Nox2 inhibition worsens Hcy-induced dysfunction. The failure of apocynin, GP and PhoxI2 to improve Hcy-induced dysfunction is surprising, given that it has been widely reported that acetylcholine mediated vasorelaxation has been restored with these drugs (Drummond & Sobey 2014), indeed as have genetic knockout models of Nox2 (Rivera et al. 2010).

SC79 is a recently described specific intracellular Akt-activator which has been shown to suppress neuronal ischaemic excitotoxicity (Jo et al. 2012). Activation of the Akt pathway is essential for endothelial function (Ren et al. 2016); it's role as an eNOS and NO modulator is well-reported (Barbosa et al. 2013; Wang, R et al. 2015). For Akt to function as a mediator of endothelial-dependent vasodilation, Nox2 assembly and activation is essential (Abid et al. 2007). Additionally, ROS in the cardiovascular system can activate Akt (Abeyrathna & Su 2015), although the exact impact on vasodilation remains unclear. SC79 has been shown to have other effects. It has been reported to reverse doxycycline-mediated anti-histamine effects in mast cells (Su et al. 2014), improved myelination in damaged neuronal cells (da Silva et al. 2014) and in human T regulatory cells, SC79 activated Akt to rescue Foxp3-induced Glut1 repression (Samik, Britany & M. 2015). Here we have shown that SC79 reduced the effect of Hcy + GP and improved vasodilation (Figure 3.1D). SC79 elicits its effect by directly binding to the Akt PH domain and inducing a favourable conformation, thus improving downstream signalling (Jo et al. 2012) and eNOS-stimulated NO release (Taguchi et al. 2016). Crucially, SC79 allows for Akt activation in the cytosol, avoiding the need for targeting Akt on the membrane (da Silva et al. 2014).

Our results indicate that apocynin, PhoxI2 and GP might not be suitable to normalize impaired acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation caused by Hcy-induced stress as they decrease the level of ROS required for NO release (Rifkind et al. 2018). Pyrogallol is a benzenetriol ('Final Report on the Safety Assessment of Pyrogallol' 1991), and has been studied (in doses > 100  $\mu$ M) as an inducer of impaired ACh-mediated vasorelaxation (Demirci, McKeown & Bayraktutan Dvm 2008; Lee, SF & Lin 1994) and cardiomyocyte impairment (Esberg & Ren 2004). Pyrogallol generates O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and the hydroxyl radical (Lee, SF & Lin 1994). Surprisingly, we found that putative Nox2 inhibitors worsened acetylcholine mediated relaxation and significantly lowers the potency (EC<sub>50</sub>) of ACh; this was somewhat mitigated by incubation with pyrogallol (Fig. 3.1D). This implies that a reduction in O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>, and not drug structure, that impaired acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation.

Support for an essential vasodilatory role for  $O_2^-$  has been shown in a novel Nox2 overexpressed mouse, where the authors reported improved coronary vasodilation, eNOS activation and NO synthesis (Shafique et al. 2013). Additionally, exercise training in rats was shown to increase  $O_2^-$  and consequently eNOS phosphorylation, which is essential for proper ACh mediated vasodilation (Barbosa et al. 2013). It is currently unknown whether the improvement in endothelial function in the presence to  $O_2^-$  was due to increased SOD activity or increased signalling directly activating eNOS; together both could have augmented downstream NO release (Zhao, Vanhoutte & Leung 2015).

We used ACh to measure endothelial-dependent relaxation, which is an established method of assessing NO release (Förstermann & Sessa 2012; Rai, Hare & Zulli 2009). These isometric tension results are in line with previous studies from our lab, wherein a recent paper used the NO donor sodium nitroprusside (SNP) to show that normal relaxation occurs to the same extent

in HHcy incubated vessels, and that a novel peptide of the renin angiotensin system can restore normal ACh mediated vasorelaxation after exposure to Hcy (Qaradakhi et al. 2017).

# 3.8 Limitations

Pharmacological Nox inhibitors were used in this study based on previous findings (Bosco et al. 2012; Rey et al. 2001; Tang et al. 2012). Additionally, pharmacological Nox inhibitors are not 100% specific (Bedard & Krause 2007b) and have not been fully ascertained (Smith, R et al. 2015), therefore may have off-target effects.

# **3.9** Conclusion

The results presented here provide evidence that the current putative Nox2 inhibitors, are unlikely to reduce HHcy induced vascular damage, and might even worsen damage. Further research into developing new Nox2 inhibitors should be sought for HHcy-induced disease.

# 3.10 The Effect of Nox4 Inhibitor VAS2870 in Acute and Chronic Homocysteine-Induced Endothelial Dysfunction

#### 3.11 Abstract

*Introduction:* Plasma homocysteine (Hcy) is a metabolic by-product of methionine, an essential amino acid supplied by the diet. Excess Hcy (HHcy) is associated with endothelial dysfunction and is an independent risk factor for cardiovascular disease (CVD), stroke and heart attack. Clinical-based therapy aimed at normalising Hcy have been unsuccessful, thus novel treatments are necessary to protect against Hcy-induced vascular dysfunction. Hcy stimulates the NADPH oxidase (Nox) family of enzymes to produce excess reactive oxygen species (ROS). Antioxidants are scavengers of excess ROS. There is evidence that antioxidant properties present in nuts may interact with Nox, thereby participating in the release of ROS production. The aim of the study was to investigate inhibiting Nox4 as a novel therapeutic approach to treating HHcy.

*Objectives:* To determine if the antioxidant effect of putative Nox4 inhibitor VAS prevents acute Hcy-induced endothelial dysfunction in the rabbit and to assess the effect of Hcy-dysfunction in a chronic mouse model of endothelial dysfunction induced with a 1% methionine diet.

*Methods:* New Zealand White rabbits (Rchow) and wild-type mice fed chow (WTchow) or a 1% methionine diet (WTmeth; 4 weeks) had their aortae excised, cut into 2-3mm rings and mounted in organ baths. Rabbit rings were incubated with either 1 $\mu$ M VAS and/or 3mM Hcy for 1 hour; mice rings were incubated with VAS only. A bolus dose of superoxide dismutase (SOD; 1000 I/U, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> donor) or the Akt activator SC79 (1 $\mu$ M) was added to potentially negate the effects of VAS in rabbit rings. To measure vasodilation, all rings were subjected to a dose response curve to acetylcholine (ACh; 0.01 $\mu$ M-10 $\mu$ M).

**Results:** In Rchow, acute HHcy induced endothelial dysfunction in the aorta vs control (p<0.0001). The addition of VAS in acute HHcy worsened function, compared with control (p<0.0001), however the effect of VAS was improved by the addition of superoxide dismutase (SOD; p<0.001). In WTmeth, diet intervention or VAS alone significantly reduced relaxation compared to control (p<0.001), while in combination, slightly improved endothelial function (p<0.05) compared to intervention in combination.

*Conclusion:* Nox4 inhibition accentuates acute and chronic Hcy-induced endothelial dysfunction in rabbits, but paradoxically improves function in chronic HHcy in mice. Compounds present in nuts might have properties similar to Nox inhibitors. This mechanism operates via the essential free radical  $H_2O_2$  and further research is necessary to determine a suitable treatment for Hcy-induced vascular dysfunction.

#### 3.12 Introduction

An increased level of homocysteine (Hcy) is an independent risk factor for coronary artery disease (CAD) and atherosclerosis (Jiang et al. 2012; Julve et al. 2013), typified by arterial intimal thickening and increasing risk of stroke and myocardial infarction (Miida et al. 2014). Hyperhomocysteinemia (HHcy), classified as >9  $\mu$ M (Beard, Reynolds & Bearden 2012), is caused by aberrant methionine metabolism; in severe cases it has been recorded as high as 300µM (Beilby, John & Rossi). HHcy is associated with reduced levels of vitamin B6, B12 and folate (Beilby, John & Rossi), which are required for catalysing enzymes to ensure proper metabolism (Hoffman 2011). Rabbits fed a high (1%) methionine diet develop HHcy and display intimal proliferation, a vascular pathology important for the development of atherosclerosis (Zulli et al. 2004). However, numerous studies investigating B vitamin administration to treat HHcy have been disappointing, with little to improvement in risk for patients (Hodis et al. 2009; Kaul, Zadeh & Shah 2006; Lonn et al. 2006; Pettigrew et al. 2008). The outcomes of such studies may be influenced by the relatively small reduction in plasma Hcy. For example, the healthy range of Hcy is reported to be 6-9µM (Beard, Reynolds & Bearden 2012), whereas these trials failed to reduce Hcy levels into the healthy range, usually reaching around 13µM, which could explain the disappointing outcomes.

Nicotinamide adenosine diphosphate (NADPH) oxidases (Nox) are trans-membranous enzymes producing functional reactive oxygen species (ROS) comprising of 7 different types: Nox1-5 and Duox1 & 2. In CVD, Nox1, 2 and 4 are relevant; especially as the ROS they generate are considered essential for signalling (Bedard & Krause 2007b; Drummond & Sobey 2014; Manolescu et al. 2010). Dysregulated ROS have been implicated in the progression of cardiovascular disease (Howitt et al. 2014), atherosclerosis (Judkins et al. 2010), ischaemic injury (Dvoriantchikova et al. 2012; Kahles & Brandes 2012) and systemic hypertension (Wind et al. 2010). In addition to this, it has been shown that in cancer proliferating cells, genetic Page | 62 silencing of Nox1 and Nox4 directly inhibits ROS production and reduces the associated DNA damage (Illeperuma et al. 2015). Central to this study, Nox4 is highly expressed in the vasculature and produces  $H_2O_2$  continuously (Schurmann et al. 2015); this isoform generates approximately 90%  $H_2O_2$  and 10%  $O_2^-$  (Nisimoto et al. 2014). Nox4 is the most highly expressed of the Nox family (Breton-Romero & Lamas 2014), and is unique among the other Nox as it does not require activation via several intracellular subunits, only depending on subunit  $p22^{phox}$ , thus simplifying its activation. Paradoxically, the evidence for Nox4 inhibition in CVD suggests both beneficial and deleterious outcomes in CVD. An increased risk of adverse thrombotic events with excess plasma H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> has been reported (Dayal et al. 2013) and Nox4 inhibition has been shown to relax hypoxic bovine pulmonary arteries (Ahmad et al. 2010). In ischaemic reperfusion, Nox4 inhibition was cardio-protective (Siu et al. 2014). On the other hand, Nox4-generated H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> might be protective, as over-expression of Nox4 has been shown to increase endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) activity, leading to enhanced vasodilation (Drummond & Sobey 2014). Further, Nox4 over-expressed mice were protected against contractile dysfunction, hypertrophy and dilation during hypoxia, in contrast null Nox4 mice were not protected (Zhang, M et al. 2010).

Several properties of nuts important in CVD research include antioxidant capacity, which have led to nuts being included in diet (Estruch et al. 2016; Hernaez et al. 2017). Indeed the best known plant compound studied in CVD research is resveratrol, present in red wine grapes, berries and peanuts (Spanier. et al. 2009). Although the research investigating a direct relationship between nuts and Nox is limited, there is preliminary support for investigating nuts in relation to Nox in Hcy-induced endothelial dysfunction, particularly relating to the important presence of antioxidants. For example, it has been reported ellagic acid, a polyphenolic compound present in nuts and fruit, is successful in inhibiting Nox-induced  $O_2^-$  and contributing to a downstream effect of increased antioxidant defences (Lee, WJ et al. 2010). Further, selenium, present in Brazil nuts and an important antioxidant modulator, has been shown, in low levels, to exhibit anti-diabetic properties (Steinbrenner et al. 2011). Importantly, Nox4 is reportedly activated by insulin and participates in the insulin signalling cascade (Steinbrenner et al. 2011).

VAS is a reported putative Nox4 inhibitor (Wind et al. 2010) and has been effective in ischaemic stroke (McLeod et al. 2010). It is proposed to control ROS signalling in spontaneously hypertensive rats to improve endothelial function (2010) and abolish NO inhibition, via T-type calcium channels, in mice (Howitt et al. 2014). In contrast, a Nox4<sup>-/-</sup> /ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> double knockout murine model on a Western-style (high-fat) diet had increased atherosclerotic plaque in the aortic sinus, thoracic and abdominal aorta compared to wild-type controls (Schurmann et al. 2015). These conflicting results highlight that it is still unclear exactly how Nox4, and its product H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, might be protective in the cardiovascular system (Schurmann et al. 2015).

The Akt pathway is highly complex and participates in the regulation of multiple cellular processes including proliferation, apoptosis and antioxidant generation and is of particular importance to cardiovascular function (Abeyrathna & Su 2015). Akt can be activated by several different effectors, including shear stress (Balligand, Feron & Dessy 2009) and ROS (Abeyrathna & Su 2015); SC79 activates Akt by inducing the conformational change necessary for activation (Jo et al. 2012; Moreira et al. 2015). Whilst the data is scant, there is evidence for an important role for Akt in Hcy-induced endothelial dysfunction. Akt activation is essential for eNOS activation and function, via its role in catalysing phosphorylation of eNOS at Serine 1177 (Ser<sup>1177</sup>) (Heiss & Dirsch 2014). Hcy has been shown to reduce phosphorylation of both and eNOS and Akt, resulting in reduced NO expression, but this was reversed by activating the Akt pathway with the trace element selenium (Ren et al. 2016), essential for proper antioxidant-driven ROS scavenging (Sampson, N. et al. 2011).

The aim of this study was to determine whether pharmacological inhibition of Nox4 with the putative inhibitor VAS would improve ACh-dependent endothelial relaxation in acute Hcy dysfunction and chronic Hcy dysfunction in a mouse model of fed a 1% methionine diet. To assess whether ACh-dependent relaxation also involved the Akt pathway, we also used a pharmacological Akt activator, SC79.

#### 3.13 Methods

All animals were housed and experiments carried out according to the National Health and Medical Research Council "Australian Code of Practice for the Care and Use of Animals for Scientific Purposes (8<sup>th</sup> Ed. 2013).

*Rabbits:* New Zealand rabbits (12 weeks, male, n=15, VUAEC #12/019) were housed in separate cages and maintained at a constant temperature of approximately 23°C and were provided water and food *ad libitum*. Animals arrived between 9 and 12 weeks of age and were used in order of oldest to youngest over a 3 week period. Whilst in our care, animals were fed a normal chow diet. Animals were anaesthetised with isoflourane (4% O<sub>2</sub>), exsanguinated and the abdominal aorta excised and flushed with cold oxygenated Krebs buffer (NaCl 118.4, KCl 4.7, NaHCO3 25, MgSO4 1.2, CaCl2, 2.5, glucose 11.1, mM).

*Mice:* Wild-type mice were fed chow (WTchow; n=4) or a 1% methionine diet for 8 weeks (WTmeth; n=4; VUAEC #14/014). Animals were housed in cages and maintained at a constant temperature of approximately 23°C. Food and water were provided *ad libitum*. At sacrifice, mice were anaesthetised with isoflourane (4% O<sub>2</sub>) followed by cervical dislocation, and the aorta excised and flushed as above.

The aortae were cleaned of fat and connective tissue, cut into rings (2-3 mm lengths) and placed in organ baths (OB8, Zultek Engineering, Australia), filled with Krebs, kept at a constant temperature of 37°C and continuously bubbled with carbogen (95%  $O_2 + 5\%$  CO<sub>2</sub>). These rings were left to rest, unmounted, for 30 mins. Rings were then mounted between two metal hooks attached to force displacement transducers, stretched to 2g (rabbits) or 0.5g (mice) and allowed to reach resting tension plateau. After this, rings were again stretched to 2g (rabbits) or 0.5g (mice) and allowed to reach resting tension plateau a second time.

# Experimental Protocol

*Rabbits:* Experimental rings were incubated with 1 $\mu$ M VAS for 30 minutes and/or 3mM Hcy for 1 hour, before being pre-contracted with phenylephrine (Phen) (0.1-0.3 $\mu$ M). Once contraction reached 50% of maximum tension, in some rings, superoxide dismutase (SOD; 1000 I/U) or SC79 (Akt activator; 1 $\mu$ M) was added, prior to a concentration-response curve to ACh-induced relaxation (0.01 $\mu$ M-10 $\mu$ M).

*Mice:* Control rings were incubated with Krebs only. Experimental rings were incubated with  $1\mu$ M VAS for 30 minutes before being pre-contracted with thromboxane analogue (U4; 0.1 $\mu$ M), after the contraction reached a plateau (approx. 50% of its maximum tension). A concentration-response curve to ACh was then performed.

#### Statistical Analysis

All data were analysed using a two-way repeated measures ANOVA, measuring differences in response to drug dose between and within groups, followed by Sidak's Multiple Comparisons Test. Data are represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Significance was accepted at *p*<0.05.

#### 3.14 Results

As expected, Hcy-induced endothelial dysfunction in the aorta vs control (Figure 3.3A;  $63.0\pm7.9\%$  vs  $97.9\pm1.0\%$ , p<0.0001), while treatment with VAS alone also significantly impaired vasorelaxation compared to control (Figure 3.3B; 89.1±2.7% vs. 97.9±1.0%, p < 0.0001), although not to the same extent as Hcy (63.0±7.9 vs 89.1±2.7%, p < 0.0001). To investigate the impact that Nox4 inhibition might have on Hcy-induced endothelial dysfunction, we treated some rings with both Hcy and VAS. In rings with combined Hcy and Nox4 inhibition, function was significantly impaired compared with controls (Figure 3.3B;  $19.0\pm16.3\%$  vs.  $97.9\pm1.0\%$ , p<0.0001) or either treatment alone. To investigate if the removal of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was the direct cause of reduced relaxation in Nox4 inhibition, SOD, an antioxidant which catalyses H<sub>2</sub>O and O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> into H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and O<sub>2</sub>, was added to the organ bath. The addition of SOD 5 minutes before the construction of the ACh curve significantly reversed the effect of VAS in Hcy-treated vessels (Figure 3.3C; 55.9 $\pm$ 8.7%, p<0.001). To investigate the role of the Akt pathway in Hcy-induced endothelial dysfunction, we used the Akt activator SC79 to selectively activate the Akt pathway (Jo et al. 2012). To assess the function in the healthy vessel, we applied SC79 alone to rings, which resulted in impaired function (Figure 3.3D; In induced dysfunction, adding SC79 significantly restored 69.3±1.9%, *p*<0.0001). vasodilatory function to the vessel compared with VAS and Hcy alone (Figure 3.3E; 61.3±6.8% vs. 19.0±16.3%, *p*<0.0001).

Treating WTmice (C57/BLK6) fed chow with the putative Nox4 inhibitor VAS significantly reduced endothelial function compared with control (Figure 3.4A; 77.9±0.8% vs. 60.3±2.6%, p < 0.001). To assess the effect of a high methionine diet on endothelial dysfunction in mice, we fed WTmice a 1% methionine diet. Mice fed a 1% methionine diet exhibited significantly reduced vasodilation compared to control diet (Figure 3.4B; 59.1±4.1 vs 77.9±0.8%, p < 0.001). Interestingly, the addition of VAS to mice fed a 1% methionine diet improved endothelial function compared with VAS treatment alone (Figure 3.4C; 69±5.4% vs. 60.3±2.6%, p < 0.05).



Figure 3.3A) Rabbit aortic rings were treated with 3mM Hcy for 1 hour before being subject to an ACh dose curve. Hcy treatment significantly impaired ACh-dependent endothelial relaxation compared with control (p<0.0001). Results expressed as mean ± SEM (n=5 per group). Only the highest significance has been recorded.



B) In control rabbit vessels, applying VAS to inhibit Nox4 impaired function compared with control in early doses (p<0.0001). Application of VAS in vessels treated with Hcy further worsened vascular function, compared to control and singular Hcy and VAS interventions (p<0.0001). Results expressed as mean ± SEM (n=5 per group). Only the highest significance has been recorded.



C) To measure the effect of  $H_2O_2$  on endothelial dysfunction, we used the  $H_2O_2$  donor superoxide dismutase (SOD) to increase  $H_2O_2$  levels. In dysfunctional rabbit rings treated with Nox4 inhibition and Hcy, the addition of  $H_2O_2$  significantly improved vasodilation compared with VAS and Hcy in combination (*p*<0.0001). Results expressed as mean ± SEM (n=5 per group). Only the highest significance has been recorded.



D) In healthy rabbit vessels, the stimulation of the Akt pathway with SC79 significantly impaired vascular relaxation compared with control (p<0.0001). Results expressed as mean ± SEM (n=5 per group). Only the highest significance has been recorded.



E) In rabbit rings treated with Hcy and VAS, the addition of SC79 significantly negated the effect of VAS in Hcy-induced dysfunction in healthy rabbits (p<0.0001), however there was no difference compared to Hcy treatment alone. Despite the improvement in function, treating with VAS + Hcy + SC79 resulted in significantly impaired function compared with control (p<0.0001). Results expressed as mean ± SEM (n=5 per group). Only the highest significance has been recorded.


Figure 3.4A: Treating rings from WTChow mice with VAS resulted in impaired function (p<0.001). Results are mean ± SEM (n=4 per group). All values compared using Sidak's Multiple Comparisons Test. Only the highest significance has been recorded.



B) Rings from WTMeth mice had reduced function compared with WTchow (p<0.001). Treating WTMeth rings with VAS improved function vs. WTMeth (p<0.01). Results are mean ± SEM (n=4 per group). All values compared using Sidak's Multiple Comparisons Test. Only the highest significance has been recorded.



C) VAS treatment improved function in WTMeth rings compared with WTChow rings (p<0.05). Results are mean ± SEM (n=4 per group). All values compared using Sidak's Multiple Comparisons Test. Only the highest significance has been recorded.

## 3.16 Discussion

The major findings of this study are 1) Nox4 inhibition by the putative inhibitor VAS impaired ACh-dependent relaxation in acute Hcy-induced endothelial dysfunction in rabbit rings, 2) the addition of  $H_2O_2$  via SOD in Hcy-treated rabbit rings improved ACh-dependent relaxation, 3) activating the Akt pathway with SC79 partially rescued function in rabbit rings treated with 3mM Hcy + VAS and, 4) VAS treatment improved endothelial function in methionine-fed

mice rings. These results suggest that Nox4 and its product H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> are involved in maintaining function in acute Hcy-induced endothelial impairment, as VAS worsened function whereas additional H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> reversed the effect of VAS and improved function. We propose that this protective effect is due to an increase the availability of eNOS and NO, directly upregulated in the short-term by increased basal ROS. Under certain conditions, ROS has been shown to improve endothelial-dependent vasodilation (Shafique et al. 2013). In contrast, the improvement seen in WTmeth and VAS treatment indicates that chronic HHcy has a different effect on the endothelium and this is also directly attributed to ROS levels. Further, SC79 also reversed the effects of VAS, via activation of the Akt pathway (Jo et al. 2012), suggesting a regulatory role for both Hcy and Nox4 in this pathway.

The progression of cardiovascular disease is characterised by excess oxidative stress, reducing NO bioavailability and impairing vasodilation (Howitt et al. 2014). Along with smoking cessation and exercise, nut consumption is recommended (Eilat-Adar et al. 2013) and has been found to reduce oxidative stress and inflammatory markers in haemodialysis patients (Stockler-Pinto et al. 2014) and depress postprandial glycaemia in type 2 diabetics (Jenkins et al. 2008). HHcy is an independent risk factor for cardiovascular disease and there are currently no treatments to normalise HHcy levels. HHcy can stimulate ROS production (Sharma, S, Singh & Sharma 2013; Topal et al. 2004), mechanisms of which including via Nox4 (Drummond & Sobey 2014; Kahles & Brandes 2012). Increases in H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> levels can lead to NOS uncoupling and ROS accumulation (Siu et al. 2014). Yet, the results presented here suggest that H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> is essential for maintaining endothelial function in Hcy-induced dysfunction. Further, adding SC79 to rabbit vessels treated with both Hcy and VAS significantly improved relaxation (Figure 3.3E), suggesting a regulatory effect on eNOS activation and enhanced NO production.

In rabbits, Nox4 inhibition with VAS impaired normal relaxation to ACh and further impaired relaxation when Hcy was added (Figure 3.3B), which implies an important role for  $H_2O_2$  in at

least the short-term maintenance of endothelial function. Importantly, chronic methionine feeding caused a decrease in endothelial function in mice (Figure 3.4B), which was improved by Nox4 inhibition with VAS (Figure 3.4C), suggesting that the Nox4 product  $H_2O_2$  plays an important role in long-term vascular homeostasis. This result is in line with our hypothesis but in contrast with the results of our rabbit studies, as Nox4 expression, and thus  $H_2O_2$  generation, may be increased in the presence of HHcy (Bao, XM, Wu, CF & Lu, GP 2010); this informed the hypothesis that removing  $H_2O_2$  might prevent Hcy-induced dysfunction. Instead, we found that the presence of  $H_2O_2$  improved endothelial function in our rabbit model of acute Hcy-induced dysfunction, and suggest that it is essential for endothelial-dependent relaxation. On the other hand, chronic Hcy-induced dysfunction, replicated by the WTmeth model showed that reduced dysfunction was restored by VAS (Figure 3.4C).

Although  $H_2O_2$  has traditionally been associated with oxidative damage, the burgeoning evidence suggests that its role in signalling and homeostasis is essential (Burgoyne et al. 2013). In rabbits, we attribute the difference between control, Hcy, VAS and SOD to the changing levels of  $H_2O_2$ . VAS application resulted in reduced function which was essentially restored by the addition of SOD, particularly in the Hcy treated rings. SOD is an important antioxidant which reduces  $O_2^-$  and  $H_2O$  to  $H_2O_2$ . Despite reports that VAS is a non-specific Nox inhibitor (Wingler et al. 2012), we have shown that there are differences in dysfunction between different Nox inhibitors (Smith, R et al. 2015), indicating that they do affect ROS differently. The redox relationship involving ROS is still misunderstood, owing largely to the difficulty in measuring changes in the natural redox status (Albrecht et al. 2011). As we rely on indirect methods of altered endothelial function, we can only speculate as to why VAS worsened function in our rabbit model and improved it in our mouse diet model.

The contrasting results can be partially explained by altered ROS homeostasis between models, however it may be due to differences in antioxidant production between mice and rabbits,

specifically the presence of Nox5 in rabbits. While the data is limited, there is evidence of significant differences between the amount of the antioxidant CoQ (also known as ubiquinone), an important ROS scavenger; compared with rabbits, mice have a much higher CoQ9:CoQ10 ratio (Lass, Agarwal & Sohal 1997). Nuts are a rich source of CoQ10 (Pravst, Zmitek & Zmitek 2010) and are recommended to confer benefits as part of a healthy diet (Eilat-Adar et al. 2013). CoQ is important in exercise-generated ROS (Balligand, Feron & Dessy 2009), which is involved in mitochondrial energy metabolism and ROS generation. Importantly, the ratio of CoQ9:CoQ10 appears to be important for antioxidant levels and radical scavenging (Yang et al. 2015). A study assessing a high-fat diet in rats found that the diet increased the CoQ9 ratio and this was attributed to increased oxidative stress (Bravo et al. 2012). An increase of oxidative stress from the diet in the mouse model might have induced excess  $O_2^-$  into  $H_2O_2$ , thus bypassing the H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> dampening effect of VAS in this model and enabling downstream NO release. H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> has been shown to increase NO stimulation, co-induced by the inducible form of nitric oxide synthase, iNOS (Shimizu et al. 2003), and iNOS itself is upregulated in mice with HHcy (Dayal et al. 2014). The responses to VAS observed in rabbits versus mice could be attributed to differences in basal O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> availability, which may impact NO levels. In rabbits, naturally occurring higher levels of CoQ10 present in tissue might have increased O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> scavenging, enough to reduce H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> levels and diminish NO release. Although the exact function of Nox5 remains unclear (Fulton 2009), it appears that Nox5 produces functional ROS in a manner similar to Nox1-4 (Weyemi et al. 2015). There is also evidence that Nox5 mediates bile-acid induced H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (Li & Cao 2016) and is involved in radiation-induced DNA damage (Weyemi et al. 2015). In the cardiovascular system, Nox5 is implicated in CAD and atherosclerotic lesions (Guzik et al. 2008) and vascular remodelling in hypertension (Montezano et al. 2015). Strikingly, Nox5 does not require the  $p22^{phox}$  for activation, whilst this is an essential requirement for Nox1-4 (Fulton 2009; Prior et al. 2016), and this presumably

results in different cellular calcium requirements between rabbits and mice. Unlike Nox1-4, Nox5 is not bound by catalytic subunit regulation and is able to produce ROS by changes in calcium (Chen et al. 2015; Qian, J et al. 2012). In our rabbit model, the presence of Nox5 might have mediated an upregulation of ROS; Nox 5 is reported to be upregulated in several cardiovascular disease states, such as acute myocardial infarction and hypertension (Montezano et al. 2015). There is currently no research published assessing a potential relationship between Nox5 and Hcy, however, it is interesting to speculate that, like Nox2, Nox5 and its ROS products could be involved in contributing to increased oxidative stress in the presence of increased plasma Hcy; clearly, more investigation is warranted.

While H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> inhibition is reported to be beneficial for cell viability and eNOS activity (Xing, S et al. 2014), there is evidence of a regulatory role for  $H_2O_2$  presence in endothelial cells, where it has been shown to increase NO activity (Cai, WX et al. 2014); indeed these results support that. A decrease of NO activation could explain our results in rabbits, particularly if Nox inhibition had a simultaneous negative effect on the Akt pathway, which is dependent upon H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-directed eNOS phosphorylation at Serine<sup>1177</sup> and essential for eNOS activation and vasorelaxation (Hien et al. 2011; Lan et al. 2011). Indeed, the improvement we saw when we added SC79 supports this. Interestingly, selenium, found in Brazil nuts, has been shown to participate in Akt activation and induce eNOS phosphorylation (Ren et al. 2016). Perhaps most strikingly, selenium has also been shown to improve the cellular environment damaged by acute Hcy, via both increased endothelial cell viability and apoptosis (Ren et al. 2016). This highlights the important role that nuts may be able to play in Hcy-induced dysfunction. Our results show that H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was also involved in relaxation and is involved in cell signalling to restore endothelial function in Hcy-induced dysfunction. However, the same results were not seen in the WTmeth mice. In chronic Hcy dysfunction, the endothelial layer may be too deranged for rescue, as long term HHcy exposes cells to increasing risk of damage and

apoptosis (Kruman et al. 2000), hence the improvement in function via the removal of  $H_2O_2$ . This suggests that redox status has a point at which balance cannot be restored, only removal of ROS may be beneficial.

The exact role of Nox4 both acute and chronic Hcy dysfunction is still unclear but these results point to regulation of the cellular environment. As a signalling enzyme, proper functioning Nox4 seems essential in regulating vasorelaxation: Ray, R et al. (2011) recently developed an over-expressed Nox4 mouse which had greater vasorelaxation to ACh and reduced blood pressure compared to wild-type littermates; this was attributed directly to  $H_2O_2$  production.

# 3.17 Limitations

As pharmacological Nox inhibitors are not specific (Bedard & Krause 2007b; Heumuller et al. 2008), the effects of the drug might explain the differences in responses in the different animal models used. In addition to this, our animal and *ex vivo* model might not necessarily represent the true pathophysiological state in humans.

# 3.18 Conclusion

It is well established that HHcy, atherosclerosis and oxidative stress are inextricably linked, however the precise biochemical pathways require further analysis. The results presented here provide evidence that VAS might not be suitable to prevent Hcy-induced CVD.

## Chapter 4

# 4.1 eNOS phosphorylation is impaired in HHcy plus GP incubated tissue.

### 4.2 Abstract

*Background:* Increased homocysteine (Hcy) is a risk factor for coronary artery disease (CAD), a direct result of which is reduced nitric oxide (NO), an essential vascular relaxing factor. Further, Hcy increases reactive oxygen species (ROS) via NADPH oxidases (Nox), reducing acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation, which is reliant on NO. We aimed to determine if the putative Nox2 inhibitor GP91ds-tat (GP) prevents Hcy-impaired acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation.

*Methods:* New Zealand White rabbit aortic rings were mounted in organ baths. Rabbit rings were incubated with GP,  $10^{-6}$  M). Some rabbit rings were also incubated with 3mM Hcy, before pre-contraction, followed by dose-response relaxation to acetylcholine (ACh;  $0.01\mu$ M- $10\mu$ M). After ACh responses, rabbit rings incubated with Hcy + GP were immediately fixed and embedded in paraffin for immunohistochemical analysis.

*Results:* Rabbit tissue analysis revealed that Hcy reduced eNOS phosphorylation at Thr<sup>495</sup> and increased eNOS phosphorylation at Ser<sup>1177</sup>; no further alteration at Thr<sup>495</sup> was observed with GP. In contrast, GP prevented increased phosphorylation at Ser<sup>1177</sup>.

*Conclusions:* Acute Hcy causes an upregulation of eNOS phosphorylation at Ser<sup>1177</sup>. In contrast, GP reduced essential eNOS phosphorylation at Ser<sup>1177</sup>, suggesting that Nox2 plays a role in NO release and availability.

# 4.3 Introduction

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) and atherosclerosis are associated with excess plasma homocysteine (Hcy), which continues to be an independent risk factor in morbidity and mortality (Debreceni, B. & Debreceni 2014; Fang et al. 2014). NO release causing vasorelaxation is reliant upon concomitant eNOS dephosphorylation at Thr<sup>495</sup> and phosphorylation at Ser<sup>1177</sup> (Mount, Kemp & Power 2007) and there is evidence that Hcy can reduce NO output (Becker et al. 2005). Additionally, there is also evidence that Hcy can interfere with the nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase (Nox) family of signalling enzymes to impair essential NO functions, especially acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation (Edirimanne et al. 2007).

To that end, our aim was to assess via immunohistochemistry whether 3mM Hcy and Nox2 inhibition by GP impacted eNOS phosphorylation.

## 4.4 Methods

Immunohistochemical analysis was performed as described in Chapter 2.2.4.

# Statistical Analysis

eNOS phosphorylation was analysed using ordinary one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's Multiple Comparisons Test. All data were analysed using GraphPad Prism (version 7.01 for Windows, GraphPad Software, La Jolla, California USA). Data are represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Significance was accepted at *p* < 0.05.

All proteins and tracings were averaged and used for data analysis. All data points are arbitrary units and normalized to control as '1', described previously (Arora, Hare & Zulli 2012).



Figure 4.1A) Quantification of eNOS phosphorylation at Thr<sup>495</sup> and Ser<sup>1177</sup> in response to Phen and with pre-treatment of Hcy or GP + Hcy in chow rings; \* = p < 0.05). B) Comparison of phosphorylation of eNOS to Phen at Thr<sup>495</sup> and Ser<sup>1177</sup>with pre-treatment of Hcy or GP + Hcy. Arrows indicate the brown stain showing phosphorylation and presence of the eNOS protein. (Hcy = homocysteine, GP = gp91ds-tat, Phen = phenylephrine, eNOS = endothelial nitric oxide synthase, Ser = serine, Thr = threonine).

In Ser<sup>1177</sup>, vehicle vessel did not respond to ACh in the expected manner, with phosphorylation reduced to ACh and no significant difference between ACh and Phen (Figure 4.1A). We expected that phosphorylation would be increased to indicate eNOS phosphorylation and subsequent relaxation. However, in vessels pre-incubated with 3mM Hcy, phosphorylation of eNOS was significantly increased, compared to Nox inhibition alone and Nox2 inhibition with 3mM (Figure 4.1A). Images of eNOS phosphorylation (Figure 4.1B) support these findings.

# 4.6 Discussion

We performed immunohistochemical analysis on rabbits incubated with acute HHcy. To assess eNOS phosphorylation, we saved tissue as soon as the ACh curve was complete, so as to

preserve phosphorylation. Importantly, there was clear presence of endothelial eNOS, indicating that there was no loss of tissue to either apoptosis or necrosis. Reduced phosphorylation of eNOS at Thr<sup>495</sup> and increased phosphorylation at Ser<sup>1177</sup> is required for proper eNOS activation (Lan et al. 2011). At Thr<sup>495</sup>, Hcy alone or in combination with GP significantly reduced phosphorylation compared to control (Figure 4.1A, B). This is in line with the literature however does not correlate with our isometric tension studies (please refer to Ch. 3.2), where we saw a reduction in relaxation from these treatments. This implies that, while important, dephosphorylation of eNOS at Thr<sup>495</sup> may play a smaller role in vascular relaxation than phosphorylation at Ser<sup>1177</sup>. There was increased phosphorylation of eNOS at Ser<sup>1177</sup> in HHcy, suggesting eNOS activation as a compensatory mechanism to normalise vasodilation, perhaps by activation of the Akt pathway, which stimulates eNOS phosphorylation at Ser<sup>1177</sup> to increase NO availability (Jo et al. 2012; Wang, R et al. 2015). Paradoxically, we saw a reduction in ACh-dependent relaxation in HHcy, therefore we expected to see reduced eNOS phosphorylation at Ser<sup>1177</sup>, suggesting that O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> is essential for downstream eNOS activation. This is supported by the improvement in relaxation when pyrogallol and SC79 were added; GP + Hcy virtually abolished acetylcholine mediated relaxation, suggesting that other Nox isoforms cannot compensate for this effect (please refer to Ch. 3.2). However, GP + Hcy were not significantly reduced at  $Ser^{1177}$  compared to Phen, which supports the ACh constriction curve outcome. This was unexpected, as it has been well reported that a reduction in Nox2 activation is related to an increase in endothelial-dependent relaxation (Han, XB et al. 2014). The increase in phosphorylation of Ser<sup>1177</sup> on Hcy and concomitant reduction in GP + Hcy provides evidence that Nox2 is essential for eNOS activation. Reduced eNOS phosphorylation could be explained by an inactivation of Akt due to reduced activation of Nox2, which could imply that activation of this pathway in the development of arterial pathogenesis could be partially regulated by Nox2. Further analyses

in the changes to phosphorylation at these sites could be expanded to include an eNOS overexpressing murine model. To our knowledge, this has not yet been investigated and would provide further insight into the mechanisms of Hcy-induced dysfunction.

# 4.7 Limitations

Relying on phosphorylation data from immunohistochemical analysis is not always a reliable indicator of the underlying molecular pathways and requires supporting evidence from other methodologies, such as protein analysis and RNA/DNA quantification.

# 4.8 Conclusion

There is evidence to suggest that HHcy is able to upregulate eNOS phosphorylation at Ser<sup>1177</sup>, suggesting that it may play a regulatory role in maintaining proper eNOS activation and NO availability in the short-term. Additionally, the reduction of eNOS phosphorylation at Ser<sup>1177</sup> in the presence of GP suggests that in HHcy, Nox2 is also required for eNOS activation.

#### Chapter 5

5.1 Combinations of Nox1, 2 and 4 inhibition improves HHcy-impaired acetylcholinemediated vasorelaxation, whereas iNOS inhibition worsens it.

# 5.2 Abstract

*Introduction:* Increased plasma homocysteine (Hcy) remains an important and independent risk factor for cardiovascular disease (CVD). Treatments aimed at reducing hyperhomocysteinemia (HHcy) have been disappointing, thus novel treatments are a necessary strategy. Hcy stimulates the production of excess reactive oxygen species (ROS), possibly via the free radical donators NADPH oxidases (Nox) and the uncoupling of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS). Inhibiting Nox and iNOS could thus be a novel therapeutic approach to treating hyperhomocysteinemia (HHcy).

*Methods:* New Zealand White rabbits (n=6, male, 16 weeks, VUAEC#14/005) were anaesthetised, the abdominal aortae excised, cut into 2-3mm rings and mounted in organ baths attached to force displacement transducers. Rings were incubated with iNOS inhibitor, Nox1 inhibitor, Nox2 inhibitor, Nox4 inhibitor or combinations thereof for 30 minutes. Prior to incubation with 3mM Hcy for 1 hour. Dose-response curves to acetylcholine (ACh;  $0.01\mu$ M-10 $\mu$ M) were then performed.

**Results:** Hcy treatment impaired endothelial-dependent relaxation to ACh, compared with control (no treatment; p < 0.0001). On its own, iNOS inhibition significantly impaired function compared with no treatment (p < 0.0001); there was no significant difference between treating with iNOS inhibitor and Hcy alone, whereas treating Hcy plus iNOS inhibitor significantly impaired function compared with control (p < 0.0001). Treating Hcy with combined iNOS and single Nox inhibition resulted in reduced function compared with controls: iNOS + Nox1 + Hcy (p < 0.0001); iNOS + Nox2 + Hcy (p < 0.0001) and iNOS + Nox4 + Hcy

(p < 0.0001). Treating Hcy with combined iNOS and Nox1, 2 and 4 inhibition likewise impaired relaxation compared with control (p < 0.0001).

*Discussion:* The ROS generators iNOS and Nox1, 2 and 4 are important in vascular pathophysiology. Here we have examined their role in endothelial dysfunction, as there is evidence that their ROS products are important in vascular homeostasis. Inhibiting both iNOS and Nox resulted in endothelial impairment, thus we have provided direct evidence that they are essential to vasodilation in the acute phase of Hcy-induced endothelial dysfunction.

*Conclusion:* The data presented here indicate a vitally important role for iNOS and Nox1, 2 and 4 in proper ACh-dependent endothelial function. Excess Hcy and its related endothelial dysfunction remains a treatment challenge, however iNOS inhibition is unlikely to be of benefit in this context.

## 5.3 Introduction

An increased level of homocysteine (Hcy) is an independent risk factor for coronary artery disease (CAD) and atherosclerosis (Jiang et al. 2012; Julve et al. 2013), typified by arterial intimal thickening and increasing risk of stroke and myocardial infarction (Miida et al. 2014). Severe hyperhomocysteinemia (HHcy) is classified as >15  $\mu$ mol/L (Beard, Reynolds & Bearden 2012) and is thought to be caused by dysregulated methionine metabolism, although the exact mechanism is unclear. Vitamin B6, B12 and folate are essential to catalyse the enzymes required for proper metabolism (Hoffman 2011), leading to the postulation that B-vitamin therapy might be an effective treatment at reducing plasma Hcy levels. However, targeted B vitamin therapy has not proven an effective treatment in clinical trials (Hodis et al. 2009; Kaul, Zadeh & Shah 2006; Lonn et al. 2006; Pettigrew et al. 2008).

Nicotinamide adenosine diphosphate (NADPH) oxidases (Nox) are trans-membranous enzymes producing functional reactive oxygen species (ROS) comprising of 7 different types: Nox1-5 and Duox1 & 2. In CVD, Nox1, 2 and 4 are relevant; especially as the reactive oxygen species (ROS) they generate are considered essential for signalling: Nox1 and 2 generate  $O_2^$ and Nox4 generates  $H_2O_2$  (Bedard & Krause 2007b; Drummond & Sobey 2014; Manolescu et al. 2010). Dysregulated ROS are implicated in the development of cardiovascular disease (Howitt et al. 2014), atherosclerosis (Judkins et al. 2010), ischaemic injury (Dvoriantchikova et al. 2012; Kahles & Brandes 2012) and systemic hypertension (Wind et al. 2010).

Inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) appears to be present only in inflammatory and pathological conditions, especially atherosclerosis, where it produces high amounts of nitric oxide (NO) in an attempt to maintain vascular homeostasis (Ponnuswamy et al. 2009). This can exacerbate an already compromised environment when NO reacts with  $O_2^-$  to produce the powerful oxidant peroxinitrite (ONOO<sup>-</sup>) and the balance between oxidant and relaxant may be

lost (Pacher, Beckman & Liaudet 2007). NO is an essential and regulatory vasodilator, synthesised by the conversion of the amino acid L-arginine to L-citrulline and mediated by the family of nitric oxide synthase (NOS) isoforms and their cofactors, especially tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4) (Lee, J et al. 2016). In pathological states, the inability of iNOS to bind with the essential cofactor BH4 results in ROS production instead of NO, resulting in NOS uncoupling (Lee, J et al. 2016) and leading to a pro-oxidant state. In the context of Hcy, this is of particular interest given that BH4 can be reduced by excess Hcy (Bendall et al. 2014), providing the potential for iNOS uncoupling and free radical production. In addition, excess Hcy may also increase Nox-derived  $O_2^-$ , (Kassab & Piwowar 2012), creating a vicious cycle of increasing oxidative stress.

Several pharmacological agents have been established as iNOS and Nox1, 2 and 4 inhibitors. 1400W is a selective iNOS inhibitor, inhibiting iNOS in aortic rat rings (Garvey et al. 1997), and reducing ischaemic reperfusion injury in porcine kidneys (Hosgood, Yates & Nicholson 2014). ML090 is a novel Nox1 inhibitor, reported as reducing the oxidative burst from murine retinal cells (Dvoriantchikova et al. 2012) and work from our lab has shown that ML090 blocks the effect of homocysteine-thiolactone (HcyT, the atherogenic form of Hcy) in response to ACh in rabbits (Smith, R et al. 2015). The Nox2 inhibitor PhoxI2 is a specific Nox2 inhibitor, eliciting its action by disrupting the two catalytic subunits essential for its conformational binding (Jo & Luo 2012). It is reported as successfully inhibitor VAS has been shown to be effective in ischaemic stroke (McLeod et al. 2010) and Wind et al. (2010) reported that in spontaneously hypertensive rat aortae, VAS reduced vascular ROS production to control levels and inhibited ROS-induced signalling. Interestingly, recent data from our own lab (data not shown) using Nox2<sup>-/-</sup> mice with pharmacological Nox1 and 4 inhibition (ML090 andVAS, respectively ) or guinea pigs with iNOS inhibiton (1400W), indicate that ROS, presumably

from increased Hcy levels, confer some protection to the endothelium in chronic diet-induced HHcy, which reveals a potential role for ROS homeostasis in chronic pathology.

To that end, our aim was to examine the role of iNOS and Nox inhibition in the context of acute Hcy-induced endothelial dysfunction an attempt to restore vasodilation.

# 5.4 Methods

All experiments were carried out according to the National Health and Medical Research Council "Australian Code of Practice for the Care and Use of Animals for Scientific Purposes (8th Ed. 2013).

# Animals

Male, New Zealand White rabbits (16 weeks, male, n=6, VUAEC #14/005) were housed in separate cages, maintained at a constant temperature of approximately 23°C and were provided water and normal chow *ad libidum*. Animals were anaesthetised (medetomidine 0.25mg/kg), exsanguinated and the abdominal aorta excised and flushed with cold (on ice) oxygenated Krebs buffer (NaCl 118.4, KCl 4.7, NaHCO3 25, MgSO4 1.2, CaCl2, 2.5, glucose 11.1, mM). The aorta was cleaned of fat and connective tissue, cut into rings (2-3 mm lengths) and placed in organ baths (OB8, Zultek Engineering, Australia), filled with Krebs, kept at a constant temperature of 37°C and continuously bubbled with carbogen (95%  $O_2 + 5\%$  CO<sub>2</sub>). Rings were left to rest, unmounted, for 30 mins, and then mounted between two metal hooks attAChed to force displacement transducers, stretched to 2g and allowed to relax for 20 mins, twice.

## Experimental Protocol

Rings were incubated with 1400W (iNOS inhibitor;  $1 \mu M$ ), ML090 (Nox1 inhibitor;  $1\mu M$ ), gp91ds-tat (Nox2 inhibitor;  $1\mu M$ ) or VAS (Nox4 inhibitor;  $1\mu M$ ) for 30 minutes. Drugs were

re-introduced into the baths immediately prior to the addition of 3mM Hcy where used. Then, to assess endothelial dependent relaxation to acetylcholine (ACh;  $0.01\mu$ M- $10\mu$ M), rings were pre-contracted with phenylephrine (Phen; 0.3- $1.0\mu$ M). After the contraction reached a plateau, a concentration-response curve to ACh-induced relaxation was obtained.

All data were analysed using a repeated measures two-way ANOVA followed by Sidak's Multiple Comparisons Test. Data are represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM.

# 5.5 Results



Figure 5.1. Healthy rabbit aortic rings were treated with 3mM Hcy treatment and iNOS inhibition (1400W). All of these treatments significantly impaired endothelial dependent

relaxation to ACh, compared with control. \*\*\*\* p < 0.0001; HCY, homocysteine; 1400W (iNOS inhibitor); control (no treatment). All data were analysed using a repeated measures two-way ANOVA followed by Sidak's Multiple Comparisons Test. Data are represented as mean ± SEM (n=6 per group). Only the highest significance has been recorded. As expected, Hcy treatment impaired endothelial-dependent relaxation to ACh, compared with control (no treatment;  $45.4\pm11.1\%$  vs  $81.4\pm5.3\%$ , p < 0.0001, Figure 5.1). To assess the effect of iNOS on the aorta, we used 1400W to selectively inhibit iNOS. On its own, 1400W significantly impaired function compared with no treatment ( $55.7\pm5.8\%$ , p < 0.0001), yet there was no significant difference between 1400W and inducing endothelial dysfunction with 3mM Hcy. Although the combination of 1400W and Hcy treatment together significantly impaired function compared with control ( $43.7\pm10.1\%$ , p < 0.0001, Figure 5.1), separately they resulted in similar impairment of the vessel.



A



# B

Figure 5.2A. In healthy rabbit aortic rings, inhibition of iNOS and Nox2 or Nox4 resulted in significant impairment to vasodilation compared with control (no treatment). Figure 2B. The addition of 3mM Hcy treatment and iNOS inhibition with 1400W plus single Nox1, 2 and 4 inhibition impaired endothelial dependent relaxation to ACh, compared with control. \*\*\*\* p < 0.0001; HCY, homocysteine; 1400W (iNOS inhibitor); ML090 (Nox1 inhibitor); PhoxI2 (Nox2 inhibitor); VAS (Nox4 inhibitor); control (no treatment). All data were analysed using a repeated measures two-way ANOVA followed by Sidak's Multiple Comparisons Test. Data are represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM (n=6 per group). Only the highest significance has been recorded. In healthy vessels there was a significant decrease in function when 1400W alone and a Nox2 or Nox4 inhibitor was used in conjunction. The combination of iNOS and Nox2 inhibition or iNOS and Nox4 inhibition reduced function (1400W + PhoxI2 vs control, 23.3 $\pm$ 7.8 vs 64.2 $\pm$ 7.8%, *p* < 0.0001; 1400W + VAS vs control, 35.8 $\pm$ 4.0% vs 64.2 $\pm$ 7.8%, *p* < 0.0001, Figure 5.2A); however the combination of ML090 and 1400W had no significant effect on control (Figure 5.2A). To assess the effect of iNOS and Nox inhibition in treating Hcy-induced dysfunction, we combined iNOS and single Nox1, 2 or 4 inhibitors. Combining these treatments in Hcy resulted in significantly reduced function compared with controls: 1400W + ML090 + Hcy (53.1 $\pm$ 10.0%, *p* < 0.0001, Figure 5.2B); 1400W + PhoxI2 + Hcy (38.2 $\pm$ 14.4%, *p* < 0.0001, Figure 5.2B) and 1400W + VAS + Hcy (39.9 $\pm$ 19.0%, *p* < 0.0001, Figure 5.2B). Interestingly, none of the combinations with Nox inhibitors were significantly different to Hcy treatment alone.





B







D

Figure 5.3A-D. In healthy rabbit aortic rings, treatment with iNOS inhibition plus combinations of Nox 1 and 2 inhibition significantly impaired endothelial dependent relaxation to ACh compared with control; compared to these groups, the addition of 3mM Hcy further worsened function. \*\*\* p < 0.001; \*\*\*\* p < 0.0001; HCY, homocysteine; 1400W (iNOS inhibitor); ML090 (Nox1 inhibitor); PhoxI2 (Nox2 inhibitor); control (no treatment). All data were analysed using a repeated measures two-way ANOVA followed by Sidak's Multiple Comparisons Test. Data are represented as mean ± SEM (n=6 per group). Only the highest significance has been recorded. To assess how iNOS and the different Nox isoforms might contribute to dysfunction via ROS production, we combined 1400W with Nox inhibitors and Hcy. Without Hcy treatment, inhibiting iNOS, Nox1 and Nox2 (ML090 and PhoxI2) was not significantly different to control, however the

addition of Hcy worsened function (38.6±12.3%, p < 0.0001) compared with control but was not significantly different to Hcy treatment alone (Figure 5.3A).

To assess differences between the ROS generated Nox2 and Nox4, we combined 1400W with PhoxI2 and VAS both with and without Hcy treatment. Combined iNOS and Nox2 and Nox4 inhibition significantly impaired function compared to controls ( $39.8\pm8.1\%$  vs  $64.2\pm7.8\%$ , p=0.0004). The addition of Hcy further worsened function, compared to both the control ( $34.2\pm13.8$ , p < 0.0001) and the combination without Hcy (p < 0.0001, Figure 5.3B).

To measure differences between Nox1 and Nox4, which produce different ROS, we used a combination of 1400W, ML090 and VAS. This combination significantly impaired function compared with control (59.1 $\pm$ 3.2%, *p*=0.002, Figure 5.3C), however the addition of Hcy to that combination did not further worsen function.

To assess the effect that removing all ROS from iNOS and Nox1, 2 and 4, we used all inhibitors together. The combination of 1400W and all three Nox inhibitors reduced function compared with control ( $52.5\pm2.3\%$ , p < 0.0001, Figure 5.3D) as did the addition of Hcy to this treatment ( $32.6\pm9.8\%$ , p < 0.0001, Figure 5.3D).

# 5.6 Discussion

During oxidative stress, iNOS has the propensity to become uncoupled and form  $O_2^-$  rather than increase NO, thus it has been considered a potent activator of oxidation and vascularly detrimental (Hollingsworth et al. 2016; Pacher, Beckman & Liaudet 2007). Under these same conditions, Nox1, 2 and 4 have also been reported as exacerbating the problem by producing yet more ROS (Bedard & Krause 2007b). Because excessive Hcy can also increase ROS under pathological conditions (Leung et al. 2013; Xiao et al. 2014), we hypothesised that iNOS and Nox inhibition might protect against endothelial dysfunction in excess Hcy. To test this, we employed the use of an iNOS inhibitor and Nox1, 2 and 4 inhibitors under acute Hcy-induced dysfunction. The major finding of our study is that iNOS inhibition alone and in conjunction with Nox1, 2 and 4 inhibition fails to protect against dysfunction and, if anything, exacerbates it. Contrary to our hypothesis, these findings demonstrate that instead of mediating pathophysiological conditions in acute Hcy-induced dysfunction as has been reported, iNOS and Nox1, 2 and 4 are essential for proper endothelial function, keeping in mind 'off target' effects.

The results assessing iNOS inhibition in healthy rabbit aortae suggest that, if 1400W is specific for iNOS, endogenous basal levels of iNOS are required for proper function, as singular iNOS inhibition impaired function (Figure 5.1). This is consistent with previous work showing that iNOS is necessary to protect against thrombotic occlusion injury (Dayal et al. 2014; Upmacis et al. 2011). Further, work by Yan and Hansson (1998) show that iNOS is continuously expressed in neointimal smooth muscle cells in response to injury and pro-inflammatory mediators which results directly in increased NO levels. This suggests a relationship between iNOS and Hcy; indeed Mayo and colleagues (2014) reported that Hcy increased iNOS levels in murine choroid explants during angiogenesis. In pathological states, iNOS is upregulated to increase NO levels (Iwakiri & Kim 2015).

In our study, iNOS inhibition was implicated in contributing to impaired aortic vasodilation, with both Nox inhibition alone (Figure 5.2A) and Hcy treatment (Figure 5.2B). The exact mechanism is unclear but could be a function of reduced Nox activation and impaired iNOS binding (Feng & Tollin 2009; Smith, BC et al. 2013). For NO production, iNOS must be bound tightly to calmodulin which requires electron donation from NADPH (Hollingsworth et al. 2016). Our results indicate that when Nox and iNOS are inhibited, not only is there a reduction in electron transfer ability from Nox due to its inhibition, but also a critical reduction in iNOS itself.

Our results show a greater reduction in function when iNOS inhibition was paired with double and triple Nox inhibition in Hcy-treated aortae (Figures 5.3A-D). It was recently reported that cardiac iNOS mRNA is upregulated in iNOS(<sup>+/+</sup>) mice with HHcy which protects against oxidative stress and ischaemic reperfusion injury; indeed iNOS(<sup>-/-</sup>) mice with HHcy were not protected from increased ROS production and showed greater infarct size (Dayal et al. 2014), suggesting the iNOS as the central factor. Further, lung injury was attenuated in wild-type but not in iNOS<sup>-/-</sup> mice, but this was resolved when iNOS was restored to the *null* mice (D'Alessio et al. 2012), providing direct evidence of iNOS interaction. Our findings confirm that when basal levels of iNOS and Nox1, 2 and 4 are removed with their essential ROS, the protective effect of these is reduced and the vessel is more susceptible to a reduction of relaxing factors and impairment.

# 5.7 Limitations

There are limitations to our study. Whilst the use of a rabbit model for endothelial dysfunction has repeatedly been used as an analogue for cardiovascular pathologies in humans, it is not without its limitations. In addition to this, the specificity of Nox inhibitors remains a controversial issue, especially as they may have off-target effects. Hence, the potential that the inhibitors used in the present study may be acting on other Nox isoforms or other molecules must also be considered. Also, 1400W could have 'off target' effects (possible eNOS and nNOS)

# 5.8 Conclusion

The data presented here indicate the possibility of a vitally important role for both iNOS and Nox1, 2 and 4, in Hcy-induced pathology, especially in the context of proper ACh-dependent endothelial function. Treatments to reduce the effects of excess Hcy remains a challenge.

# Chapter 6

# 6.1 The Effect of Combined Nox Inhibitors in Homocysteine-Induced Endothelial Dysfunction

## 6.2 Abstract

*Objective:* Elevated plasma homocysteine (Hcy) is an independent risk factor cardiovascular disease (CVD) and is associated with endothelial dysfunction and risk of thromboembolism. Treatments aimed at reducing plasma Hcy have not produced positive clinical outcomes, thus novel treatments are required to protect against Hcy-induced vascular dysfunction. Hcy increases reactive oxygen species via NADPH oxidase (Nox) enzymes, thus Nox inhibition could provide a therapeutic avenue to treat Hcy-induced CVD. Thus, the objective was to determine the impact of putative Nox inhibitors on Hcy-induced endothelial dysfunction in rabbits and mice.

*Methods:* New Zealand White rabbits (n=15; VUAEC #12/019) were fed a normal chow diet and wild-type (WT) and Nox2<sup>-/-</sup> (NOX) were mice fed normal chow (n=4) or a 1% methionine diet (n=4). The abdominal aortae were excised, cut into rings and mounted in organ baths. Aortic rings were incubated with combinations of ML090 (Nox1 inhibitor), gp91ds-tat (Nox2 inhibitor), VAS2870 (Nox4 inhibitor) (all 10<sup>-6</sup> M). Some rings were incubated with 3mM Hcy for 1 hour to induce endothelial dysfunction and then dose-response curves to acetylcholine (ACh;  $0.01\mu$ M-10 $\mu$ M) were performed.

**Results:** In rabbits aorta, Hcy incubation impaired aortic relaxation compared with control  $(97.9\pm1.0\% \text{ vs. } 63.0\pm7.9\%, p < 0.0001)$ . In Hcy-induced endothelial dysfunction, Nox1 + Nox2 inhibition reduced function compared with control  $(97.9\pm1.0\% \text{ vs. } 67.6\pm4.1\%, **** p < 0.0001)$ , as did Nox1 + Nox4 inhibition  $(97.9\pm1.0\% \text{ vs. } 69.7\pm1.8\%, **** p < 0.0001)$ . Likewise, Hcy + Nox2 + Nox4 inhibition significantly impaired relaxation  $(97.9\pm1.0\% \text{ vs. } 69.7\pm1.0\% \text{ vs. } 97.9\pm1.0\% \text{ vs. } 9$ 

48.8±3.8%, \*\*\*\* p < 0.0001). In vessels treated with Hcy, the addition of triple Nox inhibition improved the response to ACh (61.7±9.6% vs. 78.1±3.6%, \*\* p < 0.01).

Wild type (WT) mice fed a 1% methionine-rich diet had impaired endothelial function compared with WT fed a normal chow diet (77.9±0.8% vs. 59.1±4.1%, p = 0.001). Triple Nox1, 2 and 4 inhibition in WT fed a 1% methionine diet mice worsened function compared with control (no treatment; 77.9±0.8% vs. 57.5±10.2%, p < 0.0001). Nox2<sup>-/-</sup> (NOX) mice were otherwise pharmacologically inhibited with Nox1 and Nox4 inhibitors. Compared with WT controls, Nox2 deletion plus pharmacological Nox1 and 4 inhibition worsened function (77.9±0.8% vs. 22.1±9.5, p < 0.0001). Nox2 deletion plus pharmacological Nox1 and 4 inhibition with a 1% methionine diet also reduced function (77.9±0.8% vs. 35.7±7.9%, p <0.0001).

*Discussion:* This study reports that pharmacologically inhibiting Nox1 and 2 and 4 improves the effect of HHcy-impaired acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation in acute Hcy-induced endothelial dysfunction in healthy rabbits but is detrimental in a Nox2<sup>-/-</sup> mouse model. These results provide clear evidence of a complex relationship between Nox1, 2 and 4 and their oxidative products in HHcy-impaired acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation.

*Conclusion:* These data suggest a complex interplay between the different Nox isoforms in Hcy-impaired acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation. Further work is required to elucidate the suitability of Nox inhibitors for treating Hcy-induced CVD.

## 6.3 Introduction

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) remains a leading cause of mortality with deaths from stroke and heart attack increasingly affecting the population (Heart Foundation). Initiation and progressive development of vascular dysfunction is driven by coronary artery disease (CAD) and atherosclerosis (Jiang et al. 2012; Julve et al. 2013; Vacek et al. 2015), whereby the arterial environment is damaged by intimal thickening, leading to reduced nitric oxide (NO) availability and impaired vasorelaxation.

Homocysteine (Hcy) is a sulphur-containing amino acid obtained through dietary methionine and increased levels are an important and independent risk factor for CVD (Sen et al. 2014; Veeranna et al. 2011). Normal physiological Hcy is 6-9 µM, whilst in hyperhomocysteinemia (HHcy) levels reach >15 µM (Beard, Reynolds & Bearden 2012). Normal methionine metabolism synthesises and recycles Hcy into cysteine and methionine; this mechanism requires adequate vitamin B<sub>6</sub>, B<sub>12</sub> and folate (Carmel, Melnyk & James 2003; Hoffman 2011). Dysregulated methionine metabolism results in excess Hcy, which increases inflammation and contributes to endothelial damage (Hoffman 2011; Veeranna et al. 2011). Folate administration in cell culture and animal studies report lowered Hcy levels and improved vascular function (Qipshidze et al. 2011; Tousoulis et al. 2014). In contrast, reports from Hcylowering clinical trials imply that B vitamin administration may not be an effective therapy (Hodis et al. 2009; Kaul, Zadeh & Shah 2006; Lonn et al. 2006; Pettigrew et al. 2008). However, in these studies Hcy levels were not reduced into the healthy range, presumably leading to the disappointing outcomes. Thus, there remains a lack of suitable Hcy-lowering therapy to reduce CVD risk.

Nicotinamide adenosine diphosphate (NADPH) oxidases (Nox) are located in the cell membrane and generate functional reactive oxygen species (ROS). Nox1, 2 and 4 are expressed throughout the vasculature (Ray, R et al. 2011; Rivera et al. 2010) and generate superoxide ( $O_2^-$ ; Nox1, Nox2) (Drummond & Sobey 2014) and hydrogen peroxide ( $H_2O_2$ ; Nox4) (Schurmann et al. 2015). Nox1, 2 and 4 are important in CVD development in the context of uncontrolled ROS regulation (Bedard & Krause 2007b; Drummond & Sobey 2014; Manolescu et al. 2010) and dysregulated ROS are further implicated in atherosclerosis (Judkins et al. 2010), ischaemic injury (Dvoriantchikova et al. 2012; Kahles & Brandes 2012) and systemic hypertension (Wind et al. 2010).

HHcy may increase Nox-derived O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>, impairing vascular function (Kassab & Piwowar 2012). Pharmacological Nox inhibition in cell and animal studies have yielded mixed results: Nox2 inhibition by apocynin (4mg/kg; 7 days) improved endothelial relaxation in HHcy rat aortae (Edirimanne et al. 2007) and reduced Hcy-induced ROS in human endothelial progenitor cells (DPI; 10µM; 30 minutes) (Bao, X-M, Wu, C-F & Lu, G-P 2010), but Nox2 (gp91ds-tat) and Nox4 (Plumbagin) inhibition worsened acetylcholine-dependent relaxation in Hcy-thiolactone (HcyT; the atherogenic form of Hcy) treated rabbit aortae (Smith, R et al. 2015). The putative Nox4 inhibitor VAS2870 and has been shown to be effective in ischaemic stroke (McLeod et al. 2010) and Wind et al. (2010) reported that in spontaneously hypertensive rat aortae, VAS2870 reduced vascular ROS production to control levels and inhibited ROS-induced signalling. Howitt et al. (2014) have shown that VAS2870 abolishes NO inhibition in both Nox2 knock-out and wild-type mice, via T-type calcium channels thought to drive NO-derived relaxation. The novel pharmacological Nox1/4 inhibitor GKT137831 (GKT) has been shown to reduce collagen and fibronectin the renal cortex of diabetic mice (Gorin, Y. et al. 2015). Atherosclerotic plaque contains irregular matrix deposition and HHcy is involved in fatty Page | 105

lesion formation (Roos et al. 2016; Thampi et al. 2008). GKT targets both Nox1 and Nox4 to reduce  $O_2^-$  and  $H_2O_2$ , and has shown promise in animal studies treating diabetic nephropathy (Green, DE et al. 2012; Sedeek et al. 2013). A recently developed triple Nox knock-out (Nox1, 2 and 4) mouse has also shown to have lower diastolic blood pressure than wild-type littermates but also lower levels of eNOS (Rezende et al. 2015). However, recent data from our own lab (not shown) using Nox2<sup>-/-</sup> mice with pharmacological inhibitors (VAS2870 and ML090) indicate that ROS, presumably from increased Hcy levels, confer some protection to the endothelium in chronic diet-induced HHcy, which reveals a potential role for ROS homeostasis in chronic pathology.

To that end, we hypothesised that pharmacological inhibition of Nox1, 2 and 4 might improve aortic relaxation in HHcy-induced endothelial dysfunction. To our best knowledge, this is the first study assessing these effects.

# 6.4 Methods

All experiments were carried out according to the National Health and Medical Research Council "Australian Code of Practice for the Care and Use of Animals for Scientific Purposes (8th Ed. 2013).

Rabbits: New Zealand rabbits were housed in separate cages and maintained at a constant temperature of approximately 23°C and were provided water and food ad libidum. Animals were fed a normal chow diet (12 weeks, male, n=15, VUAEC #12/019). Animals were anaesthetised (n=15: medetomidine 0.25mg/kg), exsanguinated and the abdominal aorta excised and flushed with cold (on ice) oxygenated Krebs buffer (NaCl 118.4, KCl 4.7, NaHCO3 25, MgSO4 1.2, CaCl2, 2.5, glucose 11.1, mM).

Mice: Wild-type (WT) and Nox2<sup>-/-</sup> (NOX) mice fed normal chow (n=4) or a 1% methionine diet for 8 weeks (n=4) to elevate plasma Hcy. Animals were housed in cages with a maximum of 5 mice per cage and maintained at a constant temperature of approximately 23°C. Food and water were provided ad libidum. At sacrifice, mice were anaesthetised with isoflourane (4%  $O_2$ ) in a sealed chamber for a minimum of 5 minutes and then underwent cervical dislocation and exsanguinated as per rabbits.

The aorta was cleaned of fat and connective tissue, cut into rings (2-3 mm lengths) and placed in organ baths (OB8, Zultek Engineering, Australia), filled with Krebs, kept at a constant temperature of 37°C and continuously bubbled with carbogen (95%  $O_2 + 5\%$  CO<sub>2</sub>). Rings were left to rest, unmounted, for 30 mins, and then mounted between two metal hooks attached to force displacement transducers, stretched to 2g (rabbits) or 0.5g (mice) and allowed to relax for 20 mins, twice.

## **Experimental Protocol**

Rings were incubated with ML090 (Nox1 inhibitor; 1 $\mu$ M), gp91ds-tat (Nox2 inhibitor; 1 $\mu$ M) or VAS2870 (Nox4 inhibitor; 1 $\mu$ M) for 30 minutes; NOX rings were not incubated with Nox2 inhibitor. Drugs were re-introduced into the baths immediately prior to the addition of 3mM Hcy where used. Control rings had no Hcy or treatments added but were otherwise treated as experimental rings. Experimental rings without diet intervention were incubated in Hcy for 1 hour. Then, to assess endothelial dependent relaxation to acetylcholine (ACh; 0.01 $\mu$ M-10 $\mu$ M), rings were pre-contracted with either phenylephrine (rabbits; Phen; 0.3 $\mu$ M) or the thromboxane analogue U46619 (mice; thx; 0.3 $\mu$ M). After the contraction reached a plateau, a concentration-response curve to ACh-induced relaxation was obtained.

All data were analysed using a repeated measures two-way ANOVA followed by Sidak's Multiple Comparisons Test. Data are represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM.



**Figure 6.1.** To measure the extent of impaired function and responses of potential pharmacological treatments for increased plasma homocysteine (Hcy), we induced endothelial dysfunction in ex vivo rabbit aorta sections with 3mM Hcy. The application of Hcy significantly impaired ACh-dependent relaxation in the aorta. (Control vs. Hcy 97.9 $\pm$ 1.0% vs. 63.0 $\pm$ 7.9%, *p* < 0.0001). Data are represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM (n=5 per group). (Taken from Figure 1A as as this was performed in the same group of rings).


**Figure 6.2A**) To test the extent that double combinations of Nox1 and 2 are involved in endothelial responses to ACh in the healthy and diseased vessel, we applied Nox1 and 2 inhibitors to non-treated control and Hcy-treated vessels. In healthy rabbit aortae, combinations of Nox1, 2 inhibitors (ML090 and gp91ds-tat, respectively) significantly impaired endothelial function. Control vs. ML090 + gp91ds-tat (95.0±0.8% vs.80.4±1.3%, \*\* p < 0.01). In vessels treated with Hcy, the addition of Nox1 and 2 inhibitors further blunted the response compared with control (Control vs Hcy + ML090 + gp91ds-tat (97.9±1.0% vs. 67.6±4.1%, \*\*\*\* p < 0.001), however Nox1 and 2 inhibition in Hcy-treated vessels improved function compared with Hcy treatment alone (61.7±9.6% vs. 78.1±3.6%, \*\*\* p 0.001). Data are represented as mean ± SEM (n=5 per group).



**B)** To test the extent that double combinations of Nox1 and Nox4 inhibitors are involved in endothelial responses to ACh in the healthy and diseased vessel, we applied Nox1 and 4 inhibitors to non-treated control and Hcy-treated vessels. In healthy rabbit aortae, combinations of Nox1 and 4 inhibitors (ML090 and VAS2870, respectively) significantly impaired endothelial function. Control vs. ML090 + VAS2870 (97.0±0.8% vs.79.6±1.8%, \*\*\* p = 0.001). In vessels treated with Hcy, the addition of Nox1 and 4 inhibitors impaired the response to ACh, compared with control (97.9±1.0% vs. 69.7±1.8%, \*\*\*\* p < 0.0001). There was no difference in function between Nox1 and 4 inhibitors in Hcy-treated vessels compared with Hcy treatment alone). Data are represented as mean ± SEM (n=5 per group).



C) To test the extent that double combinations of Nox2 and 4 are involved in endothelial responses to ACh in the healthy and diseased vessel, we applied Nox2 and 4 inhibitors to non-treated control and Hcy-treated vessels. In healthy rabbit aortae, combinations of Nox2 and 4 inhibitors (gp91ds-tat and VAS2870, respectively) significantly impaired endothelial function. Control vs. gp91ds-tat + VAS2870 (97.9±0.8% vs.81.1±1.1%, \*\*\* p = 0.001). In vessels treated with Hcy, the addition of Nox2 and 4 inhibitors significantly impaired function compared with control (97.9±1.0% vs. 48.8±3.8%, \*\*\*\* p < 0.0001). Adding the Nox2 and 4 inhibitors to vessels treated with Hcy further impaired function, compared with Hcy treatment alone (63.0±7.9% vs. 48.8±3.8%, \* p = 0.01). Data are represented as mean ± SEM (n=5 per group).



**Figure 6.3.** To test the extent of Nox1, 2 and 4's involvement in normal endothelial responses to ACh, we treated healthy and Hcy-treated rabbit vessels with all a combination of all three Nox inhibitors (ML090, go91ds-tat and VAS2870, respectively). In healthy rabbit aortae, triple Nox inhibition significantly blunted the response to ACh compared with control  $(97.9\pm1.0\% \text{ vs. } 72.6\pm4.2\%, **** p < 0.0001)$ . In vessels treated with Hcy, the addition of triple Nox inhibition improved the response to ACh ( $61.7\pm9.6\%$  vs.  $78.1\pm3.6\%, ** p < 0.01$ ). Data are represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM (n=5 per group).



**Figure 6.4A.** To induce Hcy-dependent endothelial dysfunction in WT (C57/BLK6), we administered a 1% methionine diet (*ad libidum*) for 4 weeks to increase plasma Hcy. WT rings treated with the 1% methionine diet had decreased relaxation compared with controls (no treatment; 77.9±0.8% vs. 59.1±4.1%, \*\*\* p = 0.001). Data are represented as mean ± SEM (n=4 per group).



**B**) To assess the effect of combined Nox1, 2 and 4 inhibition in WT mice, we used combined ML090, gp91ds-tat and VAS2870 and a Nox2<sup>-/-</sup>(NOX) model and administered ML090 and VAS2870 only. Triple Nox1, 2 and 4 inhibition in WT fed a 1% methionine diet mice worsened function compared with control (no treatment; 77.9±0.8% vs. 57.5±10.2%, \*\*\*\* p < 0.0001). Nox2 deletion plus pharmacological Nox1 and 4 inhibition worsened function (77.9±0.8% vs. 22.1±9.5, ++++ p < 0.0001). Nox2 deletion plus pharmacological Nox1 and 4 inhibition worsened function (77.9±0.8% vs. 35.7±7.9%, #### p < 0.0001). Data are represented as mean ± SEM (n=4 per group).

#### 6.6 Discussion

The central finding of this study is that pharmacologically inhibiting Nox1 and 2 and 4 improves the effect of ACh in acute Hcy-induced endothelial dysfunction in healthy rabbit

aortae but is detrimental in a Nox2<sup>-/-</sup> mouse model. These results provide clear evidence of a complex relationship between Nox1, 2 and 4 in Hcy-induced vascular disease.

There are currently no reliable methods of reducing Hcy levels in those patients who pose a risk of developing or worsening CVD. ROS are essential for intracellular signalling, and although the exact mechanisms are not fully understood (Ullrich & Kissner 2006), Nox are the main generators of functional ROS in the vasculature (Rivera et al. 2010). In addition to this, endothelial function assessed ex vivo is measured by a response to ACh, reductions in which are attributed directly to a decrease in NO availability (Smith, R et al. 2015). In the acute model, Hcy-treated rabbit vessels with combined Nox1, 2 and 4 inhibition improved ACh-dependent relaxation (Figure 6.1A, B). In diet-treated vessels, Nox inhibition failed to mimic these effects and instead reduced relaxation (Figure 6.1C, D and 6.2).

The role of Nox in homocysteine-induced vascular disease is not well understood and these results add more uncertainty to underlying Hcy pathology. Reports suggest that Nox inhibition confers a protective result (Gonzalez et al. 2014; Miller et al. 2013; Troiano et al. 2016) but these have so far failed to characterise precise mechanisms. ROS inhibition is generally perceived as the main protective factor in Nox inhibition, as it is thought to drive inflammation (Martinon 2010), however, ROS over-expression has also been shown to be protective (Ray, R et al. 2011; Shafique et al. 2013) and our lab has previously showed that Nox inhibition failed to protect against Hcy thiolactone, the atherogenic form of Hcy (Smith, R et al. 2015). Our findings suggest that, like in adaptation to acute exercise or wound repair (Barbosa et al. 2013; Roy, Khanna & Sen 2008), ROS is likely essential in acute HHcy to establish maintenance of intracellular homeostasis impaired by excess Hcy (Wang, S, Song & Zou 2012), possibly in the developmental phase of dysfunction. The reasons for this are unclear and in fact pose more questions about the mechanisms involved, but it points to physiological differences in the way that ROS are used in endothelial function. One possible explanation is that intracellular ROS Page | 115

levels change depending on the Nox inhibitor used; this could be attributed to the differences between murine and rabbit models of antioxidant production, which might influence ROS levels (Kizhakekuttu & Widlansky 2010). The antioxidant CoQ (also known as ubiquinone) is involved in ROS generation; the ratio of CoQ9:CoQ10 appears to be important for antioxidant levels, and thus radical scavenging (Yang et al. 2015). A low CoQ9:CoQ10 ratio might be important for oxidative stress (Bravo et al. 2012); mice have been reported as having a high CoQ9:CoQ10 ratio compared with rabbits (Lass, Agarwal & Sohal 1997), which could be interpreted as mice having more naturally occurring oxidative stress, and thus may be naturally able to maintain homeostasis in the presence of increased levels of ROS. In the NOX murine model of chronic HHcy, inhibiting all 3 Nox (Nox2 genetically and Nox1 and Nox4 pharmacologically), reduced relaxation compared to controls (WT without treatment), but a 1% methionine restored function (figure 2B). We attribute these results to an increase of available essential ROS that has been catalysed to effect downstream NO stimulation.

#### 6.7 Study Limitations

The use of putative Nox inhibitors remains controversial and has not been fully elucidated in in vitro models of disease. Further, it is unknown if the drugs used herein have additional effects that could influence ACh dependent relaxation. The conclusion to draw from these data is that there is a role for pharmacological Nox inhibitors in response to ACh in Hcy-induced endothelial dysfunction. More targeted and specific research must be done in animal models order to establish any other apparent effects of these treatments.

#### 6.8 Conclusion

The potential for Nox1, 2 and 4 inhibition to be used as a therapeutic agent in Hcy-induced endothelial damage warrants serious consideration, as there appears to be different responses depending on the model used. The combination of all three putative Nox inhibitors improved relaxation in the healthy rabbit in Hcy-treated vessels and in healthy WT mice. However, using these putative inhibitors in an atherogenic diet in rabbits and Nox2<sup>-/-</sup> deletion resulted in further reductions in relaxation. This is suggestive of a fundamental requirement of free radicals, especially  $O_2^-$ , for proper endothelial function.

# 6.9 An atherogenic diet causes imapired acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation which is not rescued by combined Nox1, 2 and 4 inhibition

#### 6.10 Abstract

*Objective:* Elevated plasma homocysteine (Hhcy) is an independent risk factor for cardiovascular disease (CVD), yet clinical trials aimed at reducing Hcy levels using targeted vitamin therapy have not met with success, and in some cases worsened outcomes. Thus novel pharmacological intervention to treat Hhcy is lacking. Hhcy increases reactive oxygen species (ROS) via NADPH oxidase (Nox) enzymes, thus Nox inhibition might be a therapeutic target. We sought to determine the effect of putative Nox inhibitors in an atherogenic rabbit model of endothelial dysfunction.

*Methods:* New Zealand White rabbits fed chow (n=3) or atherogenic diet (n=3) to elevate plasma Hcy. Aortae were excised, mounted in organ baths and incubated with ML090 (Nox1 inhibitor), gp91ds-tat (Nox2 inhibitor), VAS (Nox4 inhibitor) or combinations thereof (all  $10^{-6}$  M). Dose-response curves to acetylcholine (ACh; 0.01µM-10µM) were performed.

**Results:** An atherogenic diet reduced function compared with a normal diet (p < 0.001). In atherogenic rabbits, Nox2 inhibition significantly impaired function versus control (p < 0.001) as did Nox4 inhibition (p < 0.0001), whereas Nox1 inhibition had no effect. Double combinations of Nox inhibitors also impaired function versus control: Nox1 + Nox2 (p < 0.01),

Nox1 Nox4 (p < 0.0001) and Nox2 + Nox4 (p < 0.0001). Using all three Nox inhibitors in combination also impaired aortic relaxation compared with control (p < 0.0001).

*Conclusion:* These data suggest a complex interplay between the different Nox isoforms in diet-induced endothelial dysfunction, and that current Nox inhibitors might not be a beneficial treatment for dietary induced endothelial dysfunction.

# 6.11 Introduction

An increase in plasma homocysteine (Hcy) and LDL-C cholesterol have been established as increased risk factors for developing cardiovascular disease (CVD) (Silverman et al. 2016; Tribouilloy et al. 2000). Longer term effects of these risks are the development of coronary artery disease (CAD), atherosclerosis and ischaemic stroke (Jiang et al. 2012; Julve et al. 2013; Vacek et al. 2015; Wang, C-y et al. 2014). Hcy is a non-protein sulphur containing amino acid produced as a normal by-product of methionine metabolism (Hu, Y et al. 2016; Pacana et al. 2015); it's mechanism of action is currently unknown.

Normal methionine metabolism requires adequate vitamin B6, B12 and folate (Carmel, Melnyk & James 2003; Hoffman 2011; Hu, Y et al. 2016), when dysregulated it results in excess Hcy, contributing to endothelial damage (Hoffman 2011; Veeranna et al. 2011). To that end, folate administration has been employed in studies attempting to reduce excess plasma Hcy (hyperhomocysteinemia; HHcy); indeed cell and animal studies have reported lowered plasma Hcy levels and improved vascular function (Qipshidze et al. 2011; Tousoulis et al. 2014). However, in human clinical trials, B vitamin therapy has not been successful (Ebbing et al. 2010; Hodis et al. 2009; Kaul, Zadeh & Shah 2006; Lonn et al. 2006; Pettigrew et al. 2008). The reasons for this are unclear, complex and point to an arterial environment complicated by inflammatory and chemical modulators. Reports from the Vitamin Intervention for Stroke Prevention (VISP) Efficacy Analysis postulate that the inclusion fortified food (mandated by

the time the trial began), low B12 dose and inability of uptake in renal impairment are among the potential factors (Spence et al. 2005). Further, low total Hcy level (approximate mean for all participants is given as  $14 \mu M$ ) is also suggested as a possible reason for the disappointing result by the authors of the trial (Toole et al. 2004). Given that in the rare genetic disorder, homocystinuria, where patients record 300-500 µM Hcy and present with premature atherosclerosis and the substantial risk of stroke only once Hcy is >100 µM (Beilby, J. & Rossi 2000), the suggestion that relatively low HHcy could account for those results makes sense. Normal physiological plasma Hcy levels are 6-9 µM; hyperhomocysteinemia (HHcy) is characterised as mild 15-30 µM, moderate 31-100 µM and severe >100 µM (Beard, Reynolds & Bearden 2012). A meta-analysis of 8 clinical trials assessing B vitamin supplementation for lowering Hcy levels found that there was no significant effect of B vitamin application on the outcomes of CVD events (Clarke, Robert et al. 2014). In addition to clinical trials employing B vitamins, antioxidants, as ROS scavengers, have been investigated as another novel approach to reduce HHcy. In the large-scale Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation (HOPE) Study (Yusuf et al. 2000), high-risk CVD patients were administered Vitamin E or placebo and followed up for 4.5-6 years. The investigators reported no significant difference in risk of CVD events or death between the groups; this is a phenomenon seen across several other vitamin E or antioxidant clinical trials (Yusuf et al. 2000). Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C), is another established risk factor for CVD (Silverman et al. 2016) which contributes to the inflammatory response by reportedly increasing ROS generation (Mazière et al. 2013). Statins are the common treatment to decrease LDL-C, but often come with negative side-effects (Beckett, Schepers & Gordon 2015). A recent strategy employing the use of a statin, which has the potential benefit of concomitant LDL-C reduction, reduced overall CVD risk but did not reduce Hcy (Evans et al. 2014). Thus, there remains a lack of suitable Hcy-lowering therapy to reduce CVD risk.

Nicotinamide adenosine diphosphate (NADPH) oxidases (Nox) are located in the cell membrane and generate functional reactive oxygen species (ROS). Of the 7 Nox in the family (Nox1-5, Duox1 and 2), Nox1, 2 and 4 are currently the most relevant for vascular pathologies (Altenhofer et al. 2012). Nox1, 2 and 4 are expressed throughout the vasculature (Ray, R et al. 2011; Rivera et al. 2010) and generate superoxide ( $O_2^-$ ; Nox1, Nox2) (Drummond & Sobey 2014) and hydrogen peroxide ( $H_2O_2$ ; Nox4) (Schurmann et al. 2015). Despite an essential role as functional ROS generators, Nox1, 2 and 4 are implicated in uncontrolled and dysregulated ROS generation (Bedard & Krause 2007b; Drummond & Sobey 2014; Manolescu et al. 2010) which might exacerbate atherosclerosis (Judkins et al. 2010), ischaemic injury (Dvoriantchikova et al. 2012; Kahles & Brandes 2012) and hypertension (Wind et al. 2010).

HHcy may directly upregulate Nox-derived  $O_2^-$ , leading to impaired vascular function (Kassab & Piwowar 2012). Pharmacological Nox inhibition in cell and animal studies suggest that removal of ROS is beneficial under experimental conditions. Nox1 inhibition with ML090 rescued retinal cells from ischaemia (Dvoriantchikova et al. 2012) and improved acetylcholine-dependent relaxation in acute plasma Hcy-thiolactone (HcyT; the atherogenic form of Hcy) in rabbits (Smith, R et al. 2015). Endothelial relaxation in HHcy rat aortae was improved by Nox2 inhibition with apocynin (Edirimanne et al. 2007), which was also shown to reduce Hcy-induced ROS in human endothelial progenitor cells (Bao, X-M, Wu, C-F & Lu, G-P 2010). Nox4 inhibition with VAS is reported as effective in ischaemic stroke (McLeod et al. 2010) and Howitt and colleagues (2014) have shown that VAS abolishes NO inhibition in both Nox2 knock-out ( $-^{\prime}$ ) and wild-type mice.

To that end, we hypothesised that pharmacological inhibition of Nox1, 2 and 4 might restore aortic relaxation to normal in an atherogenic model of diet-induced endothelial dysfunction, leading to novel therapeutic strategies to reduce CVD.

#### 6.12 Methods

All animals were housed and experiments carried out according to the National Health and Medical Research Council "Australian Code of Practice for the Care and Use of Animals for Scientific Purposes (8th Ed. 2013). New Zealand rabbits fed either a normal chow diet (n=3, 12 weeks, male, VUAEC #14/005) or an atherogenic diet for 4 weeks (n=3, 16 weeks, male, SF00-218 Rabbit Diet: 5% Peanut Oil, 0.5% cholesterol and 1% methionine, VUAEC #13/011) were anaesthetised (0.25mg/kg medetomidine via subcutaneous injection into scruff of neck) prior to 4% isoflourane/oxygen induction in a chamber for a minimum of 10 minutes oxygen (flow rate: 4L/min non-rebreathing circuit). Once unconscious (no reflex at foot, ear and eye), the animal was culled by exsanguination. The aorta was then flushed with cold (on ice) oxygenated Krebs buffer (NaCl 118.4, KCl 4.7, NaHCO<sub>3</sub> 25, MgSO<sub>4</sub> 1.2, CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 2.5, glucose 11.1, mM), removed, cleaned of fat and connective tissue, cut into rings (2-3 mm lengths) and placed in organ baths (OB8, Zultek Engineering, Australia), filled with Krebs, kept at a constant temperature of  $37^{\circ}$ C and continuously bubbled with carbogen (95% O<sub>2</sub> + 5% CO<sub>2</sub>). Rings were left to rest, unmounted, for 30 mins. Rings were then mounted between two metal hooks attached to force displacement transducers, stretched to 2g and allowed to relax for 20 mins, twice.

#### Experimental Protocol

Control rings were incubated with Krebs only. Experimental rings were incubated with either 1 $\mu$ M ML090, gp91ds-tat, VAS or combinations thereof for 30 minutes before being precontracted with phenylephrine (Phen) (0.3-1 $\mu$ M). Rings were then subjected to cumulatively increasing concentrations of acetylcholine (ACh) (0.01 $\mu$ M-10 $\mu$ M) to measure the ability of the ring to relax, as an analogue of NO release.

#### Statistical Analysis

Page | 121

Data were subject to a 2 way repeated measures ANOVA and compared using Sidak's Multiple Comparisons Test. Data are presented as mean ± SEM.





Figure 6.5: An atherogenic diet significantly impaired vasorelaxation in rabbits. Results are mean  $\pm$  SEM (n=3 per group), \*\*\* *p* 0.001. All values compared using Sidak's Multiple Comparisons Test. We have previously reported that normal endothelial relaxation to ACh in the rabbit aorta is impaired by a physiologically relevant atherogenic diet on vasodilation (Rai, Hare & Zulli 2009; Zulli et al. 2003). To assess the ability of this diet high to impair vascular function, we fed rabbits a physiologically relevant atherogenic diet for 4 weeks. The diet rabbits significantly impaired acetylcholine-dependent relaxation compared with rabbits on a normal chow diet (75.1±1.8% vs 97.7±1.0%, *p* 0.001, Figure 6.5).





Page | 124



Figure 6.6A. (single Nox inhibition in chow diet), B (double Nox inhibition in chow diet) and C (triple Nox inhibition in chow diet): Nox1, 2 and 4 inhibition resulted in impaired vasorelaxation in normal diet control rabbits. Results are mean ± SEM (n=3 per group), \*\*\*\* p 0.0001. All values compared using Sidak's Multiple Comparisons Test. To assess the effect of Nox inhibition in healthy rabbit vessels, several Nox inhibitors were employed. We used ML090 to inhibit Nox1, which reduced function compared to control (18.2±9.1% vs 72.6±4.7%, p 0.0001). Nox2 inhibition with gp91ds-tat reduced function (32.9±14.1% vs 93.1±0.8%, p 0.0001) and Nox4 inhibition with VAS2870 also reduced function (28.3±5.6% vs 93.0±0.8%, p 0.0001) (Figure 6.6A). Double combinations of Nox inhibitors also significantly impaired function compared with control: ML090 + gp91ds-tat (80.1±0.4% vs 93.1±0.8, p 0.01), ML090 + VAS2870 (63.0±4.3% vs 96.5±0.6%, p 0.0001) and gp91ds-tat + Page | 125

VAS2870 (44.3 $\pm$ 6.2% vs 96.5 $\pm$ 0.6%, *p* 0.0001, Figure 6.6B). To assess the effect of broad Nox inhibition in this model, we used all three Nox inhibitors together, which reduced function compared with control (67.6 $\pm$ 6.0% vs. 99.0 $\pm$ 0.1%, *p* 0.0001, Figure 6.6C).





Log [Ach], M



Figure 6.7A (single Nox inhibition in atherogenic diet), B (double Nox inhibition in atherogenic diet) and C (triple Nox inhibition in atherogenic diet): Nox1, 2 and 4 inhibition significantly impaired vasorelaxation in atherogenic diet-fed rabbits. Results are mean  $\pm$  SEM (n=3 per group), \*\* *p* 0.01, \*\*\* *p* 0.001, \*\*\*\* *p* 0.0001. All values compared using Sidak's Multiple Comparisons Test. To assess the effect of Nox inhibition in diet-induced dysfunction in rabbits, several Nox inhibitors were employed. We used ML090 to inhibit Nox1; in contrast to our previous report on acute HcyT (Smith, R et al. 2015), ML090 alone failed to have an impact on the vessel in this model; in combination with both other inhibitors it is unclear if it contributed to an impairing effect on relaxation (Figures 6.7B, 6.7C). In contrast, Nox2 inhibition with gp91ds-tat significantly impaired function compared with control (37.8 $\pm$ 3.9% vs 66.6 $\pm$ 8.0%, *p* 0.001, Figure 6.7A) as did Nox4 inhibition with VAS2870

(34.9±13.4% vs. 74.0±5.2%, *p* 0.0001, Figure 6.7A). Double combinations of Nox inhibitors also significantly impaired function compared with control: ML090 + gp91ds-tat (25.5±3.3% vs 47.7±11.8, *p* 0.01, Figure 6.7C), ML090 + VAS2870 (31.2±12.1% vs 66.6±8.0%, *p* 0.0001, Figure 6.7C) and gp91ds-tat + VAS2870 (31.7±18.6% vs 66.6±8.0%, *p* 0.0001, Figure 6.7B). To assess the effect of broad Nox inhibition in this model, we used all three Nox inhibitors together, which failed to improve relaxation compared with control (11.9±2.8% vs. 47.7±11.8%, *p* 0.0001, Figure 6.7C).





Figure 6.8A (chow diet) and B (atherogenic diet): Combined Nox1 + 2 and Nox1, 2 + 4 inhibition was not as detrimental to vascular function as single Nox4 inhibition with VAS2870 in both diet-fed and healthy rabbit vessels. Results are mean  $\pm$  SEM (n=3 per group), \* *p* 0.05, \*\* *p* 0.01, \*\*\* *p* 0.001, \*\*\*\* *p* 0.0001. All values compared using Sidak's Multiple Comparisons Test. The results indicate that there is an important role for Nox4 in endothelial-dependent relaxation, in both healthy and atherogenic rabbit vessels. In healthy vessels, compared to VAS2870, the combination of ML090 + gp91ds-tat improved function (85.0±3.5% vs 91.5±0.9%, *p* 0.0001). In contrast, the triple combination worsened function (85.0±3.5% vs 67.6±6.0%, *p* 0.05). In atherogenic vessels, VAS2870 alone was improved by both of these combinations; ML090 + gp91ds-tat (68.5±1.1% vs 41.1±6.3%, *p* 0.001) and triple Nox inhibition: (58.2±4.3% vs 41.1±6.3%, *p* 0.05).



Log [Agonist], M



Figure 6.9: Combined Nox1+4 inhibition using the specific Nox1+4 inhibitor GKT was able to rescue function in acute 3mM HHcy fed normal chow (A, n=5) but not in an atherogenic model of HHcy (B, n=3). Results are mean  $\pm$  SEM, \*\* *p* 0.002, \*\*\*\* *p* 0.0001. Significance was accepted at *p* < 0.05.

# 6.14 Discussion

The major finding of this study is that in a physiologically relevant atherogenic diet in rabbits, single or combined pharmacological Nox1, 2 and 4 inhibition reduces the acetylcholine-dependent endothelial responses.

First, the 4 week dietary intervention worsened acetylcholine-dependent aortic relaxation compared to a normal diet (Figure 6.5). This further supports an established hypothesis that feeding rabbits a methionine and cholesterol-rich diet induces endothelial dysfunction (Rai, Hare & Zulli 2009; Zulli & Hare 2009; Zulli et al. 2003). We suggest that the dysfunction

induces by this diet is influenced by the increased ROS generated by the increase in methionine in the diet. There is evidence that methionine in proteins acts as a ROS target and presence of methionine offer protection from oxidative stress over cells with reduced methionine (Luo & Levine 2009). Further, targeted methionine by ROS might protect residues that would otherwise be targeted by oxidants, acting effectively as an antioxidant (Luo & Levine 2009). Thus, excess methionine in the diet may have caused an upregulation of

Interestingly, there is evidence that cholesterol itself is a direct activator of Nox-derived  $O_2^-$  (Masoud, Bizouarn & Houée-Levin 2014) and can therefore influence the amount of available ROS. In the atherogenic diet used in this study, it's possible that the increase of cholesterol lead to protective levels of ROS in the vehicle, where there was no Nox inhibition (Figure 6.6A).

In healthy rabbit vessels, singular inhibition of Nox2 and Nox4 resulted in significantly worsened function, whereas singular Nox1 inhibition also had a significant effect but only in the early doses of ACh (Figure 6.6A). In contrast, in atherogenic rabbit vessels, Nox2 and Nox4 inhibition worsened function and we found no significant difference between Nox1 inhibition and controls (Figure 6.7A). This suggests that the ROS produced by Nox1, 2 and 4 is important for endothelial-dependent relaxation and that Nox1 expression might be comparatively less than Nox2 and Nox4 in the rabbit aorta and therefore not as involved in endothelial-dependent relaxation.

Nox1 is highly expressed in colon epithelial cells and an important contributor of ROS in that region and ML090 is reported as a selective Nox1 inhibitor (Brown SJ et al. 2010). In the endothelial and medial vascular smooth muscle layer, Nox1 is present in low levels and has been shown to increase in mice models of hypertension and atherosclerosis and rat models of diabetes (Rivera et al. 2010). Hcy has been shown to upregulate the expression of Nox1 and

Nox2 levels in osteocytes (Takeno et al. 2015) and in methionine-fed rats, Hcy increased the expression of the essential Nox conformational subunit  $p22^{phox}$  (Becker et al. 2005), suggesting a role for HHcy in Nox-driven ROS overproduction; there remains a lack of evidence showing this in the aorta. Our results suggest that an absence of effect by ML090 could be explained by its low expression (Figure 6.7A). Interestingly, our lab showed that ML090 was able to block the effect of acute HcyT-induced dysfunction in rabbits (Smith, R et al. 2015), which suggests that Nox1 might be able to produce ROS in an acute homeostatic mechanism to maintain signalling, but given the results herein it's likely that this effect is short-term.

Inhibition of Nox2 by gp91ds-tat significantly reduced function in the atherogenic model (Figure 6.7A), suggesting an important role for O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> in maintenance of vascular function in chronic Hcy-induced dysfunction. Interestingly, Nox2 inhibition in the healthy vessels also impacted on function (Figure 6.6A), again implying that Nox2-generated ROS is also highly important for healthy vascular function via its signalling role. Nox2 is highly expressed throughout the vasculature (Rivera et al. 2010); we used the gp91ds-tat peptide to inhibit Nox2 (Rey et al. 2001). Studies have shown that Nox2 inhibition to be beneficial in pathological states such as atherosclerosis (Quesada et al. 2015), and overexpression is purported to increase cardiac fibrosis and systolic dysfunction (Murdoch et al. 2014). However, there are also reports of Nox2 overexpression being beneficial, especially in adaptation to stressors (Shafique et al. 2013). For example, Shafique et al. (2013) reported that Nox2 overexpression increased ROS which in turn increased autophagy; in the atherogenic model, the lack of Nox2 might have had the exact opposite effect thereby creating an environment with too many dysfunctional cells. This mechanism could explain the detrimental effect on function in the atherogenic model when we inhibited Nox4 with VAS (Figure 6.7A). Importantly, this implies an essential role for  $H_2O_2$ .  $H_2O_2$  has been shown to be protective in the endothelial layer by participating in a concomitant decrease in apoptosis and maintenance of the pathways that result in relaxation (Tuo et al. 2004); the same effect could be occurring here.

Double combinations of Nox inhibitors also worsened relaxation, in both healthy and atherogenic vessels (Figures 6.6B and 6.6B). These results point to an interaction between the three Nox and the ROS in maintaining tone in chronic dysfunction. Triple Nox1, 2 and 4 inhibition resulted in significantly reduced function in both healthy vessels (Figure 6.6C) and the atherogenic model (Figure 6.7C). These results further support the proposed necessary role for Nox-generated ROS in normal function and chronic endothelial dysfunction. Despite triple Nox inhibition in the healthy vessels being less severe than the atherogenic model, the results suggest that removal of ROS in either condition is unlikely to be beneficial. To our knowledge, this is the first study of its kind, therefore there is no published evidence to explain why inhibiting these Nox in combination would have different effects. We speculate that there is a basal level of ROS that is important for function that upregulates in the remaining Nox when the others are inhibited. Interestingly, there was a significant difference between singular Nox4 inhibition and some of the combined inhibitors, namely Nox1 + 2 and triple Nox inhibition (Figure 6.8A and 6.8B), where these combined inhibitors actually improved function when compared to Nox4 inhibition alone. Nox4, and its product  $H_2O_2$ , might have upregulated when the other Nox were inhibited, which could explain why singular Nox4 inhibition was more detrimental than the other inhibitors. It is, however, more difficult to explain why triple Nox inhibition should also see improvement compared to VAS alone. We suggest that in these results, the absence of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> appears to be important for the correct functioning of the vessel and indeed its presence in the combinations could explain the lessened reduction in function when compared to single Nox inhibition. In addition to combining the separate Nox1, 2 and 4 inhibitors, we were able to test the novel, specific Nox1+4 inhibitor GKT. In our acute 3mM model of HHcy, we found that in the vessels treated with Hcy, GKT was able to reduce impairment almost to control levels (Figure 6.9A). In contrast, we found that GKT was not able to rescue the dysfunction caused by an atherogenic diet (Figure 6.9B). The reasons for these results remain unclear, however, like the combination Nox inhibitors, they also point to an imbalance to ROS homeostasis. More work is required for the underlysing mechanisms of GKT to become better understood.

### 6.15 Limitations

Current Nox inhibitors available tend to have non-specific effects (Bedard & Krause 2007b; Heumuller et al. 2008) that are not yet fully explained (Smith, R et al. 2015). For example, VAS2870 is described herein as a non-specific Nox4 inhibitor (Drummond et al. 2011; Sun et al. 2012). Whilst this description is apt, our results show that the pharmacological Nox inhibitors employed do interact with their targeted enzymes differently, therefore they cannot be fully discounted. Further, *in vitro* modelling might not translate to the human response.

# 6.16 Conclusion

There is evidence to suggest that Nox1, 2 and 4 are integral to the maintenance of proper vascular function, both in healthy and chronic disease models, therefore we would propose that inhibition of these enzymes are contraindicated in rabbit models of Hcy-induced endothelial dysfunction.

#### Chapter 7

# 7.1 The Benefit of GP91DS-TAT in Improving Homocysteine-Induced Impaired Acetylcholine-Mediated Vasorelaxation is Dependent on Concentration

#### 7.2 Abstract

*Introduction:* Increased plasma homocysteine (hyperhomocysteinemia; HHcy) is an independent risk factor for coronary artery disease (CAD) and pharmacological treatments have not been identified. NADPH oxidases (Nox) are essential signalling enzymes, but can increase reactive oxygen species (ROS) if dysregulated. HHcy can increase ROS, which can impair nitric oxide (NO) release, an essential factor in vasorelaxation. We have previously demonstrated that gp91ds-tat (GP;  $10^{-6}$  M) is detrimental in acute Hcy-induced impaired acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation.

*Objectives:* To determine if different concentrations of GP  $(10^{-6} - 10^{-12} \text{ M})$  prevents Hcyinduced reductions in acetylcholine-mediated relaxation, in both acute and chronic models of HHcy-impaired function in rabbits.

*Methods:* Male New Zealand White rabbits were fed either chow (n=16) or atherogenic diet (5% Peanut Oil, 0.5% cholesterol and 1% methionine) for 4 weeks (n=16) (VUAEC#14/005). The aortae were excised, cut into 2-3 mm rings and mounted in organ baths. In chow fed rabbits, rings were incubated with GP ( $10^{-12} - 10^{-6}$  M) for 30 minutes and further incubated with 3mM Hcy for 1 hour; rings from atherogenic-fed rabbits were incubated with GP only. All rings were then pharmacologically pre-contracted with phenylephrine (Phen;  $3x10^{-7}$  M) and subjected to dose response relaxation to acetylcholine (ACh;  $10^{-8} - 10^{-5}$  M, half log units).

*Results:* In rabbit aortic rings, 3mM Hcy incubation reduced acetylcholine-mediated relaxation in the aorta vs. control (no treatment;  $62.0\pm5.7$  vs.  $84.5\pm2.7$ , p < 0.0001, n=7 for each dose).

In acute Hcy, only incubation with GP at  $10^{-8}$  M was able to improve function (27.7±16 vs.  $63.2\pm3.4 \ p < 0.02$ , n=8). In the atherogenic rabbit model, GP at doses  $10^{-7}$  (87.1±1.6) and  $10^{-9}$  (86.8±1.4) were able to improve function compared with the control (74±2.4, p < 0.0008, and 0.001, respectively; n=11 for each dose).

*Conclusion:* At higher doses, GP worsens acute Hcy-induced impaired acetylcholinemediated vascular relaxation in rabbit aorta. However, at lower doses, the effect is protective in both acute and chronic HHcy, suggesting that small, physiologically relevant doses of GP might be a useful treatment strategy in HHcy-impaired acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation.

#### 7.3 Background

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) continues to be a challenging public health concern, responsible for approximately 70% of deaths worldwide (Organization 2017). Among the classical risk factors for CVD is excess plasma homocysteine (Hcy) (Steed & Tyagi 2011), a sulphurcontaining amino-acid by-product of methionine metabolism (McCully Kilmer 2005). Increased plasma Hcy (hyperhomocysteinemia; HHcy) is associated with increased risk of atherogenesis and thrombosis (Racek et al. 2005). HHcy is classified as mild (10-30 µM), moderate (31-100  $\mu$ M) and severe (> 100  $\mu$ M) (Beard, Reynolds & Bearden 2012); in chronic kidney disease (CKD), levels have reported HHcy as high as 300 µM (Beilby, J. & Rossi 2000). Crucially, HHcy has been shown to participate in the development and acceleration of atherosclerosis (Jiang et al. 2012; Julve et al. 2013; Zulli & Hare 2009) and involved in impairing acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation (Jia et al. 2011; Song et al. 2015; Wu et al. 2015; Zulli et al. 2003). Preventing CVD is an important strategy in reducing economic and social burden (Hu, F, Liu & Willett 2011; Weintraub et al. 2011), and thus research is focused on finding ways to restore endothelial function (Gu et al. 2013; Santos-Parker, LaRocca & Seals 2014; Vasdev, Stuckless & Richardson 2011) as treatment for HHcy is still to be determined. Understanding the role the B vitamins play in methionine metabolism (Castro et al. 2006) has justified their application in several clinical trials aimed at reducing HHcy plasma levels (Clarke, Robert et al. 2014; Lonn et al. 2006; Saposnik et al. 2009). However, the results of these trials have been disappointing and unable to deliver a treatment strategy to reduce HHcy.

The nicotinamide adenosine diphosphate (NADPH) oxidases family (Nox1-5, Duox1, 2) (Bedard & Krause 2007b) are trans-membranous enzymes that produce functional reactive oxygen species (ROS) essential for cell signalling and proper endothelial function (Bedard & Krause 2007b; Rivera et al. 2010). Of these, Nox2 is the most-widely studied, especially in

the context of vascular function (Drummond & Sobey 2014), and produces  $O_2^-$  as its main product (Selemidis et al. 2008). ROS from Nox, especially  $O_2^-$ , have been identified as important factors in both atherosclerosis development (Douglas et al. 2012) and reduced vascular function (Konior et al. 2013). Increased  $O2^-$  has also been reported in HHcy (Becker et al. 2005) and HHcy could be involved in promoting cellular damage via Nox2 (Zou, CG et al. 2009). Further, Hcy has been reported to stimulate the Nox2 subunit p47phox and increase apoptotic ROS production in rats (Sipkens et al. 2011).

The putative Nox2 inhibitor gp91ds-tat (GP) is an 18 amino-acid peptide that accesses the cell via its TAT tail and inhibits Nox2 by blocking the assembly of p47<sup>phox</sup> and gp91<sup>phox</sup> (Rastogi et al. 2016). Previously, we have shown that GP, in combination with other Nox inhibitors, is involved in worsening acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation impaired by Hcy thiolactone (the atherogenic form of Hcy (Jakubowski 2000)) (Smith, R et al. 2015)(also Nox2 and Nox4 paper once published). This finding is not supported by most studies assessing genetic or pharmacological Nox2 inhibition in vascular disease, where GP and/or Nox2 knock-outs generally improve vascular function in different models of dysfunction (Bendall et al. 2002; Deng et al. 2012; Guemez-Gamboa et al. 2011; Judkins et al. 2010; Qian, C et al. 2016). Given that differences across animal species and genetics can result in variations to vascular disease susceptibility (Van Craeyveld et al. 2012), our aim was to test the efficacy of GP across a range of doses in an established rabbit model of HHcy-impaired acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation (Zulli & Hare 2009),

### 7.4 Methods

All handling of animals and experiments were carried out according to the National Health and Medical Research Council "Australian Code of Practice for the Care and Use of Animals for Scientific Purposes" (8th Ed. 2013) and approved under Victoria University's Animal Ethics Committee (VUAEC) #14/005. Acetylcholine, homocysteine, and phenylephrine were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich, (Merck), Darmstadt, Germany. Gp91ds-tat was purchased from Australian Biosearch, Perth, WA, Australia. Special rabbit chow was purchased from Specialty Feeds (Glen Forrest Stockfeeders), Perth, WA, Australia.

# Animal Procedure

New Zealand rabbits (male, 12-18 weeks, n=24, VUAEC #14/005) were housed in separate cages, maintained at a constant temperature of approximately 23°C and provided water and food *ad libidum*. Whilst in our care, 12 rabbits were fed a normal chow diet and the other 12 fed an atherogenic diet (SF00-218 Rabbit Diet: 5% Peanut Oil, 0.5% cholesterol and 1% methionine) for 4 weeks (Rai, Hare & Zulli 2009). The rabbit was securely wrapped in a towel and was anaesthetised with a subcutaneous scruff injection of medetomidine (0.25mg/kg) then left to rest, caged and covered, for 10 minutes. Once the animal appeared languid and docile, it was then moved to a chamber attached to circulatory gas system and subjected to further anaesthetic (isoflurane + 4% O<sub>2</sub>) for 10 minutes. Once the animal was unable to right itself upon being turned over (chamber tipped gently), it was removed, placed on its back with its head placed back so that the oesophagus was not occluded and a mask containing the same anaesthetic mixture was held over its face for 5 mins. After 5 mins, the reflexes (pinching into space between toes, edge of ear, touching eye with a gloved finger) were tested and if no response, the rabbit was exsanguinated via the lower vena cava for a minimum of 3 minutes. Once life signs were not exhibited by the rabbit (fully dilate iris, no reflexive responses), the diaphragm was cut and the mask removed.

#### Isometric Tension Studies

The aortae were cleaned of fat and connective tissue and placed in cold (on ice) Krebs solution. The abdominal section of the aorta was cut into rings (2-3 mm lengths) and placed in organ baths (OB8, Zultek Engineering, Australia), filled with Krebs, kept at a constant temperature of 37°C and continuously bubbled with carbogen (95%  $O_2 + 5\%$  CO<sub>2</sub>). These rings were left to rest, unmounted, for 30 minutes. Rings were then mounted between two metal hooks attached to force displacement transducers, stretched to 2g and allowed to reach resting tension plateau (30 minutes). Rings were then re-stretched and allowed to reach resting tension plateau a second time (20 minutes). Rings were incubated with the GP (10<sup>-6</sup> - 10<sup>-12</sup> M (Rey et al. 2001)) for a total of 1 hour 30 minutes. Some rings from chow-fed rabbits were also incubated with 3mM Hcy for 1 hour. Control rings had neither Hcy nor Nox2 inhibitor added. To assess acetylcholine mediated relaxation (ACh; 10<sup>-8</sup> - 10<sup>-5</sup> M (Zulli & Hare 2009)), rings were precontracted with phenylephrine (Phen;  $3x10^{-7}$  M (Zulli & Hare 2009)). After the contraction reached a plateau, a concentration-response curve to ACh-mediated vasorelaxation was performed (10<sup>-8</sup> - 10<sup>-5</sup> M, half log units).

*Statistical Analysis:* Isometric tension data were analysed using a two-way repeated measures ANOVA, measuring differences in response to drug dose between and within groups, followed by Sidak's Multiple Comparisons Test. Control values for each vasorelaxation graph were all pooled. All data were analysed using GraphPad Prism (version 7.01 for Windows, GraphPad Software, La Jolla, California USA). Data are represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Significance was accepted at *p* < 0.05.







Figure 7.1A-F. In acute 3mM Hcy, GP at different doses  $(10^{-7} - 10^{-12} \mu M)$  worsens HHcyinduced vascular dysfunction. Data are presented as mean ± SEM (n=7 for Hcy and controls; n=8 for GP<sup>-8</sup>; n=11 for GP<sup>-7,9-12</sup>. \* = 0.04; \*\*\* = 0.004; \*\*\*\* = 0.0001; ns = no significance. Significance was accepted at *p* < 0.05.




Figure 7.2A-F. In an atherogenic model of HHcy, GP at multiple doses  $10^{-7} - 10^{-12} \mu M$  worsens acetylcholine-dependent vasorelaxation. Data are represented as mean ± SEM (n=7 for Hcy and controls; n=8 for GP<sup>-8</sup>; n=11 for GP<sup>-7,9-12</sup>. \* = 0.02; \*\*\* = 0.001; \*\*\*\* = 0.0001; ns = no significance. Significance was accepted at *p* < 0.05.

### 7.6 Discussion

In this study, we provide direct evidence that GP improves *ex vivo* acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation in both acute and chronic models of HHcy in a dose-dependent manner.

We have shown previously that incubation with putative Nox2 inhibitors GP, apocynin and PhoxI2 (all 10<sup>-6</sup> M), are detrimental in HHcy-impaired acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation (Smith, R et al. 2015), despite their structural differences, suggesting that the dose, not the drug structure, determines these drug's efficacy in Nox2 inhibition. The use of 3mM Hcy to induce impaired-ACh-mediated vasorelaxation has been previously established by work from our lab (Smith, R et al. 2015).

Initially we used a 10<sup>-6</sup> M concentration of GP, based on the published literature (Rey et al. 2001). In our previous work, we were unable to replicate the responses with the published dose, therefore we investigated a gradual reduction in the dose to measure improvements to HHcy-impaired acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation. To our knowledge, Nox and HHcy has not been studied under these conditions, and so the published dose may have been inappropriate for our model. In the healthy rabbits, we used 3mM Hcy in *ex vivo* tissue to mimic an acute impaired response to ACh. As expected, Hcy reduced ACh-mediated vasorelaxation in healthy controls (Fig. 7.1). In the acute HHcy model, none of the different doses were able to restore function back to control levels (Figure 7.1A-F).

In the atherogenic model, the long-term feeding was to mimic a chronic impairment to AChmediated vasorelaxation. We have previously shown this to be an effective model of endothelial dysfunction (Zulli & Hare 2009; Zulli et al. 2004). In this model we found that GP<sup>-</sup> <sup>8</sup> was able to slightly improve acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation, (Fig. 7.2B).

These results suggest that there is a change in ROS balance in the context of excess plasma Hcy. Future treatment strategies should be focused on ascertaining the efficacy of doses of Nox inhibitors in *in vivo* models of Hcy-impaired acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation.

### 7.7 Limitations

The pharmacological Nox2 inhibitor used in this study, GP, was based on established work (Qian, C et al. 2016; Smith, R et al. 2015), however the specificity of this drug is debatable (Bedard & Krause 2007b) and requires further clarification (Smith, R et al. 2015) as it may have off-target effects.

### 7.8 Conclusion

In conclusion, the delicate balance of ROS that Nox2 generates to maintain effective signalling appears to be impaired in HHcy disease. It would be worthwhile pursuing treatment strategies that allow for the dosage of Nox inhibitors, especially GP, to be developed in *in vivo* models of HHcy-impaired acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation.

### Chapter 8

### 8.1 General Discussion

#### Summary of Major Findings

This thesis examined several putative pharmacological Nox1, 2 and 4 inhibitors in rabbits and mice, and further investigated Nox2 deletion in mice, under acute HHcy-induced impaired acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation and an atherogenic diet. The major observations made in this thesis contribute to the understanding that the dose of Nox inhibitors is vital to the success of treating HHcy. Some of these key observations include:

# 8.2 Single Nox1, 2 and 4 inhibition worsens HHcy-impaired acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation, but this can be partially rescued by activating the Akt pathway or inducing $O_2^-$ generation.

In chapter 3, we assessed the effect of single Nox1, 2 and 4 inhibition in HHcy-induced impaired acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation. In both rabbits and mice and using the gold standard to measure acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation, isometric tension, we found that the Nox2 inhibitors apocynin, GP and PhoxI2, and the Nox4 inhibitor VAS, in the published dose  $(10^{-6} \text{ M})$  was not effective at reducing impaired vasodilation, and in fact significantly worsened it. Interestingly, in GP + Hcy treated rings, activating the Akt pathway or inducing  $O_2^-$  production, was able to negate this effect. We propose that the basis for these findings indicate the positive role for  $O_2^-$  in this model in activating Akt. (1). In support of this, a previous in human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC), insulin was used as an Akt activator and was able to partially restore endothelial dysfunction attributed to increased plasma Hcy (2). Whilst we did not directly measure Akt phosphorylation, the improved vasodilation is a marker of Akt activation.

### 8.3 eNOS phosphorylation is reduced in HHcy plus GP incubated tissue.

Semi-quantitative immunohistochemistry was performed on aorta from the isometric tension studies, which is outlined in chapter 4. In order for eNOS to be activated, it requires phosphorylation at Ser1177 and dephosphorylation at Thr495 (3). In tissue incubated with HHcy and GP, we found that the combination of GP and acute Hcy resulted in a loss of phosphorylation at Ser1177. Acute Hcy alone caused an upregulation of Ser1177, whereas there was no change to Thr495 dephosphorylation. HHcy-induced changes to eNOS phosphorylation has been reported before in HUVEC, where reduced eNOS phosphorylation at Ser1177 was attributed to increased plasma Hcy (2).

### 8.4 Combinations of Nox1, 2 and 4 inhibition improves HHcy-impaired acetylcholinemediated vasorelaxation, whereas iNOS inhibition worsens it.

In chapter 5, we examined the effect of combining the Nox inhibitors. Interestingly, we found that although single Nox inhibition worsened HHcy-induced impaired acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation, combinations of the inhibitors improved vasorelaxation. From these results, we inferred that blocking multiple Nox enzymes is required to improve acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation. As full relaxation was not restored, we hypothesised that iNOS could be a causative factor. Thus, we assessed the effect of reducing iNOS, an established promotor of atherosclerosis where it has only been found elevated in inflammatory disease and potentially important in the redox balance.

In contrast, we found that when iNOS was inhibited, either alone or in combination with Nox inhibition, acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation was significantly reduced. We attribute this impaired vasorelaxation (keeping in mind 'off target' effects of 1400W) to a disturbance to the delicate homeostatic redox balance that essential signalling factors that ultimately support.

### 8.5 An atherogenic or 1% methionine diet worsens acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation in rabbits and wild-type (WT) mice, but improves function in a Nox2<sup>-/-</sup> mouse model.

In chapter 6, to confirm the results of the acute pharmacological HHcy dysfunction, we used an established rabbit and mouse diet model of HHcy. In rabbits fed an atherogenic diet and WT mice fed a 1% methionine diet, single or combined Nox1, 2 and 4 inhibition was not effective at rescuing impaired acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation. In contrast, the Nox2<sup>-/-</sup> mouse had rescued acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation, compared with WT mice, suggesting that the delicate redox balance was AChieved in the endothelium. The results here suggest an important role for basal ROS in vasorelaxation.

## 8.6 The efficacy of GP in HHcy-impaired acetylcholine-impaired vasorelaxation is dependent on the dose.

If basal ROS is important, we hypothesised that improvement in function should be observed by reducing the dose of GP for Nox2 inhibition. Here we used a dose-response curve of  $10^{-6} - 10^{-12}$  M to assess any changes in HHcy-impaired acetylcholine-dependent vasorelaxation. This dose-response curve was carried out in both acute and chronic HHcy in rabbits. We found that in contrast to the higher doses, GP administered in the  $10^{-10} - 10^{-12}$  range was effective at restoring function. We attribute this to the delicate balance of  $O_2^-$  that is required at the basal level and suggest that those minimal levels of Nox2-generated ROS are essential for maintaining proper acetylcholine-mediated vasorelaxation.

### 8.7 Summary

It is established that restoring normal NO bioavailability will reduce the burden of CVD. High plasma homocysteine (a risk factor for CVD) can reduce NO bioavailability via activation of Nox enzymes. Our laboratory is interested in restoring NO bioavailability via inhibition of these Nox enzymes. The choice of using putative Nox inhibitors was based on a myriad of published data indicating a detrimental role for oxidative stress.

A major finding of this study is that singular use of ML090 (Nox1), Gp91ds-tat (Nox2) and VAS2870 (Nox4) use does not improve, and worsens, blood vessel function in normal and pathological aorta. Yet, combination of these drugs do inhibit the effect of homocysteine. As well, it is identified that low dose Gp91ds-tat could be a novel avenue for HHcy treatment. Further, the vasodilatory effect of low-dose Gp91ds-tat provides further evidence that the other Nox inhibitors we employed herein are not 100% specifc for Nox1, 2 and 4 and also supports the argument that basal levels of Nox-derived oxidative stress are essential for maintaining Ach-dependent vasodilation in Hcy-induced endothelial dysfunction.

### 8.8 Future Directions

The positive results of the GP dose-response curve suggest that a potential return to basal ROS levels may be important for understanding the relationship between Nox2 and HHcy. These results represent a real need to characterise proper treatment regimens in 'partial' knock-out models, which may help to develop a treatment strategy suitable for humans. Additionally, the small but clear improvement in some combinations of Nox1, 2 and 4 inhibitors are an interesting find, and these results support current findings of the novel and specific Nox1/4 inhibitor, GKT. Given the apparent safety of GKT, future treatment strategies in our models of HHcy-induced dysfunction clearly warrants investigating GKT further. Additionally, research going forward should include work on the recently described triple Nox knock-out mouse, which could provide more insight into the pathophysiology of HHcy.

### 8.9 Concluding Remarks

In conclusion, this thesis has made a number of observations which significantly contribute to our understanding of HHcy and putative Nox inhibitors. The studies herein serve as the foundation to further investigate lower doses of these inhibitors in HHcy induced vascular disease to prevent HHcy induced CVD.

### List of Presentations and Manuscripts Arising from this Thesis

Presentation: Korea Society of Lipidology and Atherosclerosis (ICLA), Korea September 2016: The Effect of Nox Inhibition on Homocysteine-induced Endothelial Dysfunction.

Presentation: Victoria University Health and Biomedicine Post Graduate Student Conference 2016: The Effect of Nox Inhibition on Homocysteine-induced Endothelial Dysfunction.

Presentation: Graduate Research Centre (Victoria University) 2017: Nox2, Nox4 Inhibition and HSP72 Activation in Homocysteine-induced Endothelial Dysfunction.

Manuscript accepted 07<sup>th</sup> May 2019: Putative Nox2 Inhibitors Worsen Homocysteine-Induced Impaired Acetylcholine-Mediated Relaxation, Journal of Nutrition, Metabolism, and Cardiovascular Diseases.

### Chapter 9

### References

1. Lozano R, Naghavi M, Foreman K, Lim S, Shibuya K, Aboyans V, et al. Global and regional mortality from 235 causes of death for 20 age groups in 1990 and 2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. Lancet (London, England). 2012;380(9859):2095-128.

2. Epstein FH. Cardiovascular Disease Epidemiology. A Journey From the Past Into the Future. 1996;93(9):1755-64.

3. Bild DE, McClelland R, Kaufman JD, Blumenthal R, Burke GL, Carr JJ, et al. Ten-Year Trends in Coronary Calcification in Individuals without Clinical Cardiovascular Disease in the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. PloS one. 2014;9(4):e94916.

4. Coppieters KT, von Herrath MG. Metabolic syndrome - Removing roadblocks to therapy: Antigenic immunotherapies. Molecular metabolism. 2014;3(3):275-83.

5. Cannizzo B, Lujan A, Estrella N, Lembo C, Cruzado M, Castro C. Insulin resistance promotes early atherosclerosis via increased proinflammatory proteins and oxidative stress in fructose-fed ApoE-KO mice. Experimental diabetes research. 2012;2012:941304.

6. Hills SA, Balkau B, Coppack SW, Dekker JM, Mari A, Natali A, et al. The EGIR-RISC STUDY (The European group for the study of insulin resistance: relationship between insulin sensitivity and cardiovascular disease risk): I. Methodology and objectives. Diabetologia. 2004;47(3):566-70.

7. CADTH. CADTH Rapid Response Reports. Lifestyle Prescriptions: A Review of the Clinical Evidence. Ottawa (ON): Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health

Copyright (c) 2014 Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health.; 2014.

8. NHMRC. Australian Dietary Guidelines. eatforhealthgovau. 2017.

9. HHS, USDA. Nutrition and Your Health: Dietary Guidelines for Americans, 1980. Dietary Guidelines for Americans. 1980:11.

10. Baer DJ, Rice Bradley BH, Kris-Etherton P, Mente A, de Oliveira Otto M. Insights and perspectives on dietary modifications to reduce the risk of cardiovascular disease. Advances in nutrition (Bethesda, Md). 2014;5(5):553-5.

11. Bowen KJ, Sullivan VK, Kris-Etherton PM, Petersen KS. Nutrition and Cardiovascular Disease-an Update. Current atherosclerosis reports. 2018;20(2):8.

12. Flueckiger P, Qureshi W, Michos ED, Blaha M, Burke G, Sandfort V, et al. Guidelinebased statin/lipid-lowering therapy eligibility for primary prevention and accuracy of coronary artery calcium and clinical cardiovascular events: The Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA). Clinical cardiology. 2016.

Roth GA, Johnson C, Abajobir A, Abd-Allah F, Abera SF, Abyu G, et al. Global,
 Regional, and National Burden of Cardiovascular Diseases for 10 Causes, 1990 to 2015.
 Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2017;70(1):1-25.

14. Kannel W, McGee D. Diabetes and glucose tolerance as risk factors for cardiovascular disease: the Framingham study. Diabetes care. 1979;2(2):120-6.

15. Iacono J, Marshall M, Dougherty R, Wheeler M, Mackin J, Canary J. Reduction in blood pressure associated with high polyunsaturated fat diets that reduce blood cholesterol in man. Preventive medicine. 1975;4(4):426-43.

16. Doyle JT, Heslin AS, Hilleboe HE, Formel PF, Korns RF. III. A Prospective Study of Degenerative Cardiovascular Disease in Albany: Report of Three Years' Experience—1. Ischemic Heart Disease. American Journal of Public Health and the Nations Health. 1957;47(4\_Pt\_2):25-32.

17. Mann GV, Teel K, Hayes O, McNally A, Bruno D. Exercise in the disposition of dietary calories: regulation of serum lipoprotein and cholesterol levels in human subjects. New England Journal of Medicine. 1955;253(9):349-55.

Jolliffe N. Fats, cholesterol, and coronary heart disease: a review of recent progress.
 Circulation. 1959;20(1):109-27.

19. Lawry EY, Mann GV, Peterson A, Wysocki AP, O'Connell R, Stare FJ. Cholesterol and beta lipoproteins in the serums of Americans: well persons and those with coronary heart disease. The American journal of medicine. 1957;22(4):605-23.

20. Liu AG, Ford NA, Hu FB, Zelman KM, Mozaffarian D, Kris-Etherton PM. A healthy approach to dietary fats: understanding the science and taking action to reduce consumer confusion. Nutrition Journal. 2017;16:53.

21. Clarke R, Bennett D, Parish S, Lewington S, Skeaff M, Eussen SJPM, et al. Effects of homocysteine lowering with B vitamins on cognitive aging: meta-analysis of 11 trials with cognitive data on 22,000 individuals. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2014;100(2):657-66.

22. Debreceni B, Debreceni L. Why Do Homocysteine-Lowering B Vitamin and Antioxidant E Vitamin Supplementations Appear To Be Ineffective in the Prevention of Cardiovascular Diseases? Cardiovascular therapeutics. 2012;30(4):227-33.

23. Hodis HN, Mack WJ, Dustin L, Mahrer PR, Azen SP, Detrano R, et al. High-dose B vitamin supplementation and progression of subclinical atherosclerosis: a randomized controlled trial. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation. 2009;40(3):730-6.

24. Toole JF, Malinow MR, Chambless LE, Spence JD, Pettigrew LC, Howard VJ, et al. Lowering homocysteine in patients with ischemic stroke to prevent recurrent stroke, myocardial infarction, and death: the Vitamin Intervention for Stroke Prevention (VISP) randomized controlled trial. Jama. 2004;291(5):565-75.

25. Lonn E, Yusuf S, Arnold MJO, Sheridan P, McQueen MJ, Pogue J, et al. Homocysteine Lowering with Folic Acid and B Vitamins in Vascular Disease. The New England Journal of Medicine. 2006;354:1567-77.

26. Saposnik G, Ray JG, Sheridan P, McQueen M, Lonn E, Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation I. Homocysteine-lowering therapy and stroke risk, severity, and disability: additional findings from the HOPE 2 trial. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation. 2009;40(4):1365-72.

27. Lee H-Y, Sakuma I, Ihm S-H, Goh C-W, Koh KK. Statins and Renin-Angiotensin System Inhibitor Combination Treatment to Prevent Cardiovascular Disease. Circulation Journal. 2014;78(2):281-7.

28. Schaffer A, Verdoia M, Cassetti E, Marino P, Suryapranata H, De Luca G, et al. Relationship between homocysteine and coronary artery disease. Results from a large prospective cohort study. Thrombosis research. 2014;134(2):288-93.

29. Dehmer SP, Maciosek MV, LaFrance AB, Flottemesch TJ. Health Benefits and Cost-Effectiveness of Asymptomatic Screening for Hypertension and High Cholesterol and Aspirin Counseling for Primary Prevention. Annals of family medicine. 2017;15(1):23-36.

30. Tarride J-E, Lim M, DesMeules M, Luo W, Burke N, O'Reilly D, et al. A review of the cost of cardiovascular disease. The Canadian Journal of Cardiology. 2009;25(6):e195-e202.

31. Sorescu D. Superoxide Production and Expression of Nox Family Proteins in Human Atherosclerosis. Circulation. 2002;105(12):1429-35.

32. Moraes J, Assreuy J, Canetti C, Barja-Fidalgo C. Leukotriene B4 mediates vascular smooth muscle cell migration through alphavbeta3 integrin transactivation. Atherosclerosis. 2010;212(2):406-13.

33. Raggi P, Genest J, Giles JT, Rayner KJ, Dwivedi G, Beanlands RS, et al. Role of inflammation in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis and therapeutic interventions. Atherosclerosis. 2018;276:98-108.

34. Miida T, Nishimura K, Okamura T, Hirayama S, Ohmura H, Yoshida H, et al. Validation of homogeneous assays for HDL-cholesterol using fresh samples from healthy and diseased subjects. Atherosclerosis. 2014;233(1):253-9.

35. Burke AP, Kolodgie FD, Farb A, Weber DK, Malcom GT, Smialek J, et al. Healed Plaque Ruptures and Sudden Coronary Death. Evidence That Subclinical Rupture Has a Role in Plaque Progression. 2001;103(7):934-40.

36. Andreou I, Antoniadis AP, Shishido K, Papafaklis MI, Koskinas KC, Chatzizisis YS, et al. How do we prevent the vulnerable atherosclerotic plaque from rupturing? Insights from in vivo assessments of plaque, vascular remodeling, and local endothelial shear stress. Journal of cardiovascular pharmacology and therapeutics. 2015;20(3):261-75.

37. Crucet M, Wust SJ, Spielmann P, Luscher TF, Wenger RH, Matter CM. Hypoxia enhances lipid uptake in macrophages: role of the scavenger receptors Lox1, SRA, and CD36. Atherosclerosis. 2013;229(1):110-7.

38. Nambi V, Chambless L, Folsom AR, He M, Hu Y, Mosley T, et al. Carotid Intima-Media Thickness and Presence or Absence of Plaque Improves Prediction of Coronary Heart Disease Risk: The ARIC (Atherosclerosis Risk In Communities) Study. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2010;55(15):1600-7.

39. Amato M, Veglia F, de Faire U, Giral P, Rauramaa R, Smit AJ, et al. Carotid plaquethickness and common carotid IMT show additive value in cardiovascular risk prediction and reclassification. Atherosclerosis. 2017;263:412-9.

40. Cai H, Harrison DG. Endothelial dysfunction in cardiovascular diseases: the role of oxidant stress. Circ Res. 2000;87(10):840-4.

41. Quesada IM, Lucero A, Amaya C, Meijles DN, Cifuentes ME, Pagano PJ, et al. Selective inactivation of NADPH oxidase 2 causes regression of vascularization and the size and stability of atherosclerotic plaques. Atherosclerosis. 2015;242(2):469-75.

42. Kobayashi T, Taguchi K, Yasuhiro T, Matsumoto T, Kamata K. Impairment of PI3-K/Akt pathway underlies attenuated endothelial function in aorta of type 2 diabetic mouse model. Hypertension. 2004;44(6):956-62.

43. Lee J, Bae EH, Ma SK, Kim SW. Altered Nitric Oxide System in Cardiovascular and Renal Diseases. Chonnam Med J. 2016;52(2):81-90.

44. Mudau M, Genis A, Lochner A, Strijdom H. Endothelial dysfunction: the early predictor of atherosclerosis. Cardiovascular Journal of Africa. 2012;23(4):222-31.

45. Nyyssonen K, Kurl S, Karppi J, Nurmi T, Baldassarre D, Veglia F, et al. LDL oxidative modification and carotid atherosclerosis: results of a multicenter study. Atherosclerosis. 2012;225(1):231-6.

46. Bays H. Adiposopathy, "Sick Fat," Ockham's Razor, and Resolution of the Obesity Paradox. Current atherosclerosis reports. 2014;16(5):409.

47. Khan S, Rahman HN, Okamoto T, Matsunaga T, Fujiwara Y, Sawa T, et al. Promotion of atherosclerosis by Helicobacter cinaedi infection that involves macrophage-driven proinflammatory responses. Scientific reports. 2014;4:4680.

48. Steed MM, Tyagi SC. Mechanisms of cardiovascular remodeling in hyperhomocysteinemia. Antioxidants & redox signaling. 2011;15(7):1927-43.

49. Tan Y, Li X, Prabhu SD, Brittian KR, Chen Q, Yin X, et al. Angiotensin II plays a critical role in alcohol-induced cardiac nitrative damage, cell death, remodeling, and cardiomyopathy in a protein kinase C/nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidase-dependent manner. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2012;59(16):1477-86.

50. Tejani FH, Thompson RC, Kristy R, Bukofzer S. Effect of caffeine on SPECT myocardial perfusion imaging during regadenoson pharmacologic stress: a prospective, randomized, multicenter study. The international journal of cardiovascular imaging. 2014;30(5):979-89.

51. Eijsvogels TMH, Molossi S, Lee D-c, Emery MS, Thompson PD. Exercise at the Extremes: The Amount of Exercise to Reduce Cardiovascular Events. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2016;67(3):316-29.

52. Thompson PD, Buchner D, Piña IL, Balady GJ, Williams MA, Marcus BH, et al. Exercise and Physical Activity in the Prevention and Treatment of Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease. A Statement From the Council on Clinical Cardiology (Subcommittee on Exercise, Rehabilitation, and Prevention) and the Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism (Subcommittee on Physical Activity). 2003;107(24):3109-16.

53. Bowles DK, Laughlin MH. Mechanism of beneficial effects of physical activity on atherosclerosis and coronary heart disease. Journal of applied physiology. 2011;111(1):308-10.

54. Kalanuria AA, Nyquist P, Ling G. The prevention and regression of atherosclerotic plaques: emerging treatments. Vascular Health and Risk Management. 2012;8:549-61.

55. Hoffman M. Hypothesis: Hyperhomocysteinemia is an indicator of oxidant stress. Medical Hypotheses. 2011;77(6):1088-93.

Jiang Y, Zhang H, Sun T, Wang J, Sun W, Gong H, et al. The comprehensive effects of hyperlipidemia and hyperhomocysteinemia on pathogenesis of atherosclerosis and DNA hypomethylation in ApoE-/- mice. Acta biochimica et biophysica Sinica. 2012;44(10):866-75.
Julve J, Escola-Gil JC, Rodriguez-Millan E, Martin-Campos JM, Jauhiainen M, Quesada H, et al. Methionine-induced hyperhomocysteinemia impairs the antioxidant ability

of high-density lipoproteins without reducing in vivo macrophage-specific reverse cholesterol transport. Molecular nutrition & food research. 2013;57(10):1814-24.

58. Carluccio MA, Ancora MA, Massaro M, Carluccio M, Scoditti E, Distante A, et al. Homocysteine induces VCAM-1 gene expression through NF-B and NAD(P)H oxidase activation: protective role of Mediterranean diet polyphenolic antioxidants. AJP: Heart and Circulatory Physiology. 2007;293(4):H2344-H54.

59. Rai S, Hare DL, Zulli A. A physiologically relevant atherogenic diet causes severe endothelial dysfunction within 4 weeks in rabbit. International journal of experimental pathology. 2009;90(6):598-604.

60. Smith R, Kruzliak P, Adamcikova Z, Zulli A. Role of Nox inhibitors plumbagin, ML090 and gp91ds-tat peptide on homocysteine thiolactone induced blood vessel dysfunction. Clinical and experimental pharmacology & physiology. 2015;42(8):860-4.

61. Zulli A, Hare DL. High dietary methionine plus cholesterol stimulates early atherosclerosis and late fibrous cap development which is associated with a decrease in GRP78 positive plaque cells. International journal of experimental pathology. 2009;90(3):311-20.

62. Russell JC, Proctor SD. Small animal models of cardiovascular disease: tools for the study of the roles of metabolic syndrome, dyslipidemia, and atherosclerosis. Cardiovasc Pathol. 2006;15(6):318-30.

63. Zaragoza C, Gomez-Guerrero C, Martin-Ventura JL, Blanco-Colio L, Lavin B, #xf1, et al. Animal Models of Cardiovascular Diseases. Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology. 2011;2011:13.

64. Liao J, Huang W, Liu G. Animal models of coronary heart disease. Journal of Biomedical Research. 2017;31(1):3-10.

65. Carson NAJ, Neill DW. Metabolic Abnormalities Detected in a Survey of Mentally Backward Individuals in Northern Ireland. Archives of Disease in Childhood. 1962;37(195):505-13.

66. Gibson JB, Carson NAJ, Neill DW. Pathological findings in homocystinuria. Journal of clinical pathology. 1964;17(4):427-37.

67. Gerritsen T, Waisman HA. HOMOCYSTINURIA, AN ERROR IN THE METABOLISM OF METHIONINE. Pediatrics. 1964;33:413-20.

68. Beard RS, Jr., Reynolds JJ, Bearden SE. Metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 mediates phosphorylation of vascular endothelial cadherin and nuclear localization of beta-catenin in response to homocysteine. Vascul Pharmacol. 2012;56(3-4):159-67.

69. Sen U, Mishra PK, Tyagi N, Tyagi SC. Homocysteine to hydrogen sulfide or hypertension. Cell biochemistry and biophysics. 2010;57(2-3):49-58.

70. Erol A, Cinar MG, Can C, Olukman M, Ulker S, Kosay S. Effect of homocysteine on nitric oxide production in coronary microvascular endothelial cells. Endothelium : journal of endothelial cell research. 2007;14(3):157-61.

71. Wilson JB, Welsch M, Allen J, Thomson J, Tulley R, Lefevre M. The association of homocysteine and related factors to brachial artery diameter and flow-mediated dilation. Metabolism: clinical and experimental. 2007;56(5):641-8.

72. Zulli A, Hare DL, Buxton BF, Black MJ. High dietary methionine plus cholesterol exacerbates atherosclerosis formation in the left main coronary artery of rabbits. Atherosclerosis. 2004;176(1):83-9.

73. Kaul S, Zadeh AA, Shah PK. Homocysteine hypothesis for atherothrombotic cardiovascular disease: not validated. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2006;48(5):914-23.

74. Castro R, Rivera I, Blom HJ, Jakobs C, Tavares de Almeida I. Homocysteine metabolism, hyperhomocysteinaemia and vascular disease: an overview. Journal of inherited metabolic disease. 2006;29(1):3-20.

75. Thomas B, Gruca LL, Bennett C, Parimi PS, Hanson RW, Kalhan SC. Metabolism of methionine in the newborn infant: response to the parenteral and enteral administration of nutrients. Pediatric research. 2008;64(4):381-6.

76. Mueller JH. A new sulfur-containing amino-acid isolated from the hydrolytic products of protein. J Biol Chem. 1923;56:157-69.

77. Joseph J, Loscalzo J. Methoxistasis: integrating the roles of homocysteine and folic acid in cardiovascular pathobiology. Nutrients. 2013;5(8):3235-56.

78. Gao X, Yao M, McCrory MA, Ma G, Li Y, Roberts SB, et al. Dietary Pattern Is Associated with Homocysteine and B Vitamin Status in an Urban Chinese Population. The Journal of nutrition. 2003;133(11):3636-42.

79. Dangour AD, Breeze E, Clarke R, Shetty PS, Uauy R, Fletcher AE. Plasma Homocysteine, but Not Folate or Vitamin B-12, Predicts Mortality in Older People in the United Kingdom. The Journal of nutrition. 2008;138(6):1121-8.

80. Frosst P, Blom HJ, Milos R, Goyette P, Sheppard CA, Matthews RG, et al. A candidate genetic risk factor for vascular disease: a common mutation in methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase. Nature Genetics. 1995;10:111.

81. Liew S-C, Gupta ED. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) C677T polymorphism: Epidemiology, metabolism and the associated diseases. European Journal of Medical Genetics. 2015;58(1):1-10.

82. Ansari R, Mahta A, Mallack E, Luo JJ. Hyperhomocysteinemia and neurologic disorders: a review. Journal of clinical neurology. 2014;10(4):281-8.

83. van Guldener C. Why is homocysteine elevated in renal failure and what can be expected from homocysteine-lowering? Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation : official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association - European Renal Association. 2006;21(5):1161-6.

84. Fang P, Zhang D, Cheng Z, Yan C, Jiang X, Kruger WD, et al. Hyperhomocysteinemia potentiates hyperglycemia-induced inflammatory monocyte differentiation and atherosclerosis. Diabetes. 2014;63(12):4275-90.

85. Yap S. Classical homocystinuria: Vascular risk and its prevention. Journal of inherited metabolic disease. 2003;26(2):259-65.

86. Lim U, Cassano PA. Homocysteine and blood pressure in the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988-1994. American journal of epidemiology. 2002;156(12):1105-13.

87. Friedman AN, Bostom AG, Selhub J, Levey AS, Rosenberg IH. The kidney and homocysteine metabolism. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology. 2001;12(10):21819.

88. Clarke R, Halsey J, Bennett D, Lewington S. Homocysteine and vascular disease: review of published results of the homocysteine-lowering trials. Journal of inherited metabolic disease. 2011;34(1):83-91.

89. Malinowska J, Tomczynska M, Olas B. Changes of blood platelet adhesion to collagen and fibrinogen induced by homocysteine and its thiolactone. Clinical biochemistry. 2012;45(15):1225-8.

90. Jakubowski H. Homocysteine Thiolactone: Metabolic Origin and Protein Homocysteinylation in Humans. Journal of Nutrition. 2000;130(2):377S-81S.

91. Jakubowski H. Protein homocysteinylation: possible mechanism underlying pathological consequences of elevated homocysteine levels. The FASEB Journal. 1999;13(15):2277-83.

92. Tyagi N, Kandel M, Munjal C, Qipshidze N, Vacek JC, Pushpakumar SB, et al. Homocysteine mediated decrease in bone blood flow and remodeling: role of folic acid. Journal of orthopaedic research : official publication of the Orthopaedic Research Society. 2011;29(10):1511-6.

93. Sharma M, Rai SK, Tiwari RK, Tiwari M, Chandra R. Effects of Nitric Oxide Modulators on Cardiovascular Risk Factors in

Mild Hyperhomocysteinaemic Rat Model. Basic & Clinical Pharmacology & Toxicology. 2008;103:25-30.

94. Zivkovic V, Jakovljevic V, Djordjevic D, Vuletic M, Barudzic N, Djuric D. The effects of homocysteine-related compounds on cardiac contractility, coronary flow, and oxidative stress markers in isolated rat heart. Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry. 2012;370(1-2):59-67.

95. Upchurch GR, Welch GN, Fabian AJ, Pigazzi A, Keaney JF, Loscalzo J. Stimulation of endothelial nitric oxide production by homocyst(e)ine. Atherosclerosis. 1997;132(2):177-85.

96. Ann De Groote M, Testerman T, Xu Y, Stauffer G, Fang FC. Homocysteine Antagonism of Nitric Oxide-Related Cytostasis in <strong><em>Salmonella typhimurium</em></strong>. Science (New York, NY). 1996;272(5260):414-7.

97. Kruzliak P, Sabo J, Zulli A. Endothelial endoplasmic reticulum and nitrative stress in endothelial dysfunction in the atherogenic rabbit model. Acta histochemica. 2015;117(8):762-6.

98. Dharmashankar K, Widlansky ME. Vascular endothelial function and hypertension: insights and directions. Current hypertension reports. 2010;12(6):448-55.

99. Rees DD, Palmer RM, Hodson HF, Moncada S. A specific inhibitor of nitric oxide formation from L-arginine attenuates endothelium-dependent relaxation. British journal of pharmacology. 1989;96:418-24.

100. Ren H, Mu J, Ma J, Gong J, Li J, Wang J, et al. Selenium Inhibits Homocysteine-Induced Endothelial Dysfunction and Apoptosis via Activation of AKT. Cell Physiol Biochem. 2016;38(3):871-82.

101. Rivera J, Sobey CG, Walduck AK, Drummond GR. Nox isoforms in vascular pathophysiology: insights from transgenic and knockout mouse models. Redox report : communications in free radical research. 2010;15(2):50-63.

102. Selemidis S, Sobey CG, Wingler K, Schmidt HHHW, Drummond GR. NADPH oxidases in the vasculature: Molecular features, roles in disease and pharmacological inhibition. Pharmacology & Therapeutics. 2008;120(3):254-91.

103. Shafique E, Choy WC, Liu Y, Feng J, Cordeiro B, Lyra A, et al. Oxidative stress improves coronary endothelial function through activation of the pro-survival kinase AMPK. Aging 2013;5(7):515-30.

104. Judkins CP, Diep H, Broughton BR, Mast AE, Hooker EU, Miller AA, et al. Direct evidence of a role for Nox2 in superoxide production, reduced nitric oxide bioavailability, and early atherosclerotic plaque formation in ApoE-/- mice. American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology. 2010;298(1):H24-32.

105. Gimenez M, Schickling BM, Lopes LR, Miller FJ, Jr. Nox1 in cardiovascular diseases: regulation and pathophysiology. Clinical science. 2016;130(3):151-65.

106. Sampson N, Koziel R, Zenzmaier C, Bubendorf L, Plas E, Jansen-Durr P, et al. ROS signaling by NOX4 drives fibroblast-to-myofibroblast differentiation in the diseased prostatic stroma. Mol Endocrinol. 2011;25(3):503-15.

107. Barbosa VA, Luciano TF, Marques SO, Vitto MF, Souza DR, Silva LA, et al. Acute exercise induce endothelial nitric oxide synthase phosphorylation via Akt and AMP-activated protein kinase in aorta of rats: Role of reactive oxygen species. International journal of cardiology. 2013;167(6):2983-8.

108. Silva JF, Correa IC, Diniz TF, Lima PM, Santos RL, Cortes SF, et al. Obesity, Inflammation, and Exercise Training: Relative Contribution of iNOS and eNOS in the Modulation of Vascular Function in the Mouse Aorta. Frontiers in physiology. 2016;7:386.

109. Aurora R, Hare DL, Zulli A. Simvastin Reduces Endothelial NOS: Caveolin 1 Ratio but not the Phosphorylation Status of eNOS In Vivo. Journal of Atherosclerosis and Thrombosis. 2012;19(8):705-11.

110. Bedard K, Krause KH. The NOX family of ROS-generating NADPH oxidases: physiology and pathophysiology. Physiol Rev. 2007;87(1):245-313.

111. Rochette L, Lorin J, Zeller M, Guilland J-C, Lorgis L, Cottin Y, et al. Nitric oxide synthase inhibition and oxidative stress in cardiovascular diseases: Possible therapeutic targets? Pharmacology & Therapeutics. 2013;140(3):239-57.

112. Suematsu N, Ojaimi C, Kinugawa S, Wang Z, Xu X, Koller A, et al. Hyperhomocysteinemia alters cardiac substrate metabolism by impairing nitric oxide bioavailability through oxidative stress. Circulation. 2007;115(2):255-62.

113. Förstermann U, Sessa WC. Nitric oxide synthases: regulation and function. European heart journal. 2012;33(7):829-37.

114. Schramm A, Matusik P, Osmenda G, Guzik TJ. Targeting NADPH oxidases in vascular pharmacology. Vascul Pharmacol. 2012;56(5-6):216-31.

115. Zhang C, Yi F, Xia M, Boini K, Zhu Q, Laperle LA, et al. NMDA Receptor-Mediated Activation of NADPH Oxidase and Glomerulosclerosis in Hyperhomocysteinemic Rats. Antioxidants & redox signaling. 2010;13(7):975-86.

116. Yi F, Zhang AY, Janscha JL, Li PL, Zou AP. Homocysteine activates NADH/NADPH oxidase through

ceramide-stimulated Rac GTPase activity in rat mesangial cells. Kidney International. 2004;66:1977-87.

117. Edirimanne VE, Woo CW, Siow YL, Pierce GN, Xie JY, O K. Homocysteine stimulates NADPH oxidase-mediated superoxide production leading to endothelial dysfunction in rats. Canadian journal of physiology and pharmacology. 2007;85(12):1236-47. 118. Bao X-M, Wu C-F, Lu G-P. Atorvastatin inhibits homocysteine-induced oxidative stress and apoptosis in endothelial progenitor cells involving Nox4 and p38MAPK. Atherosclerosis. 2010;210(1):114-21.

119. Kassab A, Piwowar A. Cell oxidant stress delivery and cell dysfunction onset in type 2 diabetes. Biochimie. 2012;94(9):1837-48.

120. Abais J, Zhang C, Xia M, Liu Q, Gehr T, Boini K, et al. NADPH Oxidase-Mediated Triggering of Inflammasome Activation in Mouse Podocytes and Glomeruli During Hyperhomocysteinemia. Antioxidants & redox signaling. 2013;18(13):1537–48.

121. Au-Yeung KKW, Woo CWH, Sung FL, Yip JCW, Siow YL, O K. Hyperhomocysteinemia Activates Nuclear Factor-κB in Endothelial Cells via Oxidative Stress. Circulation Research. 2004;94(1):28-36.

122. Pettigrew LC, Bang H, Chambless LE, Howard VJ, Toole JF, Vitamin Intervention for Stroke Prevention I. Assessment of pre- and post-methionine load homocysteine for prediction of recurrent stroke and coronary artery disease in the Vitamin Intervention for Stroke Prevention Trial. Atherosclerosis. 2008;200(2):345-9. 123. Ray KK, Kastelein JJ, Matthijs Boekholdt S, Nicholls SJ, Khaw KT, Ballantyne CM, et al. The ACC/AHA 2013 guideline on the treatment of blood cholesterol to reduce atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease risk in adults: the good the bad and the uncertain: a comparison with ESC/EAS guidelines for the management of dyslipidaemias 2011. European heart journal. 2014;35(15):960-8.

124. Stancu C, Sima A. Statins: mechanism of action and effects. Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine. 2001;5(4):378-87.

125. Magalhaes A, Matias I, Palmela I, Brito MA, Dias S. LDL-Cholesterol Increases the Transcytosis of Molecules through Endothelial Monolayers. PloS one. 2016;11(10):e0163988.
126. Debreceni B, Debreceni L. The role of homocysteine-lowering B-vitamins in the primary prevention of cardiovascular disease. Cardiovascular therapeutics. 2014;32(3):130-8.

127. Taylor F, Ward K, Moore T, Burke M, Davey Smith G, Casas J, et al. Statins for the primary prevention of cardiovascular disease. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2011(1):1-38.

128. Taylor F, Huffman M, Macedo A, Moore T, Burke M, Davey Smith G, et al. Statins for the primary prevention of cardiovascular disease. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2013(1):1-97.

129. Mikael LG, Rozen R. Homocysteine modulates the effect of simvastatin on expression of ApoA-I and NF-κB/iNOS. Cardiovascular research. 2008;80(1):151-8.

130. Kahles T, Brandes RP. NADPH oxidases as therapeutic targets in ischemic stroke. Cellular and molecular life sciences : CMLS. 2012;69(14):2345-63.

131. Dvoriantchikova G, Grant J, Santos AR, Hernandez E, Ivanov D. Neuronal NAD(P)H oxidases contribute to ROS production and mediate RGC death after ischemia. Investigative ophthalmology & visual science. 2012;53(6):2823-30.

132. Drummond GR, Selemidis S, Griendling KK, Sobey CG. Combating oxidative stress in vascular disease: NADPH oxidases as therapeutic targets. Nature reviews Drug discovery. 2011;10(6):453-71.

133. Rey FE, Cifuentes ME, Kiarash A, Quinn MT, Pagano PJ. Novel Competitive Inhibitor of NAD(P)H Oxidase Assembly Attenuates Vascular O2- and Systolic Blood Pressure in Mice. Circulation Research. 2001;89(5):408-14.

134. Meyer MR, Fredette NC, Barton M, Prossnitz ER. Endothelin-1 but not angiotensin II contributes to functional aging in murine carotid arteries. Life sciences. 2014.

135. Heumuller S, Wind S, Barbosa-Sicard E, Schmidt HH, Busse R, Schroder K, et al. Apocynin is not an inhibitor of vascular NADPH oxidases but an antioxidant. Hypertension. 2008;51(2):211-7.

136. Drummond GR, Sobey CG. Endothelial NADPH oxidases: which NOX to target in vascular disease? Trends in endocrinology and metabolism: TEM. 2014;25(9):452-63.

137. Kelly KA, Li X, Tan Z, VanGilder RL, Rosen CL, Huber JD. NOX2 inhibition with apocynin worsens stroke outcome in aged rats. Brain research. 2009;1292:165-72.

138. Dayal S, Wilson KM, Motto DG, Miller FJ, Jr., Chauhan AK, Lentz SR. Hydrogen peroxide promotes aging-related platelet hyperactivation and thrombosis. Circulation. 2013;127(12):1308-16.

139. Zhang J, Chandrashekar K, Lu Y, Duan Y, Qu P, Wei J, et al. Enhanced expression and activity of Nox2 and Nox4 in the macula densa in ANG II-induced hypertensive mice. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol. 2014;306(3):F344-50.

140. Hu L, Zhang Y, Lim PS, Miao Y, Tan C, McKenzie KU, et al. Apocynin but not Larginine prevents and reverses dexamethasone-induced hypertension in the rat. American journal of hypertension. 2006;19(4):413-8. 141. Baumer AT, Kruger CA, Falkenberg J, Freyhaus HT, Rosen R, Fink K, et al. The NAD(P)H oxidase inhibitor apocynin improves endothelial NO/superoxide balance and lowers effectively blood pressure in spontaneously hypertensive rats: comparison to calcium channel blockade. Clinical and experimental hypertension. 2007;29(5):287-99.

142. Kigawa Y, Miyazaki T, Lei XF, Nakamachi T, Oguchi T, Kim-Kaneyama JR, et al. NADPH oxidase deficiency exacerbates angiotensin II-induced abdominal aortic aneurysms in mice. Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology. 2014;34(11):2413-20.

143. Douglas G, Bendall JK, Crabtree MJ, Tatham AL, Carter EE, Hale AB, et al. Endothelial-specific Nox2 overexpression increases vascular superoxide and macrophage recruitment in ApoE(-)/(-) mice. Cardiovascular research. 2012;94(1):20-9.

144. Jo H, Luo HR. Exploiting effectors of Rac GTPase. Chemistry & biology. 2012;19(2):169-71.

145. Bosco EE, Kumar S, Marchioni F, Biesiada J, Kordos M, Szczur K, et al. Rational design of small molecule inhibitors targeting the Rac GTPase-p67(phox) signaling axis in inflammation. Chemistry & biology. 2012;19(2):228-42.

146. Akbar H, Duan X, Piatt R, Saleem S, Davis AK, Tandon NN, et al. Small molecule targeting the Rac1-NOX2 interaction prevents collagen-related peptide and thrombin induced reactive oxygen species generation and platelet activation. Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis. 2018.

147. Karabag T, Kaya A, Temizhan A, Koç F, Yavuz S, Çam S. The influence of homocysteine levels on endothelial function and their relation with microvascular complications in T2DM patients without macrovascular disease. Acta Diabetologica. 2007;44(2):69-75.

148. Vinet A, Obert P, Courteix D, Chapier R, Lesourd B, Verney J, et al. Different modalities of exercise improve macrovascular function but not microvascular function in

metabolic syndrome: The RESOLVE randomized trial. International journal of cardiology. 2018;267:165-70.

149. Green DJ, Maiorana A, O'Driscoll G, Taylor R. Effect of exercise training on endothelium-derived nitric oxide function in humans. The Journal of Physiology. 2004;561(Pt 1):1-25.

150. Olver TD, Laughlin MH. Endurance, interval sprint, and resistance exercise training: impact on microvascular dysfunction in type 2 diabetes. American Journal of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology. 2016;310(3):H337-H50.

151. Caballero AE, Arora S, Saouaf R, Lim SC, Smakowski P, Park JY, et al. Microvascular and macrovascular reactivity is reduced in subjects at risk for type 2 diabetes. Diabetes. 1999;48(9):1856-62.

152. Nisimoto Y, Diebold BA, Constentino-Gomes D, Lambeth JD. Nox4: a hydrogen peroxide-generating oxygen sensor. Biochemistry. 2014;53(31):5111-20.

153. Gray SP, Jha JC, Kennedy K, van Bommel E, Chew P, Szyndralewiez C, et al. Combined NOX1/4 inhibition with GKT137831 in mice provides dose-dependent reno- and atheroprotection even in established micro- and macrovascular disease. Diabetologia. 2017;60(5):927-37.

154. Sampson N, Brunner E, Weber A, Puhr M, Schäfer G, Szyndralewiez C, et al. Inhibition of Nox4-dependent ROS signaling attenuates prostate fibroblast activation and abrogates stromal-mediated protumorigenic interactions. International journal of cancer. 2018;143(2):383-95.

155. Gorin Y, Cavaglieri RC, Khazim K, Lee D-Y, Bruno F, Thakur S, et al. Targeting NADPH oxidase with a novel dual Nox1/Nox4 inhibitor attenuates renal pathology in type 1 diabetes. American Journal of Physiology - Renal Physiology. 2015;308(11):F1276-F87.

156. Lu W, Kang J, Hu K, Tang S, Zhou X, Xu L, et al. The role of the Nox4-derived ROSmediated RhoA/Rho kinase pathway in rat hypertension induced by chronic intermittent hypoxia. Sleep & breathing = Schlaf & Atmung. 2017;21(3):667-77.

157. Appukuttan B, Ma Y, Stempel A, Ashander LM, Deliyanti D, Wilkinson-Berka JL, et al. Effect of NADPH oxidase 1 and 4 blockade in activated human retinal endothelial cells. Clinical & Experimental Ophthalmology. 2018;46(6):652-60.

158. Depre C, Havaux X, Renkin J, Vanoverschelde JLJ, Wijns W. Expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase in human coronary atherosclerotic plaque. Cardiovascular research. 1999;41(2):465-72.

159. Ponnuswamy P, Ostermeier E, Schrottle A, Chen J, Huang PL, Ertl G, et al. Oxidative stress and compartment of gene expression determine proatherosclerotic effects of inducible nitric oxide synthase. Am J Pathol. 2009;174(6):2400-10.

160. Pacher P, Beckman JS, Liaudet L. Nitric Oxide and Peroxynitrite in Health and Disease.Physiol Rev. 2007;87(1):315-424.

161. Bendall JK, Douglas G, McNeill E, Channon KM, Crabtree MJ. Tetrahydrobiopterin in cardiovascular health and disease. Antioxidants & redox signaling. 2014;20(18):3040-77.

### References

### Uncategorized References

Abais, J, Zhang, C, Xia, M, Liu, Q, Gehr, T, Boini, K & Li, P 2013, 'NADPH Oxidase-Mediated Triggering of Inflammasome Activation in Mouse Podocytes and Glomeruli During Hyperhomocysteinemia', *Antioxid Redox Signal*, vol. 18, no. 13, pp. 1537–48.

Abeyrathna, P & Su, Y 2015, 'The critical role of Akt in cardiovascular function', *Vascular Pharmacology*, vol. 74, pp. 38-48.

Abid, MR, Spokes, KC, Shih, SC & Aird, WC 2007, 'NADPH Oxidase Activity Selectively Modulates Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Signaling Pathways', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 282, no. 48, pp. 35373-85.

Ahmad, M, Kelly, MR, Zhao, X, Kandhi, S & Wolin, MS 2010, 'Roles for Nox4 in the contractile response of bovine pulmonary arteries to hypoxia', *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, vol. 298, no. 6, pp. H1879-88.

Akbar, H, Duan, X, Piatt, R, Saleem, S, Davis, AK, Tandon, NN, Bergmeier, W & Zheng, Y 2018, 'Small molecule targeting the Rac1-NOX2 interaction prevents collagen-related peptide and thrombin induced reactive oxygen species generation and platelet activation', *Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis*.

Albrecht, SC, Barata, AG, Grosshans, J, Teleman, AA & Dick, TP 2011, 'In vivo mapping of hydrogen peroxide and oxidized glutathione reveals chemical and regional specificity of redox homeostasis', *Cell Metab*, vol. 14, no. 6, pp. 819-29.

Altenhofer, S, Kleikers, PW, Radermacher, KA, Scheurer, P, Rob Hermans, JJ, Schiffers, P, Ho, H, Wingler, K & Schmidt, HH 2012, 'The NOX toolbox: validating the role of NADPH oxidases in physiology and disease', *Cell Mol Life Sci*, vol. 69, no. 14, pp. 2327-43.

Amato, M, Veglia, F, de Faire, U, Giral, P, Rauramaa, R, Smit, AJ, Kurl, S, Ravani, A, Frigerio, B, Sansaro, D, Bonomi, A, Tedesco, CC, Castelnuovo, S, Mannarino, E, Humphries, SE, Hamsten, A, Tremoli, E & Baldassarre, D 2017, 'Carotid plaque-thickness and common carotid IMT show additive value in cardiovascular risk prediction and reclassification', *Atherosclerosis*, vol. 263, pp. 412-9.

Andreou, I, Antoniadis, AP, Shishido, K, Papafaklis, MI, Koskinas, KC, Chatzizisis, YS, Coskun, AU, Edelman, ER, Feldman, CL & Stone, PH 2015, 'How do we prevent the vulnerable atherosclerotic plaque from rupturing? Insights from in vivo assessments of plaque,

vascular remodeling, and local endothelial shear stress', *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther*, vol. 20, no. 3, pp. 261-75.

Ann De Groote, M, Testerman, T, Xu, Y, Stauffer, G & Fang, FC 1996, 'Homocysteine Antagonism of Nitric Oxide-Related Cytostasis in <strong><em>Salmonella typhimurium</em></strong>', *Science*, vol. 272, no. 5260, pp. 414-7.

Ansari, R, Mahta, A, Mallack, E & Luo, JJ 2014, 'Hyperhomocysteinemia and neurologic disorders: a review', *J Clin Neurol*, vol. 10, no. 4, pp. 281-8.

Appukuttan, B, Ma, Y, Stempel, A, Ashander, LM, Deliyanti, D, Wilkinson-Berka, JL & Smith, JR 2018, 'Effect of NADPH oxidase 1 and 4 blockade in activated human retinal endothelial cells', *Clinical & Experimental Ophthalmology*, vol. 46, no. 6, pp. 652-60.

Arora, R, Hare, DL & Zulli, A 2012, 'Simvastin Reduces Endothelial NOS: Caveolin-1 Ratio but not the Phosphorylation Status of eNOS *In Vivo*', *Journal of Atherosclerosis and Thrombosis*, vol. 19, no. 8, pp. 705-11.

Au-Yeung, KKW, Woo, CWH, Sung, FL, Yip, JCW, Siow, YL & O, K 2004, 'Hyperhomocysteinemia Activates Nuclear Factor-κB in Endothelial Cells via Oxidative Stress', *Circulation Research*, vol. 94, no. 1, pp. 28-36.

Aurora, R, Hare, DL & Zulli, A 2012, 'Simvastin Reduces Endothelial NOS: Caveolin 1 Ratio but not the Phosphorylation Status of eNOS In Vivo', Journal of Atherosclerosis and Thrombosis, vol. 19, no. 8, pp. 705-11.

Baer, DJ, Rice Bradley, BH, Kris-Etherton, P, Mente, A & de Oliveira Otto, M 2014, 'Insights and perspectives on dietary modifications to reduce the risk of cardiovascular disease', *Adv Nutr*, vol. 5, no. 5, pp. 553-5.

Balligand, JL, Feron, O & Dessy, C 2009, 'eNOS Activation by Physical Forces: From Short-Term Regulation of Contraction to Chronic Remodeling of Cardiovascular Tissues', *Physiological Reviews*, vol. 89, no. 2, p. 481.

Bao, X-M, Wu, C-F & Lu, G-P 2010, 'Atorvastatin inhibits homocysteine-induced oxidative stress and apoptosis in endothelial progenitor cells involving Nox4 and p38MAPK', *Atherosclerosis*, vol. 210, no. 1, pp. 114-21.

Bao, XM, Wu, CF & Lu, GP 2010, 'Atorvastatin inhibits homocysteine-induced dysfunction and apoptosis in endothelial progenitor cells', *Acta Pharmacol Sin*, vol. 31, no. 4, pp. 476-84.

Barbosa, VA, Luciano, TF, Marques, SO, Vitto, MF, Souza, DR, Silva, LA, Santos, JP, Moreira, JC, Dal-Pizzol, F, Lira, FS, Pinho, RA & De Souza, CT 2013, 'Acute exercise induce endothelial nitric oxide synthase phosphorylation via Akt and AMP-activated protein kinase in aorta of rats: Role of reactive oxygen species', *Int J Cardiol*, vol. 167, no. 6, pp. 2983-8.

Baumer, AT, Kruger, CA, Falkenberg, J, Freyhaus, HT, Rosen, R, Fink, K & Rosenkranz, S 2007, 'The NAD(P)H oxidase inhibitor apocynin improves endothelial NO/superoxide balance and lowers effectively blood pressure in spontaneously hypertensive rats: comparison to calcium channel blockade', *Clin Exp Hypertens*, vol. 29, no. 5, pp. 287-99.

Bays, H 2014, 'Adiposopathy, "Sick Fat," Ockham's Razor, and Resolution of the Obesity Paradox', *Curr Atheroscler Rep*, vol. 16, no. 5, p. 409.

Beard, RS, Jr., Reynolds, JJ & Bearden, SE 2012, 'Metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 mediates phosphorylation of vascular endothelial cadherin and nuclear localization of beta-catenin in response to homocysteine', *Vascul Pharmacol*, vol. 56, no. 3-4, pp. 159-67.

Becker, JS, Adler, A, Schneeberger, A, Huang, H, Wang, Z, Walsh, E, Koller, A & Hintze, TH 2005, 'Hyperhomocysteinemia, a cardiac metabolic disease: role of nitric oxide and the p22phox subunit of NADPH oxidase', *Circulation*, vol. 111, no. 16, pp. 2112-8.

Beckett, RD, Schepers, SM & Gordon, SK 2015, 'Risk of new-onset diabetes associated with statin use', *SAGE Open Medicine*, vol. 3, no. 0.

Bedard, K & Krause, KH 2007a, 'The NOX family of ROS-generating NADPH oxidases: physiology and pathophysiology', *Physiol Rev*, vol. 87, no. 1, pp. 245-313.

— 2007b, 'The NOX Family of ROS-Generating NADPH Oxidases: Physiology and Pathophysiology', *Physiological Reviews*, vol. 87, no. 1, pp. 245-313.

Beilby, J & Rossi, E 'Broadsheet number 58: homocysteine and disease', *Pathology*, vol. 32, no. 4, pp. 262-73.

Beilby, J & Rossi, E 2000, 'Number 58: homocysteine and disease', *Pathology*, vol. 32, no. 4, pp. 262-73.

Bendall, JK, Cave, AC, Heymes, C, Gall, N & Shah, AM 2002, 'Pivotal role of a gp91(phox)containing NADPH oxidase in angiotensin II-induced cardiac hypertrophy in mice', *Circulation*, vol. 105, no. 3, pp. 293-6. Bendall, JK, Douglas, G, McNeill, E, Channon, KM & Crabtree, MJ 2014, 'Tetrahydrobiopterin in cardiovascular health and disease', *Antioxid Redox Signal*, vol. 20, no. 18, pp. 3040-77.

Bergmiller, T, Ackermann, M & Silander, OK 2012, 'Patterns of Evolutionary Conservation of Essential Genes Correlate with Their Compensability', *PLoS Genetics*, vol. 8, no. 6, p. e1002803.

Bild, DE, McClelland, R, Kaufman, JD, Blumenthal, R, Burke, GL, Carr, JJ, Post, WS, Register, TC, Shea, S & Szklo, M 2014, 'Ten-Year Trends in Coronary Calcification in Individuals without Clinical Cardiovascular Disease in the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis', *PLoS One*, vol. 9, no. 4, p. e94916.

Bosco, EE, Kumar, S, Marchioni, F, Biesiada, J, Kordos, M, Szczur, K, Meller, J, Seibel, W, Mizrahi, A, Pick, E, Filippi, MD & Zheng, Y 2012, 'Rational design of small molecule inhibitors targeting the Rac GTPase-p67(phox) signaling axis in inflammation', *Chem Biol*, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 228-42.

Bowen, KJ, Sullivan, VK, Kris-Etherton, PM & Petersen, KS 2018, 'Nutrition and Cardiovascular Disease-an Update', *Curr Atheroscler Rep*, vol. 20, no. 2, p. 8.

Bowles, DK & Laughlin, MH 2011, 'Mechanism of beneficial effects of physical activity on atherosclerosis and coronary heart disease', *J Appl Physiol (1985)*, vol. 111, no. 1, pp. 308-10.

Bravo, E, Palleschi, S, Rossi, B, Napolitano, M, Tiano, L, D'Amore, E & Botham, KM 2012, 'Coenzyme Q metabolism is disturbed in high fat diet-induced non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in rats', *Int J Mol Sci*, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 1644-57.

Breton-Romero, R & Lamas, S 2014, 'Hydrogen peroxide signaling in vascular endothelial cells', *Redox Biol*, vol. 2, pp. 529-34.

Brown SJ, Gianni D, Bokoch G, Mercer BA, Hodder P & HR., R 2010, 'Probe Reports from the NIH Molecular Libraries Program [Internet]', *Bethesda, MD: National Center for Biotechnology Information*.

Burgoyne, JR, Oka, S, Ale-Agha, N & Eaton, P 2013, 'Hydrogen peroxide sensing and signaling by protein kinases in the cardiovascular system', *Antioxid Redox Signal*, vol. 18, no. 9, pp. 1042-52.

Burke, AP, Kolodgie, FD, Farb, A, Weber, DK, Malcom, GT, Smialek, J & Virmani, R 2001, 'Healed Plaque Ruptures and Sudden Coronary Death', *Evidence That Subclinical Rupture Has a Role in Plaque Progression*, vol. 103, no. 7, pp. 934-40.

Caballero, AE, Arora, S, Saouaf, R, Lim, SC, Smakowski, P, Park, JY, King, GL, LoGerfo, FW, Horton, ES & Veves, A 1999, 'Microvascular and macrovascular reactivity is reduced in subjects at risk for type 2 diabetes', *Diabetes*, vol. 48, no. 9, pp. 1856-62.

CADTH 2014, 'CADTH Rapid Response Reports', in *Lifestyle Prescriptions: A Review of the Clinical Evidence*, Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health

Copyright (c) 2014 Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health., Ottawa (ON).

Cai, H & Harrison, DG 2000, 'Endothelial dysfunction in cardiovascular diseases: the role of oxidant stress', *Circ Res*, vol. 87, no. 10, pp. 840-4.

Cai, WX, Liang, L, Wang, L, Han, JT, Zhu, XX, Han, H, Hu, DH & Zhang, P 2014, 'Inhibition of Notch signaling leads to increased intracellular ROS by up-regulating Nox4 expression in primary HUVECs', *Cell Immunol*, vol. 287, no. 2, pp. 129-35.

Cannizzo, B, Lujan, A, Estrella, N, Lembo, C, Cruzado, M & Castro, C 2012, 'Insulin resistance promotes early atherosclerosis via increased proinflammatory proteins and oxidative stress in fructose-fed ApoE-KO mice', *Exp Diabetes Res*, vol. 2012, p. 941304.

Carluccio, MA, Ancora, MA, Massaro, M, Carluccio, M, Scoditti, E, Distante, A, Storelli, C & De Caterina, R 2007, 'Homocysteine induces VCAM-1 gene expression through NF- B and NAD(P)H oxidase activation: protective role of Mediterranean diet polyphenolic antioxidants', *AJP: Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, vol. 293, no. 4, pp. H2344-H54.

Carmel, R, Melnyk, S & James, SJ 2003, 'Cobalamin deficiency with and without neurologic abnormalities: differences in homocysteine and methionine metabolism', *Blood*, vol. 101, no. 8, pp. 3302-8.

Carson, NAJ & Neill, DW 1962, 'Metabolic Abnormalities Detected in a Survey of Mentally Backward Individuals in Northern Ireland', *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, vol. 37, no. 195, pp. 505-13.

Castro, R, Rivera, I, Blom, HJ, Jakobs, C & Tavares de Almeida, I 2006, 'Homocysteine metabolism, hyperhomocysteinaemia and vascular disease: an overview', *J Inherit Metab Dis*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 3-20.

Chen, F, Wang, Y, Barman, S & Fulton, DJR 2015, 'Enzymatic regulation and functional relevance of NOX5', *Current pharmaceutical design*, vol. 21, no. 41, pp. 5999-6008.

Clarke, R, Bennett, D, Parish, S, Lewington, S, Skeaff, M, Eussen, SJPM, Lewerin, C, Stott, DJ, Armitage, J, Hankey, GJ, Lonn, E, Spence, JD, Galan, P, de Groot, LC, Halsey, J, Dangour,
AD, Collins, R, Grodstein, F & on behalf of the, BVTTC 2014, 'Effects of homocysteine lowering with B vitamins on cognitive aging: meta-analysis of 11 trials with cognitive data on 22,000 individuals', *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, vol. 100, no. 2, pp. 657-66.

Clarke, R, Halsey, J, Bennett, D & Lewington, S 2011, 'Homocysteine and vascular disease: review of published results of the homocysteine-lowering trials', *J Inherit Metab Dis*, vol. 34, no. 1, pp. 83-91.

Coppieters, KT & von Herrath, MG 2014, 'Metabolic syndrome - Removing roadblocks to therapy: Antigenic immunotherapies', *Mol Metab*, vol. 3, no. 3, pp. 275-83.

Crucet, M, Wust, SJ, Spielmann, P, Luscher, TF, Wenger, RH & Matter, CM 2013, 'Hypoxia enhances lipid uptake in macrophages: role of the scavenger receptors Lox1, SRA, and CD36', *Atherosclerosis*, vol. 229, no. 1, pp. 110-7.

D'Alessio, FR, Tsushima, K, Aggarwal, NR, Mock, JR, Eto, Y, Garibaldi, BT, Files, DC, Avalos, CR, Rodriguez, JV, Waickman, AT, Reddy, SP, Pearse, DB, Sidhaye, VK, Hassoun, PM, Crow, MT & King, LS 2012, 'Resolution of experimental lung injury by monocyte-derived inducible nitric oxide synthase', *J Immunol*, vol. 189, no. 5, pp. 2234-45.

d'Uscio, LV, Das, P, Santhanam, AV, He, T, Younkin, SG & Katusic, ZS 2012, 'Activation of PPARdelta prevents endothelial dysfunction induced by overexpression of amyloid-beta precursor protein', *Cardiovasc Res*, vol. 96, no. 3, pp. 504-12.

da Silva, TF, Eira, J, Lopes, AT, Malheiro, AR, Sousa, V, Luoma, A, Avila, RL, Wanders, RJA, Just, WW, Kirschner, DA, Sousa, MM & Brites, P 2014, 'Peripheral nervous system plasmalogens regulate Schwann cell differentiation and myelination', *J Clin Invest*, vol. 124, no. 6, pp. 2560-70.

Dangour, AD, Breeze, E, Clarke, R, Shetty, PS, Uauy, R & Fletcher, AE 2008, 'Plasma Homocysteine, but Not Folate or Vitamin B-12, Predicts Mortality in Older People in the United Kingdom', *J Nutr*, vol. 138, no. 6, pp. 1121-8.

Dayal, S, Blokhin, IO, Erger, RA, Jensen, M, Arning, E, Stevens, JW, Bottiglieri, T, Faraci, FM & Lentz, SR 2014, 'Protective vascular and cardiac effects of inducible nitric oxide synthase in mice with hyperhomocysteinemia', *PLoS One*, vol. 9, no. 9, p. e107734.

Dayal, S, Wilson, KM, Motto, DG, Miller, FJ, Jr., Chauhan, AK & Lentz, SR 2013, 'Hydrogen peroxide promotes aging-related platelet hyperactivation and thrombosis', *Circulation*, vol. 127, no. 12, pp. 1308-16.

Debreceni, B & Debreceni, L 2012, 'Why Do Homocysteine-Lowering B Vitamin and Antioxidant E Vitamin Supplementations Appear To Be Ineffective in the Prevention of Cardiovascular Diseases?', *Cardiovasc Ther*, vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 227-33.

Debreceni, B & Debreceni, L 2014, 'The role of homocysteine-lowering B-vitamins in the primary prevention of cardiovascular disease', *Cardiovasc Ther*, vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 130-8.

Dehmer, SP, Maciosek, MV, LaFrance, AB & Flottemesch, TJ 2017, 'Health Benefits and Cost-Effectiveness of Asymptomatic Screening for Hypertension and High Cholesterol and Aspirin Counseling for Primary Prevention', *Ann Fam Med*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 23-36.

Demirci, B, McKeown, PP & Bayraktutan Dvm, U 2008, 'The bimodal regulation of vascular function by superoxide anion: role of endothelium', *BMB Reports*, vol. 41, no. 3, pp. 223-9.

Deng, B, Xie, S, Wang, J, Xia, Z & Nie, R 2012, 'Inhibition of protein kinase C beta(2) prevents tumor necrosis factor-alpha-induced apoptosis and oxidative stress in endothelial cells: the role of NADPH oxidase subunits', *J Vasc Res*, vol. 49, no. 2, pp. 144-59.

Depre, C, Havaux, X, Renkin, J, Vanoverschelde, JLJ & Wijns, W 1999, 'Expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase in human coronary atherosclerotic plaque', *Cardiovasc Res*, vol. 41, no. 2, pp. 465-72.

Dharmashankar, K & Widlansky, ME 2010, 'Vascular endothelial function and hypertension: insights and directions', *Curr Hypertens Rep*, vol. 12, no. 6, pp. 448-55.

Douglas, G, Bendall, JK, Crabtree, MJ, Tatham, AL, Carter, EE, Hale, AB & Channon, KM 2012, 'Endothelial-specific Nox2 overexpression increases vascular superoxide and macrophage recruitment in ApoE(-)/(-) mice', *Cardiovasc Res*, vol. 94, no. 1, pp. 20-9.

Downs, CA & Helms, MN 2013, 'Regulation of ion transport by oxidants', *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*, vol. 305, no. 9, pp. L595-603.

Doyle, JT, Heslin, AS, Hilleboe, HE, Formel, PF & Korns, RF 1957, 'III. A Prospective Study of Degenerative Cardiovascular Disease in Albany: Report of Three Years' Experience—1. Ischemic Heart Disease', *American Journal of Public Health and the Nations Health*, vol. 47, no. 4\_Pt\_2, pp. 25-32.

Drummond, GR, Selemidis, S, Griendling, KK & Sobey, CG 2011, 'Combating oxidative stress in vascular disease: NADPH oxidases as therapeutic targets', *Nat Rev Drug Discov*, vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 453-71.

Drummond, GR & Sobey, CG 2014, 'Endothelial NADPH oxidases: which NOX to target in vascular disease?', *Trends Endocrinol Metab*, vol. 25, no. 9, pp. 452-63.

Dvoriantchikova, G, Grant, J, Santos, AR, Hernandez, E & Ivanov, D 2012, 'Neuronal NAD(P)H oxidases contribute to ROS production and mediate RGC death after ischemia', *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, vol. 53, no. 6, pp. 2823-30.

Ebbing, M, Bonaa, KH, Arnesen, E, Ueland, PM, Nordrehaug, JE, Rasmussen, K, Njolstad, I, Nilsen, DW, Refsum, H, Tverdal, A, Vollset, SE, Schirmer, H, Bleie, O, Steigen, T, Midttun, O, Fredriksen, A, Pedersen, ER & Nygard, O 2010, 'Combined analyses and extended followup of two randomized controlled homocysteine-lowering B-vitamin trials', *J Intern Med*, vol. 268, no. 4, pp. 367-82.

Edirimanne, VE, Woo, CW, Siow, YL, Pierce, GN, Xie, JY & O, K 2007, 'Homocysteine stimulates NADPH oxidase-mediated superoxide production leading to endothelial dysfunction in rats', *Can J Physiol Pharmacol*, vol. 85, no. 12, pp. 1236-47.

Eijsvogels, TMH, Molossi, S, Lee, D-c, Emery, MS & Thompson, PD 2016, 'Exercise at the Extremes: The Amount of Exercise to Reduce Cardiovascular Events', *J Am Coll Cardiol*, vol. 67, no. 3, pp. 316-29.

Eilat-Adar, S, Sinai, T, Yosefy, C & Henkin, Y 2013, 'Nutritional recommendations for cardiovascular disease prevention', *Nutrients*, vol. 5, no. 9, pp. 3646-83.

El Assar, M, Ruiz de Adana, JC, Angulo, J, Pindado Martinez, ML, Hernandez Matias, A & Rodriguez-Manas, L 2013, 'Preserved endothelial function in human obesity in the absence of insulin resistance', *J Transl Med*, vol. 11, p. 263.

Epstein, FH 1996, 'Cardiovascular Disease Epidemiology', A Journey From the Past Into the Future, vol. 93, no. 9, pp. 1755-64.

Erol, A, Cinar, MG, Can, C, Olukman, M, Ulker, S & Kosay, S 2007, 'Effect of homocysteine on nitric oxide production in coronary microvascular endothelial cells', *Endothelium*, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 157-61.

Esberg, LB & Ren, J 2004, 'The oxygen radical generator pyrogallol impairs cardiomyocyte contractile function via a superoxide and p38 MAP kinase-dependent pathway: protection by anisodamine and tetramethylpyrazine', *Cardiovasc Toxicol*, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 375-84.

Estruch, R, Martinez-Gonzalez, MA, Corella, D, Salas-Salvado, J, Fito, M, Chiva-Blanch, G, Fiol, M, Gomez-Gracia, E, Aros, F, Lapetra, J, Serra-Majem, L, Pinto, X, Buil-Cosiales, P, Sorli, JV, Munoz, MA, Basora-Gallisa, J, Lamuela-Raventos, RM, Serra-Mir, M & Ros, E 2016, 'Effect of a high-fat Mediterranean diet on bodyweight and waist circumference: a

prespecified secondary outcomes analysis of the PREDIMED randomised controlled trial', *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol*, vol. 4, no. 8, pp. 666-76.

Evans, M, Rumberger, JA, Azumano, I, Napolitano, JJ, Citrolo, D & Kamiya, T 2014, 'Pantethine, a derivative of vitamin B5, favorably alters total, LDL and non-HDL cholesterol in low to moderate cardiovascular risk subjects eligible for statin therapy: a triple-blinded placebo and diet-controlled investigation', *Vasc Health Risk Manag*, vol. 10, pp. 89-100.

Fang, P, Zhang, D, Cheng, Z, Yan, C, Jiang, X, Kruger, WD, Meng, S, Arning, E, Bottiglieri, T, Choi, ET, Han, Y, Yang, XF & Wang, H 2014, 'Hyperhomocysteinemia potentiates hyperglycemia-induced inflammatory monocyte differentiation and atherosclerosis', *Diabetes*, vol. 63, no. 12, pp. 4275-90.

Feletou, M, Kohler, R & Vanhoutte, PM 2010, 'Endothelium-derived vasoactive factors and hypertension: possible roles in pathogenesis and as treatment targets', *Curr Hypertens Rep*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 267-75.

Feng, C & Tollin, G 2009, 'Regulation of Interdomain Electron Transfer in the NOS Output State for NO Production', *Dalton transactions (Cambridge, England : 2003)*, no. 34, pp. 6692-700.

'Final Report on the Safety Assessment of Pyrogallol', 1991, *Journal of the American College of Toxicology*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 67-85.

Flueckiger, P, Qureshi, W, Michos, ED, Blaha, M, Burke, G, Sandfort, V, Herrington, D & Yeboah, J 2016, 'Guideline-based statin/lipid-lowering therapy eligibility for primary prevention and accuracy of coronary artery calcium and clinical cardiovascular events: The Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA)', *Clin Cardiol*.

Förstermann, U & Sessa, WC 2012, 'Nitric oxide synthases: regulation and function', *Eur Heart J*, vol. 33, no. 7, pp. 829-37.

Friedman, AN, Bostom, AG, Selhub, J, Levey, AS & Rosenberg, IH 2001, 'The kidney and homocysteine metabolism', *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, vol. 12, no. 10, pp. 2181-9.

Frosst, P, Blom, HJ, Milos, R, Goyette, P, Sheppard, CA, Matthews, RG, Boers, GJH, den Heijer, M, Kluijtmans, LAJ, van den Heuve, LP & Rozen, R 1995, 'A candidate genetic risk factor for vascular disease: a common mutation in methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase', *Nature Genetics*, vol. 10, p. 111.

Fulton, DJR 2009, 'Nox5 and the Regulation of Cellular Function', *Antioxid Redox Signal*, vol. 11, no. 10, pp. 2443-52.

Gao, X, Yao, M, McCrory, MA, Ma, G, Li, Y, Roberts, SB & Tucker, KL 2003, 'Dietary Pattern Is Associated with Homocysteine and B Vitamin Status in an Urban Chinese Population', *J Nutr*, vol. 133, no. 11, pp. 3636-42.

Garvey, EP, Oplinger, JA, Furfine, ES, Kiff, RJ, Laszlo, F, Whittle, BJR & Knowles, RG 1997, '1400W Is a Slow, Tight Binding, and Highly Selective Inhibitor of Inducible Nitric-oxide Synthase in Vitro and in Vivo', *J Biol Chem*, vol. 272, no. 8, pp. 4959-63.

Gauthier, KM, Goldman, DH, Aggarwal, NT, Chawengsub, Y, Falck, JR & Campbell, WB 2011, 'Role of arachidonic acid lipoxygenase metabolites in acetylcholine-induced relaxations of mouse arteries', *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, vol. 300, no. 3, pp. H725-H35.

Gerritsen, T & Waisman, HA 1964, 'HOMOCYSTINURIA, AN ERROR IN THE METABOLISM OF METHIONINE', *Pediatrics*, vol. 33, pp. 413-20.

Gheissari, A, Meamar, R, Abedini, A, Roomizadeh, P, Shafiei, M, Samaninobandegani, Z, Tabrizi, Z, Mahmoudi, F, Merrikhi, A & Najafi Tavana, E 2018, 'Association of Matrix Metalloproteinase-2 and Matrix Metalloproteinase-9 With Endothelial Dysfunction, Cardiovascular Disease Risk Factors and thrombotic events in Children With End-stage Renal Disease', *Iran J Kidney Dis*, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 169-77.

Gibson, JB, Carson, NAJ & Neill, DW 1964, 'Pathological findings in homocystinuria', *J Clin Pathol*, vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 427-37.

Gimenez, M, Schickling, BM, Lopes, LR & Miller, FJ, Jr. 2016, 'Nox1 in cardiovascular diseases: regulation and pathophysiology', *Clin Sci (Lond)*, vol. 130, no. 3, pp. 151-65.

Gonzalez, DR, Treuer, AV, Lamirault, G, Mayo, V, Cao, Y, Dulce, RA & Hare, JM 2014, 'NADPH oxidase-2 inhibition restores contractility and intracellular calcium handling and reduces arrhythmogenicity in dystrophic cardiomyopathy', *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, vol. 307, no. 5, pp. H710-21.

Gorin, Y, Cavaglieri, RC, Khazim, K, Lee, D-Y, Bruno, F, Thakur, S, Fanti, P, Szyndralewiez, C, Barnes, JL, Block, K & Abboud, HE 2015, 'Targeting NADPH oxidase with a novel dual Nox1/Nox4 inhibitor attenuates renal pathology in type 1 diabetes', *American Journal of Physiology - Renal Physiology*, vol. 308, no. 11, pp. F1276-F87.

Gorin, Y, Cavaglieri, RC, Khazim, K, Lee, DY, Bruno, F, Thakur, S, Fanti, P, Szyndralewiez, C, Barnes, JL, Block, K & Abboud, HE 2015, 'Targeting NADPH oxidase with a novel dual Nox1/Nox4 inhibitor attenuates renal pathology in type 1 diabetes', *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol*, vol. 308, no. 11, pp. F1276-87.

Gray, SP, Jha, JC, Kennedy, K, van Bommel, E, Chew, P, Szyndralewiez, C, Touyz, RM, Schmidt, HHHW, Cooper, ME & Jandeleit-Dahm, KAM 2017, 'Combined NOX1/4 inhibition with GKT137831 in mice provides dose-dependent reno- and atheroprotection even in established micro- and macrovascular disease', *Diabetologia*, vol. 60, no. 5, pp. 927-37.

Green, DE, Murphy, TC, Kang, BY, Kleinhenz, JM, Szyndralewiez, C, Page, P, Sutliff, RL & Hart, CM 2012, 'The Nox4 inhibitor GKT137831 attenuates hypoxia-induced pulmonary vascular cell proliferation', *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol*, vol. 47, no. 5, pp. 718-26.

Green, DJ, Maiorana, A, O'Driscoll, G & Taylor, R 2004, 'Effect of exercise training on endothelium-derived nitric oxide function in humans', *The Journal of Physiology*, vol. 561, no. Pt 1, pp. 1-25.

Gu, Q, Wang, B, Zhang, XF, Ma, YP, Liu, JD & Wang, XZ 2013, 'Contribution of hydrogen sulfide and nitric oxide to exercise-induced attenuation of aortic remodeling and improvement of endothelial function in spontaneously hypertensive rats', *Mol Cell Biochem*, vol. 375, no. 1-2, pp. 199-206.

Guemez-Gamboa, A, Estrada-Sanchez, AM, Montiel, T, Paramo, B, Massieu, L & Moran, J 2011, 'Activation of NOX2 by the stimulation of ionotropic and metabotropic glutamate receptors contributes to glutamate neurotoxicity in vivo through the production of reactive oxygen species and calpain activation', *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*, vol. 70, no. 11, pp. 1020-35.

Guzik, TJ, Chen, W, Gongora, MC, Guzik, B, Lob, HE, Mangalat, D, Hoch, N, Dikalov, S, Rudzinski, P, Kapelak, B, Sadowski, J & Harrison, DG 2008, 'Calcium dependent Nox5 NADPH oxidase contributes to vascular oxidative stress in human coronary artery disease', *J Am Coll Cardiol*, vol. 52, no. 22, pp. 1803-9.

Hajjar, KA 2001, 'Homocysteine: a sulph'rous fire', J Clin Invest, vol. 107, no. 6, pp. 663-4.

Han, F, Zhang, S, Hou, N, Wang, D & Sun, X 2015, 'Irisin improves endothelial function in obese mice through the AMPK-eNOS pathway', *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, vol. 309, no. 9, pp. H1501-8.

Han, XB, Zhang, HP, Cao, CJ, Wang, YH, Tian, J, Yang, XL, Yang, AN, Wang, J, Jiang, YD & Xu, H 2014, 'Aberrant DNA methylation of the PDGF gene in homocysteine-mediated VSMC proliferation and its underlying mechanism', *Molecular Medicine Reports*.

Heiss, EH & Dirsch, VM 2014, 'Regulation of eNOS Enzyme Activity by Posttranslational Modification', *Curr Pharm Des*, vol. 20, no. 22, pp. 3503-13.

Hernaez, A, Castaner, O, Elosua, R, Pinto, X, Estruch, R, Salas-Salvado, J, Corella, D, Aros, F, Serra-Majem, L, Fiol, M, Ortega-Calvo, M, Ros, E, Martinez-Gonzalez, MA, de la Torre, R, Lopez-Sabater, MC & Fito, M 2017, 'Mediterranean Diet Improves High-Density Lipoprotein Function in High-Cardiovascular-Risk Individuals: A Randomized Controlled Trial', *Circulation*, vol. 135, no. 7, pp. 633-43.

Heumuller, S, Wind, S, Barbosa-Sicard, E, Schmidt, HH, Busse, R, Schroder, K & Brandes, RP 2008, 'Apocynin is not an inhibitor of vascular NADPH oxidases but an antioxidant', *Hypertension*, vol. 51, no. 2, pp. 211-7.

HHS & USDA 1980, 'Nutrition and Your Health: Dietary Guidelines for Americans, 1980', *Dietary Guidelines for Americans*, p. 11.

Hien, TT, Oh, WK, Nguyen, PH, Oh, SJ, Lee, MY & Kang, KW 2011, 'Nectandrin B activates endothelial nitric-oxide synthase phosphorylation in endothelial cells: role of the AMP-activated protein kinase/estrogen receptor alpha/phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt pathway', *Mol Pharmacol*, vol. 80, no. 6, pp. 1166-78.

Hills, SA, Balkau, B, Coppack, SW, Dekker, JM, Mari, A, Natali, A, Walker, M & Ferrannini, E 2004, 'The EGIR-RISC STUDY (The European group for the study of insulin resistance: relationship between insulin sensitivity and cardiovascular disease risk): I. Methodology and objectives', *Diabetologia*, vol. 47, no. 3, pp. 566-70.

Hodis, HN, Mack, WJ, Dustin, L, Mahrer, PR, Azen, SP, Detrano, R, Selhub, J, Alaupovic, P, Liu, CR, Liu, CH, Hwang, J, Wilcox, AG, Selzer, RH & Group, BR 2009, 'High-dose B vitamin supplementation and progression of subclinical atherosclerosis: a randomized controlled trial', *Stroke*, vol. 40, no. 3, pp. 730-6.

Hoffman, M 2011, 'Hypothesis: Hyperhomocysteinemia is an indicator of oxidant stress', *Medical Hypotheses*, vol. 77, no. 6, pp. 1088-93.

Hollingsworth, SA, Holden, JK, Li, H & Poulos, TL 2016, 'Elucidating nitric oxide synthase domain interactions by molecular dynamics', *Protein Science : A Publication of the Protein Society*, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 374-82.

Hosgood, SA, Yates, PJ & Nicholson, ML 2014, '1400W reduces ischemia reperfusion injury in an ex-vivo porcine model of the donation after circulatory death kidney donor', *World J Transplant*, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 299-305.

Howitt, L, Matthaei, KI, Drummond, GR & Hill, CE 2014, 'Nox1 upregulates the function of vascular T-type calcium channels following chronic nitric oxide deficit', *Pflugers Arch*.

Hu, F, Liu, Y & Willett, W 2011, 'Preventing chronic diseases by promoting healthy diet and lifestyle: public policy implications for China', *Obesity reviews*, vol. 12, no. 7, pp. 552-9.

Hu, L, Zhang, Y, Lim, PS, Miao, Y, Tan, C, McKenzie, KU, Schyvens, CG & Whitworth, JA 2006, 'Apocynin but not L-arginine prevents and reverses dexamethasone-induced hypertension in the rat', *Am J Hypertens*, vol. 19, no. 4, pp. 413-8.

Hu, Y, Liu, J, Dong, X, Xu, Y, Leng, S & Wang, G 2016, 'Clinical Study of Serum Homocysteine and Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease in Euglycemic Patients', *Medical Science Monitor : International Medical Journal of Experimental and Clinical Research*, vol. 22, pp. 4146-51.

Iacono, J, Marshall, M, Dougherty, R, Wheeler, M, Mackin, J & Canary, J 1975, 'Reduction in blood pressure associated with high polyunsaturated fat diets that reduce blood cholesterol in man', *Preventive medicine*, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 426-43.

Illeperuma, RP, Kim, DK, Park, YJ, Son, HK, Kim, JY, Kim, J, Lee, DY, Kim, KY, Jung, DW, Tilakaratne, WM & Kim, J 2015, 'Areca nut exposure increases secretion of tumor-promoting cytokines in gingival fibroblasts that trigger DNA damage in oral keratinocytes', *Int J Cancer*, vol. 137, no. 11, pp. 2545-57.

Iwakiri, Y & Kim, MY 2015, 'Nitric oxide in liver diseases', *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, vol. 36, no. 8, pp. 524-36.

Jakubowski, H 1999, 'Protein homocysteinylation: possible mechanism underlying pathological consequences of elevated homocysteine levels', *The FASEB Journal*, vol. 13, no. 15, pp. 2277-83.

— 2000, 'Homocysteine Thiolactone: Metabolic Origin and Protein Homocysteinylation in Humans', *Journal of Nutrition*, vol. 130, no. 2, pp. 377S-81S.

Jenkins, DJ, Hu, FB, Tapsell, LC, Josse, AR & Kendall, CW 2008, 'Possible benefit of nuts in type 2 diabetes', *J Nutr*, vol. 138, no. 9, pp. 1752s-6s.

Jia, F, Wu, C, Chen, Z & Lu, G 2011, 'AMP-activated protein kinase inhibits homocysteineinduced dysfunction and apoptosis in endothelial progenitor cells', *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther*, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 21-9.

Jiang, Y, Zhang, H, Sun, T, Wang, J, Sun, W, Gong, H, Yang, B, Shi, Y & Wei, J 2012, 'The comprehensive effects of hyperlipidemia and hyperhomocysteinemia on pathogenesis of atherosclerosis and DNA hypomethylation in ApoE-/- mice', *Acta Biochim Biophys Sin (Shanghai)*, vol. 44, no. 10, pp. 866-75.

Jo, H & Luo, HR 2012, 'Exploiting effectors of Rac GTPase', *Chem Biol*, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 169-71.

Jo, H, Mondal, S, Tan, D, Nagata, E, Takizawa, S, Sharma, AK, Hou, Q, Shanmugasundaram, K, Prasad, A, Tung, JK, Tejeda, AO, Man, H, Rigby, AC & Luo, HR 2012, 'Small moleculeinduced cytosolic activation of protein kinase Akt rescues ischemia-elicited neuronal death', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, vol. 109, no. 26, pp. 10581-6.

Jolliffe, N 1959, 'Fats, cholesterol, and coronary heart disease: a review of recent progress', *Circulation*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 109-27.

Joseph, J & Loscalzo, J 2013, 'Methoxistasis: integrating the roles of homocysteine and folic acid in cardiovascular pathobiology', *Nutrients*, vol. 5, no. 8, pp. 3235-56.

Judkins, CP, Diep, H, Broughton, BR, Mast, AE, Hooker, EU, Miller, AA, Selemidis, S, Dusting, GJ, Sobey, CG & Drummond, GR 2010, 'Direct evidence of a role for Nox2 in superoxide production, reduced nitric oxide bioavailability, and early atherosclerotic plaque formation in ApoE-/- mice', *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, vol. 298, no. 1, pp. H24-32.

Julve, J, Escola-Gil, JC, Rodriguez-Millan, E, Martin-Campos, JM, Jauhiainen, M, Quesada, H, Renteria-Obregon, IM, Osada, J, Sanchez-Quesada, JL & Blanco-Vaca, F 2013, 'Methionine-induced hyperhomocysteinemia impairs the antioxidant ability of high-density lipoproteins without reducing in vivo macrophage-specific reverse cholesterol transport', *Mol Nutr Food Res*, vol. 57, no. 10, pp. 1814-24.

Kahles, T & Brandes, RP 2012, 'NADPH oxidases as therapeutic targets in ischemic stroke', *Cell Mol Life Sci*, vol. 69, no. 14, pp. 2345-63.

Kalanuria, AA, Nyquist, P & Ling, G 2012, 'The prevention and regression of atherosclerotic plaques: emerging treatments', *Vascular Health and Risk Management*, vol. 8, pp. 549-61.

Kannel, W & McGee, D 1979, 'Diabetes and glucose tolerance as risk factors for cardiovascular disease: the Framingham study', *Diabetes care*, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 120-6.

Karabag, T, Kaya, A, Temizhan, A, Koç, F, Yavuz, S & Çam, S 2007, 'The influence of homocysteine levels on endothelial function and their relation with microvascular complications in T2DM patients without macrovascular disease', *Acta Diabetologica*, vol. 44, no. 2, pp. 69-75.

Kassab, A & Piwowar, A 2012, 'Cell oxidant stress delivery and cell dysfunction onset in type 2 diabetes', *Biochimie*, vol. 94, no. 9, pp. 1837-48.

Kaul, S, Zadeh, AA & Shah, PK 2006, 'Homocysteine hypothesis for atherothrombotic cardiovascular disease: not validated', *J Am Coll Cardiol*, vol. 48, no. 5, pp. 914-23.

Kelly, KA, Li, X, Tan, Z, VanGilder, RL, Rosen, CL & Huber, JD 2009, 'NOX2 inhibition with apocynin worsens stroke outcome in aged rats', *Brain Res*, vol. 1292, pp. 165-72.

Khan, S, Rahman, HN, Okamoto, T, Matsunaga, T, Fujiwara, Y, Sawa, T, Yoshitake, J, Ono, K, Ahmed, KA, Rahaman, MM, Oyama, K, Takeya, M, Ida, T, Kawamura, Y, Fujii, S & Akaike, T 2014, 'Promotion of atherosclerosis by Helicobacter cinaedi infection that involves macrophage-driven proinflammatory responses', *Sci Rep*, vol. 4, p. 4680.

Kigawa, Y, Miyazaki, T, Lei, XF, Nakamachi, T, Oguchi, T, Kim-Kaneyama, JR, Taniyama, M, Tsunawaki, S, Shioda, S & Miyazaki, A 2014, 'NADPH oxidase deficiency exacerbates angiotensin II-induced abdominal aortic aneurysms in mice', *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, vol. 34, no. 11, pp. 2413-20.

Kizhakekuttu, TJ & Widlansky, ME 2010, 'Natural antioxidants and hypertension: promise and challenges', *Cardiovasc Ther*, vol. 28, no. 4, pp. e20-32.

Kobayashi, T, Taguchi, K, Yasuhiro, T, Matsumoto, T & Kamata, K 2004, 'Impairment of PI3-K/Akt pathway underlies attenuated endothelial function in aorta of type 2 diabetic mouse model', *Hypertension*, vol. 44, no. 6, pp. 956-62.

Konior, A, Schramm, A, Czesnikiewicz-Guzik, M & Guzik, TJ 2013, 'NADPH Oxidases in Vascular Pathology', *Antioxid Redox Signal*.

Kruman, II, Culmsee, C, Chan, SL, Kruman, Y, Guo, Z, Penix, L & Mattson, MP 2000, 'Homocysteine elicits a DNA damage response in neurons that promotes apoptosis and hypersensitivity to excitotoxicity', *J Neurosci*, vol. 20, no. 18, pp. 6920-6.

Kruzliak, P, Sabo, J & Zulli, A 2015, 'Endothelial endoplasmic reticulum and nitrative stress in endothelial dysfunction in the atherogenic rabbit model', *Acta Histochem*, vol. 117, no. 8, pp. 762-6.

Lan, TH, Xu, ZW, Wang, Z, Wu, YL, Wu, WK & Tan, HM 2011, 'Ginsenoside Rb1 prevents homocysteine-induced endothelial dysfunction via PI3K/Akt activation and PKC inhibition', *Biochem Pharmacol*, vol. 82, no. 2, pp. 148-55.

Lass, A, Agarwal, S & Sohal, RS 1997, 'Mitochondrial Ubiquinone Homologues, Superoxide Radical Generation, and Longevity in Different Mammalian Species', *J Biol Chem*, vol. 272, no. 31, pp. 19199-204.

Lawry, EY, Mann, GV, Peterson, A, Wysocki, AP, O'Connell, R & Stare, FJ 1957, 'Cholesterol and beta lipoproteins in the serums of Americans: well persons and those with coronary heart disease', *The American journal of medicine*, vol. 22, no. 4, pp. 605-23.

Lee, H-Y, Sakuma, I, Ihm, S-H, Goh, C-W & Koh, KK 2014, 'Statins and Renin-Angiotensin System Inhibitor Combination Treatment to Prevent Cardiovascular Disease', *Circulation Journal*, vol. 78, no. 2, pp. 281-7.

Lee, J, Bae, EH, Ma, SK & Kim, SW 2016, 'Altered Nitric Oxide System in Cardiovascular and Renal Diseases', *Chonnam Med J*, vol. 52, no. 2, pp. 81-90.

Lee, SF & Lin, JK 1994, 'Generation of Hydrogen Peroxide, Superoxide Anion and the Hydroxyl Free Radical from Polyphenols and Active Benzene Metabolites: Their Possible Role in Mutagenesis', *J Biomed Sci*, vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 125-30.

Lee, WJ, Ou, HC, Hsu, WC, Chou, MM, Tseng, JJ, Hsu, SL, Tsai, KL & Sheu, WH 2010, 'Ellagic acid inhibits oxidized LDL-mediated LOX-1 expression, ROS generation, and inflammation in human endothelial cells', *J Vasc Surg*, vol. 52, no. 5, pp. 1290-300.

Leung, SB, Zhang, H, Lau, CW, Huang, Y & Lin, Z 2013, 'Salidroside improves homocysteineinduced endothelial dysfunction by reducing oxidative stress', *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med*, vol. 2013, p. 679635.

Li, D & Cao, W 2016, 'Bile acid receptor TGR5, NADPH Oxidase NOX5-S and CREB Mediate Bile Acid-Induced DNA Damage In Barrett's Esophageal Adenocarcinoma Cells', *Sci Rep*, vol. 6, p. 31538.

Liao, J, Huang, W & Liu, G 2017, 'Animal models of coronary heart disease', *Journal of Biomedical Research*, vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 3-10.

Liew, S-C & Gupta, ED 2015, 'Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) C677T polymorphism: Epidemiology, metabolism and the associated diseases', *European Journal of Medical Genetics*, vol. 58, no. 1, pp. 1-10.

Lim, U & Cassano, PA 2002, 'Homocysteine and blood pressure in the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988-1994', *Am J Epidemiol*, vol. 156, no. 12, pp. 1105-13.

Liu, AG, Ford, NA, Hu, FB, Zelman, KM, Mozaffarian, D & Kris-Etherton, PM 2017, 'A healthy approach to dietary fats: understanding the science and taking action to reduce consumer confusion', *Nutrition Journal*, vol. 16, p. 53.

Lonn, E, Yusuf, S, Arnold, MJO, Sheridan, P, McQueen, MJ, Pogue, J, Probstfield, J, Fodor, G, Held, C, Micks, M & Genest, J, J 2006, 'Homocysteine Lowering with Folic Acid and B Vitamins in Vascular Disease', *The New England Journal of Medicine*, vol. 354, pp. 1567-77.

Lozano, R, Naghavi, M, Foreman, K, Lim, S, Shibuya, K, Aboyans, V, Abraham, J, Adair, T, Aggarwal, R, Ahn, SY, Alvarado, M, Anderson, HR, Anderson, LM, Andrews, KG, Atkinson, C, Baddour, LM, Barker-Collo, S, Bartels, DH, Bell, ML, Benjamin, EJ, Bennett, D, Bhalla, K, Bikbov, B, Bin Abdulhak, A, Birbeck, G, Blyth, F, Bolliger, I, Boufous, S, Bucello, C, Burch, M, Burney, P, Carapetis, J, Chen, H, Chou, D, Chugh, SS, Coffeng, LE, Colan, SD, Colquhoun, S, Colson, KE, Condon, J, Connor, MD, Cooper, LT, Corriere, M, Cortinovis, M, de Vaccaro, KC, Couser, W, Cowie, BC, Criqui, MH, Cross, M, Dabhadkar, KC, Dahodwala, N, De Leo, D, Degenhardt, L, Delossantos, A, Denenberg, J, Des Jarlais, DC, Dharmaratne, SD, Dorsey, ER, Driscoll, T, Duber, H, Ebel, B, Erwin, PJ, Espindola, P, Ezzati, M, Feigin, V, Flaxman, AD, Forouzanfar, MH, Fowkes, FG, Franklin, R, Fransen, M, Freeman, MK, Gabriel, SE, Gakidou, E, Gaspari, F, Gillum, RF, Gonzalez-Medina, D, Halasa, YA, Haring, D, Harrison, JE, Havmoeller, R, Hay, RJ, Hoen, B, Hotez, PJ, Hoy, D, Jacobsen, KH, James, SL, Jasrasaria, R, Jayaraman, S, Johns, N, Karthikeyan, G, Kassebaum, N, Keren, A, Khoo, JP, Knowlton, LM, Kobusingye, O, Koranteng, A, Krishnamurthi, R, Lipnick, M, Lipshultz, SE, Ohno, SL, Mabweijano, J, MacIntyre, MF, Mallinger, L, March, L, Marks, GB, Marks, R, Matsumori, A, Matzopoulos, R, Mayosi, BM, McAnulty, JH, McDermott, MM, McGrath, J, Mensah, GA, Merriman, TR, Michaud, C, Miller, M, Miller, TR, Mock, C, Mocumbi, AO, Mokdad, AA, Moran, A, Mulholland, K, Nair, MN, Naldi, L, Narayan, KM, Nasseri, K, Norman, P, O'Donnell, M, Omer, SB, Ortblad, K, Osborne, R, Ozgediz, D, Pahari, B, Pandian, JD, Rivero, AP, Padilla, RP, Perez-Ruiz, F, Perico, N, Phillips, D, Pierce, K, Pope, CA, 3rd, Porrini, E, Pourmalek, F, Raju, M, Ranganathan, D, Rehm, JT, Rein, DB, Remuzzi, G, Rivara, FP, Roberts, T, De Leon, FR, Rosenfeld, LC, Rushton, L, Sacco, RL, Salomon, JA, Sampson, U, Sanman, E, Schwebel, DC, Segui-Gomez, M, Shepard, DS, Singh, D, Singleton, J, Sliwa, K, Smith, E, Steer, A, Taylor, JA, Thomas, B, Tleyjeh, IM, Towbin, JA, Truelsen, T, Undurraga, EA, Venketasubramanian, N, Vijayakumar, L, Vos, T, Wagner, GR, Wang, M, Wang, W, Watt, K, Weinstock, MA, Weintraub, R, Wilkinson, JD, Woolf, AD, Wulf, S, Yeh, PH, Yip, P, Zabetian, A, Zheng, ZJ, Lopez, AD, Murray, CJ, AlMazroa, MA & Memish, ZA 2012, 'Global and regional mortality from 235 causes of death for 20 age groups in 1990 and 2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010', Lancet, vol. 380, no. 9859, pp. 2095-128.

Lu, W, Kang, J, Hu, K, Tang, S, Zhou, X, Xu, L, Li, Y & Yu, S 2017, 'The role of the Nox4derived ROS-mediated RhoA/Rho kinase pathway in rat hypertension induced by chronic intermittent hypoxia', *Sleep Breath*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 667-77.

Luo, S & Levine, RL 2009, 'Methionine in proteins defends against oxidative stress', *The FASEB Journal*, vol. 23, no. 2, pp. 464-72.

MacMahon, M 1999, 'Treatment guidelines for hypercholesterolaemia: time to consider soluble fibre', *Int J Clin Pract*, vol. 53, no. 5, pp. 369-72.

Magalhaes, A, Matias, I, Palmela, I, Brito, MA & Dias, S 2016, 'LDL-Cholesterol Increases the Transcytosis of Molecules through Endothelial Monolayers', *PLoS One*, vol. 11, no. 10, p. e0163988.

Malinowska, J, Tomczynska, M & Olas, B 2012, 'Changes of blood platelet adhesion to collagen and fibrinogen induced by homocysteine and its thiolactone', *Clin Biochem*, vol. 45, no. 15, pp. 1225-8.

Manicam, C, Ginter, N, Li, H, Xia, N, Goloborodko, E, Zadeh, JK, Musayeva, A, Pfeiffer, N & Gericke, A 2017, 'Compensatory Vasodilator Mechanisms in the Ophthalmic Artery of Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase Gene Knockout Mice', *Sci Rep*, vol. 7, p. 7111.

Mann, GV, Teel, K, Hayes, O, McNally, A & Bruno, D 1955, 'Exercise in the disposition of dietary calories: regulation of serum lipoprotein and cholesterol levels in human subjects', *New England Journal of Medicine*, vol. 253, no. 9, pp. 349-55.

Manolescu, B, Oprea, E, Farcasanu, I, Berteanu, M & Cercasov, C 2010, 'Homocysteine and vitamin therapy in stroke prevention and

treatment: a review', ACTA Biochimica Polonica, vol. 57, no. 4, pp. 467-77.

Martinon, F 2010, 'Signaling by ROS drives inflammasome activation', *Eur J Immunol*, vol. 40, no. 3, pp. 616-9.

Masoud, R, Bizouarn, T & Houée-Levin, C 2014, 'Cholesterol: A modulator of the phagocyte NADPH oxidase activity - A cell-free study', *Redox Biol*, vol. 3, pp. 16-24.

Mayo, JN, Chen, C-H, Liao, F-F & Bearden, SE 2014, 'Homocysteine Disrupts Outgrowth of Microvascular Endothelium by an iNOS-dependent Mechanism', *Microcirculation (New York, N.Y. : 1994)*, vol. 21, no. 6, pp. 541-50.

Mazière, C, Salle, V, Gomila, C & Mazière, J-C 2013, 'Oxidized low density lipoprotein increases RANKL level in human vascular cells. Involvement of oxidative stress', *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, vol. 440, no. 2, pp. 295-9.

McCully Kilmer, S 2005, *Hyperhomocysteinemia and arteriosclerosis: historical perspectives*, 10, 14346621, <<u>https://www.degruyter.com/view/j/cclm.2005.43.issue-10/cclm.2005.172/cclm.2005.172.xml</u>>.

McLeod, M, Kleinschnitz, C, Grund, H, Wingler, K, Armitage, ME, Jones, E, Mittal, M, Barit, D, Schwarz, T, Geis, C, Kraft, P, Barthel, K, Schuhmann, MK, Herrmann, AM, Meuth, SG, Stoll, G, Meurer, S, Schrewe, A, Becker, L, Gailus-Durner, V, Fuchs, H, Klopstock, T, de Angelis, MH, Jandeleit-Dahm, K, Shah, AM, Weissmann, N & Schmidt, HHHW 2010, 'Post-

Stroke Inhibition of Induced NADPH Oxidase Type 4 Prevents Oxidative Stress and Neurodegeneration', *PLoS Biology*, vol. 8, no. 9, p. e1000479.

Meyer, MR, Fredette, NC, Barton, M & Prossnitz, ER 2014, 'Endothelin-1 but not angiotensin II contributes to functional aging in murine carotid arteries', *Life Sci*.

Miida, T, Nishimura, K, Okamura, T, Hirayama, S, Ohmura, H, Yoshida, H, Miyashita, Y, Ai, M, Tanaka, A, Sumino, H, Murakami, M, Inoue, I, Kayamori, Y, Nakamura, M, Nobori, T, Miyazawa, Y, Teramoto, T & Yokoyama, S 2014, 'Validation of homogeneous assays for HDL-cholesterol using fresh samples from healthy and diseased subjects', *Atherosclerosis*, vol. 233, no. 1, pp. 253-9.

Mikael, LG & Rozen, R 2008, 'Homocysteine modulates the effect of simvastatin on expression of ApoA-I and NF-κB/iNOS', *Cardiovasc Res*, vol. 80, no. 1, pp. 151-8.

Miller, AA, Maxwell, KF, Chrissobolis, S, Bullen, ML, Ku, JM, Michael De Silva, T, Selemidis, S, Hooker, EU, Drummond, GR, Sobey, CG & Kemp-Harper, BK 2013, 'Nitroxyl (HNO) suppresses vascular Nox2 oxidase activity', *Free Radic Biol Med*, vol. 60, pp. 264-71.

Montes, G & Junqueira, L 1991, 'The use of the Picrosirius-polarization method for the study of the biopathology of collagen', *Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz*, vol. 86, pp. 1-11.

Montezano, AC, Tsiropoulou, S, Dulak-Lis, M, Harvey, A, Camargo, LDL & Touyz, RM 2015, 'Redox signaling, Nox5 and vascular remodeling in hypertension', *Current opinion in nephrology and hypertension*, vol. 24, no. 5, pp. 425-33.

Moraes, J, Assreuy, J, Canetti, C & Barja-Fidalgo, C 2010, 'Leukotriene B4 mediates vascular smooth muscle cell migration through alphavbeta3 integrin transactivation', *Atherosclerosis*, vol. 212, no. 2, pp. 406-13.

Moreira, JB, Wohlwend, M, Alves, MN, Wisloff, U & Bye, A 2015, 'A small molecule activator of AKT does not reduce ischemic injury of the rat heart', *J Transl Med*, vol. 13, p. 76.

Mount, PF, Kemp, BE & Power, DA 2007, 'Regulation of endothelial and myocardial NO synthesis by multi-site eNOS phosphorylation', *J Mol Cell Cardiol*, vol. 42, no. 2, pp. 271-9.

Mudau, M, Genis, A, Lochner, A & Strijdom, H 2012, 'Endothelial dysfunction: the early predictor of atherosclerosis', *Cardiovascular Journal of Africa*, vol. 23, no. 4, pp. 222-31.

Mueller, JH 1923, 'A new sulfur-containing amino-acid isolated from the hydrolytic products of protein', *J. Biol. Chem*, vol. 56, pp. 157-69.

Murdoch, CE, Chaubey, S, Zeng, L, Yu, B, Ivetic, A, Walker, SJ, Vanhoutte, D, Heymans, S, Grieve, DJ, Cave, AC, Brewer, AC, Zhang, M & Shah, AM 2014, 'Endothelial NADPH oxidase-2 promotes interstitial cardiac fibrosis and diastolic dysfunction through proinflammatory effects and endothelial-mesenchymal transition', *J Am Coll Cardiol*, vol. 63, no. 24, pp. 2734-41.

Nambi, V, Chambless, L, Folsom, AR, He, M, Hu, Y, Mosley, T, Volcik, K, Boerwinkle, E & Ballantyne, CM 2010, 'Carotid Intima-Media Thickness and Presence or Absence of Plaque Improves Prediction of Coronary Heart Disease Risk: The ARIC (Atherosclerosis Risk In Communities) Study', *J Am Coll Cardiol*, vol. 55, no. 15, pp. 1600-7.

NHMRC 2017, 'Australian Dietary Guidelines', *eatforhealth.gov.au*.

Nisimoto, Y, Diebold, BA, Constentino-Gomes, D & Lambeth, JD 2014, 'Nox4: a hydrogen peroxide-generating oxygen sensor', *Biochemistry*, vol. 53, no. 31, pp. 5111-20.

Nyyssonen, K, Kurl, S, Karppi, J, Nurmi, T, Baldassarre, D, Veglia, F, Rauramaa, R, de Faire, U, Hamsten, A, Smit, AJ, Mannarino, E, Humphries, SE, Giral, P, Grossi, E & Tremoli, E 2012, 'LDL oxidative modification and carotid atherosclerosis: results of a multicenter study', *Atherosclerosis*, vol. 225, no. 1, pp. 231-6.

Olver, TD & Laughlin, MH 2016, 'Endurance, interval sprint, and resistance exercise training: impact on microvascular dysfunction in type 2 diabetes', *American Journal of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, vol. 310, no. 3, pp. H337-H50.

Organization, WH 2017, 'Noncommunicable diseases: progress monitor 2017'.

Pacana, T, Cazanave, S, Verdianelli, A, Patel, V, Min, HK, Mirshahi, F, Quinlivan, E & Sanyal, AJ 2015, 'Dysregulated Hepatic Methionine Metabolism Drives Homocysteine Elevation in Diet-Induced Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease', *PLoS One*, vol. 10, no. 8, p. e0136822.

Pacher, P, Beckman, JS & Liaudet, L 2007, 'Nitric Oxide and Peroxynitrite in Health and Disease', *Physiol Rev*, vol. 87, no. 1, pp. 315-424.

Pettigrew, LC, Bang, H, Chambless, LE, Howard, VJ, Toole, JF & Vitamin Intervention for Stroke Prevention, I 2008, 'Assessment of pre- and post-methionine load homocysteine for prediction of recurrent stroke and coronary artery disease in the Vitamin Intervention for Stroke Prevention Trial', *Atherosclerosis*, vol. 200, no. 2, pp. 345-9.

Ponnuswamy, P, Ostermeier, E, Schrottle, A, Chen, J, Huang, PL, Ertl, G, Nieswandt, B & Kuhlencordt, PJ 2009, 'Oxidative stress and compartment of gene expression determine

proatherosclerotic effects of inducible nitric oxide synthase', *Am J Pathol*, vol. 174, no. 6, pp. 2400-10.

Pravst, I, Zmitek, K & Zmitek, J 2010, 'Coenzyme Q10 contents in foods and fortification strategies', *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr*, vol. 50, no. 4, pp. 269-80.

Prior, K-K, Leisegang, MS, Josipovic, I, Löwe, O, Shah, AM, Weissmann, N, Schröder, K & Brandes, RP 2016, 'CRISPR/Cas9-mediated knockout of p22phox leads to loss of Nox1 and Nox4, but not Nox5 activity', *Redox Biol*, vol. 9, pp. 287-95.

Qian, C, Devine, I, Walker, S, Pham, H, Ondrasik, R, Patel, H, Chau, W, Parker, CW, Bartol, KD, Riahi, S, Mittal, A, Barsotti, R & Young, L 2016, 'Nox2ds-Tat, A Peptide Inhibitor of NADPH Oxidase, Exerts Cardioprotective Effects by Attenuating Reactive Oxygen Species During Ischemia/Reperfusion Injury', *American Journal of Biomedical Sciences*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 208-27.

Qian, J, Chen, F, Kovalenkov, Y, Pandey, D, Moseleley, MA, Foster, MW, Black, SM, Venema, RC, Stepp, DW & Fulton, DJR 2012, 'Nitric Oxide reduces NADPH oxidase 5 (Nox5) activity by reversible S-nitrosylation', *Free Radic Biol Med*, vol. 52, no. 9, pp. 1806-19.

Qipshidze, N, Metreveli, N, Lominadze, D & Tyagi, SC 2011, 'Folic acid improves acetylcholine-induced vasoconstriction of coronary vessels isolated from hyperhomocysteinemic mice: an implication to coronary vasospasm', *J Cell Physiol*, vol. 226, no. 10, pp. 2712-20.

Quesada, IM, Lucero, A, Amaya, C, Meijles, DN, Cifuentes, ME, Pagano, PJ & Castro, C 2015, 'Selective inactivation of NADPH oxidase 2 causes regression of vascularization and the size and stability of atherosclerotic plaques', *Atherosclerosis*, vol. 242, no. 2, pp. 469-75.

Racek, J, Rusnakova, H, Trefil, L & Siala, KK 2005, 'The influence of folate and antioxidants on homocysteine levels and oxidative stress in patients with hyperlipidemia and hyperhomocysteinemia', *Physiol Res*, vol. 54, no. 1, pp. 87-95.

Raggi, P, Genest, J, Giles, JT, Rayner, KJ, Dwivedi, G, Beanlands, RS & Gupta, M 2018, 'Role of inflammation in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis and therapeutic interventions', *Atherosclerosis*, vol. 276, pp. 98-108.

Rai, S, Hare, DL & Zulli, A 2009, 'A physiologically relevant atherogenic diet causes severe endothelial dysfunction within 4 weeks in rabbit', *Int J Exp Pathol*, vol. 90, no. 6, pp. 598-604.

Rastogi, R, Geng, X, Li, F & Ding, Y 2016, 'NOX Activation by Subunit Interaction and Underlying Mechanisms in Disease', *Front Cell Neurosci*, vol. 10, p. 301.

Ray, KK, Kastelein, JJ, Matthijs Boekholdt, S, Nicholls, SJ, Khaw, KT, Ballantyne, CM, Catapano, AL, Reiner, Z & Luscher, TF 2014, 'The ACC/AHA 2013 guideline on the treatment of blood cholesterol to reduce atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease risk in adults: the good the bad and the uncertain: a comparison with ESC/EAS guidelines for the management of dyslipidaemias 2011', *Eur Heart J*, vol. 35, no. 15, pp. 960-8.

Ray, R, Murdoch, CE, Wang, M, Santos, CX, Zhang, M, Alom-Ruiz, S, Anilkumar, N, Ouattara, A, Cave, AC, Walker, SJ, Grieve, DJ, Charles, RL, Eaton, P, Brewer, AC & Shah, AM 2011, 'Endothelial Nox4 NADPH oxidase enhances vasodilatation and reduces blood pressure in vivo', *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, vol. 31, no. 6, pp. 1368-76.

Rees, DD, Palmer, RM, Hodson, HF & Moncada, S 1989, 'A specific inhibitor of nitric oxide formation from L-arginine attenuates endothelium-dependent relaxation', *Br J Pharmacol*, vol. 96, pp. 418-24.

Ren, H, Mu, J, Ma, J, Gong, J, Li, J, Wang, J, Gao, T, Zhu, P, Zheng, S, Xie, J & Yuan, B 2016, 'Selenium Inhibits Homocysteine-Induced Endothelial Dysfunction and Apoptosis via Activation of AKT', *Cell Physiol Biochem*, vol. 38, no. 3, pp. 871-82.

Rey, FE, Cifuentes, ME, Kiarash, A, Quinn, MT & Pagano, PJ 2001, 'Novel Competitive Inhibitor of NAD(P)H Oxidase Assembly Attenuates Vascular O2- and Systolic Blood Pressure in Mice', *Circulation Research*, vol. 89, no. 5, pp. 408-14.

Rezende, F, Lowe, O, Helfinger, V, Prior, KK, Walter, M, Zukunft, S, Fleming, I, Weissmann, N, Brandes, RP & Schroder, K 2015, 'Unchanged NADPH Oxidase Activity in Nox1-Nox2-Nox4 Triple Knockout Mice: What Do NADPH-Stimulated Chemiluminescence Assays Really Detect?', *Antioxid Redox Signal*.

Rifkind, JM, Mohanty, JG, Nagababu, E, Salgado, MT & Cao, Z 2018, 'Potential Modulation of Vascular Function by Nitric Oxide and Reactive Oxygen Species Released From Erythrocytes', *Front Physiol*, vol. 9, p. 690.

Rivera, J, Sobey, CG, Walduck, AK & Drummond, GR 2010, 'Nox isoforms in vascular pathophysiology: insights from transgenic and knockout mouse models', *Redox Rep*, vol. 15, no. 2, pp. 50-63.

Rochette, L, Lorin, J, Zeller, M, Guilland, J-C, Lorgis, L, Cottin, Y & Vergely, C 2013, 'Nitric oxide synthase inhibition and oxidative stress in cardiovascular diseases: Possible therapeutic targets?', *Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, vol. 140, no. 3, pp. 239-57.

Roman, GC, Mancera-Paez, O & Bernal, C 2019, 'Epigenetic Factors in Late-Onset Alzheimer's Disease: MTHFR and CTH Gene Polymorphisms, Metabolic Transsulfuration and Methylation Pathways, and B Vitamins', *Int J Mol Sci*, vol. 20, no. 2.

Page | 197

Roos, CM, Zhang, B, Palmer, AK, Ogrodnik, MB, Pirtskhalava, T, Thalji, NM, Hagler, M, Jurk, D, Smith, LA, Casaclang-Verzosa, G, Zhu, Y, Schafer, MJ, Tchkonia, T, Kirkland, JL & Miller, JD 2016, 'Chronic senolytic treatment alleviates established vasomotor dysfunction in aged or atherosclerotic mice', *Aging Cell*, vol. 15, no. 5, pp. 973-7.

Roth, GA, Johnson, C, Abajobir, A, Abd-Allah, F, Abera, SF, Abyu, G, Ahmed, M, Aksut, B, Alam, T, Alam, K, Alla, F, Alvis-Guzman, N, Amrock, S, Ansari, H, Arnlov, J, Asayesh, H, Atey, TM, Avila-Burgos, L, Awasthi, A, Banerjee, A, Barac, A, Barnighausen, T, Barregard, L, Bedi, N, Belay Ketema, E, Bennett, D, Berhe, G, Bhutta, Z, Bitew, S, Carapetis, J, Carrero, JJ, Malta, DC, Castaneda-Orjuela, CA, Castillo-Rivas, J, Catala-Lopez, F, Choi, JY, Christensen, H, Cirillo, M, Cooper, L, Jr., Criqui, M, Cundiff, D, Damasceno, A, Dandona, L, Dandona, R, Davletov, K, Dharmaratne, S, Dorairaj, P, Dubey, M, Ehrenkranz, R, El Sayed Zaki, M, Faraon, EJA, Esteghamati, A, Farid, T, Farvid, M, Feigin, V, Ding, EL, Fowkes, G, Gebrehiwot, T, Gillum, R, Gold, A, Gona, P, Gupta, R, Habtewold, TD, Hafezi-Nejad, N, Hailu, T, Hailu, GB, Hankey, G, Hassen, HY, Abate, KH, Havmoeller, R, Hay, SI, Horino, M, Hotez, PJ, Jacobsen, K, James, S, Javanbakht, M, Jeemon, P, John, D, Jonas, J, Kalkonde, Y, Karimkhani, C, Kasaeian, A, Khader, Y, Khan, A, Khang, YH, Khera, S, Khoja, AT, Khubchandani, J, Kim, D, Kolte, D, Kosen, S, Krohn, KJ, Kumar, GA, Kwan, GF, Lal, DK, Larsson, A, Linn, S, Lopez, A, Lotufo, PA, El Razek, HMA, Malekzadeh, R, Mazidi, M, Meier, T, Meles, KG, Mensah, G, Meretoja, A, Mezgebe, H, Miller, T, Mirrakhimov, E, Mohammed, S, Moran, AE, Musa, KI, Narula, J, Neal, B, Ngalesoni, F, Nguyen, G, Obermeyer, CM, Owolabi, M, Patton, G, Pedro, J, Qato, D, Qorbani, M, Rahimi, K, Rai, RK, Rawaf, S, Ribeiro, A, Safiri, S, Salomon, JA, Santos, I, Santric Milicevic, M, Sartorius, B, Schutte, A, Sepanlou, S, Shaikh, MA, Shin, MJ, Shishehbor, M, Shore, H, Silva, DAS, Sobngwi, E, Stranges, S, Swaminathan, S, Tabares-Seisdedos, R, Tadele Atnafu, N, Tesfay, F, Thakur, JS, Thrift, A, Topor-Madry, R, Truelsen, T, Tyrovolas, S, Ukwaja, KN, Uthman, O, Vasankari, T, Vlassov, V, Vollset, SE, Wakayo, T, Watkins, D, Weintraub, R, Werdecker, A, Westerman, R, Wiysonge, CS, Wolfe, C, Workicho, A, Xu, G, Yano, Y, Yip, P, Yonemoto, N, Younis, M, Yu, C, Vos, T, Naghavi, M & Murray, C 2017, 'Global, Regional, and National Burden of Cardiovascular Diseases for 10 Causes, 1990 to 2015', JAm Coll Cardiol, vol. 70, no. 1, pp. 1-25.

Roy, S, Khanna, S & Sen, CK 2008, 'Redox regulation of the VEGF signaling path and tissue vascularization: Hydrogen peroxide, the common link between physical exercise and cutaneous wound healing', *Free Radic Biol Med*, vol. 44, no. 2, pp. 180-92.

Russell, JC & Proctor, SD 2006, 'Small animal models of cardiovascular disease: tools for the study of the roles of metabolic syndrome, dyslipidemia, and atherosclerosis', *Cardiovasc Pathol*, vol. 15, no. 6, pp. 318-30.

Samik, B, Britany, H & M., SE 2015, 'Foxp3-mediated inhibition of Akt inhibits Glut1 (glucose transporter 1) expression in human T regulatory cells', *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, vol. 97, no. 2, pp. 279-83.

Sampson, N, Brunner, E, Weber, A, Puhr, M, Schäfer, G, Szyndralewiez, C & Klocker, H 2018, 'Inhibition of Nox4-dependent ROS signaling attenuates prostate fibroblast activation and abrogates stromal-mediated protumorigenic interactions', *Int J Cancer*, vol. 143, no. 2, pp. 383-95.

Sampson, N, Koziel, R, Zenzmaier, C, Bubendorf, L, Plas, E, Jansen-Durr, P & Berger, P 2011, 'ROS signaling by NOX4 drives fibroblast-to-myofibroblast differentiation in the diseased prostatic stroma', *Mol Endocrinol*, vol. 25, no. 3, pp. 503-15.

Santos-Parker, JR, LaRocca, TJ & Seals, DR 2014, 'Aerobic exercise and other healthy lifestyle factors that influence vascular aging', *Adv Physiol Educ*, vol. 38, no. 4, pp. 296-307.

Saposnik, G, Ray, JG, Sheridan, P, McQueen, M, Lonn, E & Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation, I 2009, 'Homocysteine-lowering therapy and stroke risk, severity, and disability: additional findings from the HOPE 2 trial', *Stroke*, vol. 40, no. 4, pp. 1365-72.

Schaffer, A, Verdoia, M, Cassetti, E, Marino, P, Suryapranata, H, De Luca, G & Novara Atherosclerosis Study, G 2014, 'Relationship between homocysteine and coronary artery disease. Results from a large prospective cohort study', *Thromb Res*, vol. 134, no. 2, pp. 288-93.

Schmitt, CA, Heiss, EH, Aristei, Y, Severin, T & Dirsch, VM 2009, 'Norfuraneol dephosphorylates eNOS at threonine 495 and enhances eNOS activity in human endothelial cells', *Cardiovasc Res*, vol. 81, no. 4, pp. 750-7.

Schramm, A, Matusik, P, Osmenda, G & Guzik, TJ 2012, 'Targeting NADPH oxidases in vascular pharmacology', *Vascul Pharmacol*, vol. 56, no. 5-6, pp. 216-31.

Schurmann, C, Rezende, F, Kruse, C, Yasar, Y, Lowe, O, Fork, C, van de Sluis, B, Bremer, R, Weissmann, N, Shah, AM, Jo, H, Brandes, RP & Schroder, K 2015, 'The NADPH oxidase Nox4 has anti-atherosclerotic functions', *Eur Heart J*.

Sedeek, M, Gutsol, A, Montezano, AC, Burger, D, Nguyen Dinh Cat, A, Kennedy, CR, Burns, KD, Cooper, ME, Jandeleit-Dahm, K, Page, P, Szyndralewiez, C, Heitz, F, Hebert, RL & Touyz, RM 2013, 'Renoprotective effects of a novel Nox1/4 inhibitor in a mouse model of Type 2 diabetes', *Clin Sci (Lond)*, vol. 124, no. 3, pp. 191-202.

Selemidis, S, Sobey, CG, Wingler, K, Schmidt, HHHW & Drummond, GR 2008, 'NADPH oxidases in the vasculature: Molecular features, roles in disease and pharmacological inhibition', *Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, vol. 120, no. 3, pp. 254-91.

Sen, U, Mishra, PK, Tyagi, N & Tyagi, SC 2010, 'Homocysteine to hydrogen sulfide or hypertension', *Cell Biochem Biophys*, vol. 57, no. 2-3, pp. 49-58.

Sen, U, Pushpakumar, SB, Amin, MA & Tyagi, SC 2014, 'Homocysteine in renovascular complications: Hydrogen sulfide is a modulator and plausible anaerobic ATP generator', *Nitric Oxide*, vol. 41C, pp. 27-37.

Shafique, E, Choy, WC, Liu, Y, Feng, J, Cordeiro, B, Lyra, A, Arafah, M, Bianchi, C, Benjamin, LE, Sellke, FW & Abid, MR 2013, 'Oxidative stress improves coronary endothelial function through activation of the pro-survival kinase AMPK', *Aging*, vol. 5, no. 7, pp. 515-30.

Sharma, M, Rai, SK, Tiwari, RK, Tiwari, M & Chandra, R 2008, 'Effects of Nitric Oxide Modulators on Cardiovascular Risk Factors in

Mild Hyperhomocysteinaemic Rat Model', *Basic & Clinical Pharmacology & Toxicology*, vol. 103, pp. 25-30.

Sharma, S, Singh, M & Sharma, PL 2013, 'Mechanism of hyperhomocysteinemia-induced vascular endothelium dysfunction - possible dysregulation of phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase and its downstream phosphoinositide dependent kinase and protein kinase B', *Eur J Pharmacol*, vol. 721, no. 1-3, pp. 365-72.

Shimizu, S, Shiota, K, Yamamoto, S, Miyasaka, Y, Ishii, M, Watabe, T, Nishida, M, Mori, Y, Yamamoto, T & Kiuchi, Y 2003, 'Hydrogen peroxide stimulates tetrahydrobiopterin synthesis through the induction of GTP-cyclohydrolase I and increases nitric oxide synthase activity in vascular endothelial cells', *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, vol. 34, no. 10, pp. 1343-52.

Silva, JF, Correa, IC, Diniz, TF, Lima, PM, Santos, RL, Cortes, SF, Coimbra, CC & Lemos, VS 2016, 'Obesity, Inflammation, and Exercise Training: Relative Contribution of iNOS and eNOS in the Modulation of Vascular Function in the Mouse Aorta', *Front Physiol*, vol. 7, p. 386.

Silverman, MG, Ference, BA, Im, K & et al. 2016, 'Association between lowering ldl-c and cardiovascular risk reduction among different therapeutic interventions: A systematic review and meta-analysis', *JAMA*, vol. 316, no. 12, pp. 1289-97.

Sipkens, JA, Krijnen, PA, Hahn, NE, Wassink, M, Meischl, C, Smith, DE, Musters, RJ, Stehouwer, CD, Rauwerda, JA, van Hinsbergh, VW & Niessen, HW 2011, 'Homocysteine-induced cardiomyocyte apoptosis and plasma membrane flip-flop are independent of S-adenosylhomocysteine: a crucial role for nuclear p47(phox)', *Mol Cell Biochem*, vol. 358, no. 1-2, pp. 229-39.

Siu, KL, Lotz, C, Ping, P & Cai, H 2014, 'Netrin-1 abrogates ischemia/reperfusion-induced cardiac mitochondrial dysfunction via nitric oxide-dependent attenuation of NOX4 activation and recoupling of NOS', *J Mol Cell Cardiol*.

Smith, BC, Underbakke, ES, Kulp, DW, Schief, WR & Marletta, MA 2013, 'Nitric oxide synthase domain interfaces regulate electron transfer and calmodulin activation', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, vol. 110, no. 38, pp. E3577-86.

Smith, R, Kruzliak, P, Adamcikova, Z & Zulli, A 2015, 'Role of Nox inhibitors plumbagin, ML090 and gp91ds-tat peptide on homocysteine thiolactone induced blood vessel dysfunction', *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol*, vol. 42, no. 8, pp. 860-4.

Song, S, Kertowidjojo, E, Ojaimi, C, Martin-Fernandez, B, Kandhi, S, Wolin, M & Hintze, TH 2015, 'Long-term methionine-diet induced mild hyperhomocysteinemia associated cardiac metabolic dysfunction in multiparous rats', *Physiol Rep*, vol. 3, no. 5.

Sorescu, D 2002, 'Superoxide Production and Expression of Nox Family Proteins in Human Atherosclerosis', *Circulation*, vol. 105, no. 12, pp. 1429-35.

Spanier., G, Xu., H, Xia., N, Tobias., S, Deng., S, Wojnowski., L, Forstermann., U & Li., H 2009, 'Revasterol reduces endothelial oxidative stress by modulating the gene expression of superoxide dismutase 1 (SOD1), glutathione peroxidase 1 (GPX1) and NADPH oxidase subunit (NOX4)', *Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology*, vol. 60, no. Supp. 4, pp. 111-6.

Spence, JD, Bang, H, Chambless, LE & Stampfer, MJ 2005, 'Vitamin Intervention For Stroke Prevention trial: an efficacy analysis', *Stroke*, vol. 36, no. 11, pp. 2404-9.

Stancu, C & Sima, A 2001, 'Statins: mechanism of action and effects', *Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine*, vol. 5, no. 4, pp. 378-87.

Steed, MM & Tyagi, SC 2011, 'Mechanisms of cardiovascular remodeling in hyperhomocysteinemia', *Antioxid Redox Signal*, vol. 15, no. 7, pp. 1927-43.

Steinbrenner, H, Speckman, B, Pnito, A & Sies, H 2011, 'High slenium intake and increased diabetes risk: experimental evidence for interplay between selenium and carbohydrate metabolism', *J. Clin. Biochem. Nutr*, vol. 48, no. 1, pp. 40-5.

Stockler-Pinto, MB, Mafra, D, Moraes, C, Lobo, J, Boaventura, GT, Farage, NE, Silva, WS, Cozzolino, SF & Malm, O 2014, 'Brazil nut (Bertholletia excelsa, H.B.K.) improves oxidative stress and inflammation biomarkers in hemodialysis patients', *Biol Trace Elem Res*, vol. 158, no. 1, pp. 105-12.

Su, W, Wan, Q, Han, L, Huang, J, Chen, X, Chen, G, Zheng, SG & Liang, D 2014, 'Doxycycline exerts multiple anti-allergy effects to attenuate murine allergic conjunctivitis and systemic anaphylaxis', *Biochem Pharmacol*, vol. 91, no. 3, pp. 359-68.

Suematsu, N, Ojaimi, C, Kinugawa, S, Wang, Z, Xu, X, Koller, A, Recchia, FA & Hintze, TH 2007, 'Hyperhomocysteinemia alters cardiac substrate metabolism by impairing nitric oxide bioavailability through oxidative stress', *Circulation*, vol. 115, no. 2, pp. 255-62.

Sun, Q-A, Hess, DT, Wang, B, Miyagi, M & Stamler, JS 2012, 'Off-target thiol alkylation by the NADPH oxidase inhibitor 3-benzyl-7-(2-benzoxazolyl)thio-1,2,3-triazolo[4,5-d]pyrimidine (VAS2870)', *Free Radic Biol Med*, vol. 52, no. 9, pp. 1897-902.

Taguchi, K, Hida, M, Hasegawa, M, Matsumoto, T & Kobayashi, T 2016, 'Dietary polyphenol morin rescues endothelial dysfunction in a diabetic mouse model by activating the Akt/eNOS pathway', *Mol Nutr Food Res*, vol. 60, no. 3, pp. 580-8.

Takeno, A, Kanazawa, I, Tanaka, K-i, Notsu, M, Yokomoto-Umakoshi, M & Sugimoto, T 2016, 'Simvastatin rescues homocysteine-induced apoptosis of osteocytic MLO-Y4 cells by decreasing the expressions of NADPH oxidase 1 and 2', *Endocrine Journal*, vol. 63, no. 4, pp. 389-95.

Takeno, A, Kanazawa, I, Tanaka, K-i, Notsu, M, Yokomoto, M, Yamaguchi, T & Sugimoto, T 2015, 'Activation of AMP-activated protein kinase protects against homocysteine-induced apoptosis of osteocytic MLO-Y4 cells by regulating the expressions of NADPH oxidase 1 (Nox1) and Nox2', *Bone*, vol. 77, pp. 135-41.

Tan, Y, Li, X, Prabhu, SD, Brittian, KR, Chen, Q, Yin, X, McClain, CJ, Zhou, Z & Cai, L 2012, 'Angiotensin II plays a critical role in alcohol-induced cardiac nitrative damage, cell death, remodeling, and cardiomyopathy in a protein kinase C/nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidase-dependent manner', *J Am Coll Cardiol*, vol. 59, no. 16, pp. 1477-86.

Tang, XN, Cairns, B, Kim, JY & Yenari, MA 2012, 'NADPH oxidase in stroke and cerebrovascular disease', *Neurol Res*, vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 338-45.

Tarride, J-E, Lim, M, DesMeules, M, Luo, W, Burke, N, O'Reilly, D, Bowen, J & Goeree, R 2009, 'A review of the cost of cardiovascular disease', *The Canadian Journal of Cardiology*, vol. 25, no. 6, pp. e195-e202.

Taylor, F, Huffman, M, Macedo, A, Moore, T, Burke, M, Davey Smith, G, Ward, K & Ebrahim, S 2013, 'Statins for the primary prevention of cardiovascular disease', *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, no. 1, pp. 1-97.

Taylor, F, Ward, K, Moore, T, Burke, M, Davey Smith, G, Casas, J & Ebrahim, S 2011, 'Statins for the primary prevention of cardiovascular disease', *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, no. 1, pp. 1-38.

Teixeira, V & Tam, L-S 2018, 'Novel insights in systemic lupus erythematosus and atherosclerosis', *Frontiers in medicine*, vol. 4, p. 262.

Tejani, FH, Thompson, RC, Kristy, R & Bukofzer, S 2014, 'Effect of caffeine on SPECT myocardial perfusion imaging during regadenoson pharmacologic stress: a prospective, randomized, multicenter study', *Int J Cardiovasc Imaging*, vol. 30, no. 5, pp. 979-89.

Thampi, P, Stewart, BW, Joseph, L, Melnyk, SB, Hennings, LJ & Nagarajan, S 2008, 'Dietary homocysteine promotes atherosclerosis in apoE-deficient mice by inducing scavenger receptors expression', *Atherosclerosis*, vol. 197, no. 2, pp. 620-9.

Thompson, PD, Buchner, D, Piña, IL, Balady, GJ, Williams, MA, Marcus, BH, Berra, K, Blair, SN, Costa, F, Franklin, B, Fletcher, GF, Gordon, NF, Pate, RR, Rodriguez, BL, Yancey, AK & Wenger, NK 2003, 'Exercise and Physical Activity in the Prevention and Treatment of Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease', *A Statement From the Council on Clinical Cardiology (Subcommittee on Exercise, Rehabilitation, and Prevention) and the Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism (Subcommittee on Physical Activity)*, vol. 107, no. 24, pp. 3109-16.

Toole, JF, Malinow, MR, Chambless, LE, Spence, JD, Pettigrew, LC, Howard, VJ, Sides, EG, Wang, CH & Stampfer, M 2004, 'Lowering homocysteine in patients with ischemic stroke to prevent recurrent stroke, myocardial infarction, and death: the Vitamin Intervention for Stroke Prevention (VISP) randomized controlled trial', *JAMA*, vol. 291, no. 5, pp. 565-75.

Topal, G, Brunet, A, Millanvoye, E, Boucher, JL, Rendu, F, Devynck, MA & David-Dufilho, M 2004, 'Homocysteine induces oxidative stress by uncoupling of NO synthase activity through reduction of tetrahydrobiopterin', *Free Radic Biol Med*, vol. 36, no. 12, pp. 1532-41.

Tousoulis, D, Kourkouti, P, Antoniades, C, Briasoulis, A, Siasos, G, Vogiatzi, G, Valatsou, A, Oikonomou, E, Hatzis, G, Latsios, G & Perrea, D 2014, 'Impact of folic acid administration in homocysteine levels, inflammation and in atherosclerotic plaque area in apoE deficient mice', *Int J Cardiol*, vol. 177, no. 2, pp. 696-7.

Tribouilloy, CM, Peltier, M, Iannetta Peltier, MC, Trojette, F, Andrejak, M & Lesbre, J-PM 2000, 'Plasma Homocysteine and Severity of Thoracic Aortic Atherosclerosis', *Chest*, vol. 118, no. 6, pp. 1685-9.

Troiano, JA, Potje, SR, Graton, ME, Cavalari, P, Pereira, AA, Vale, GT, Nakamune, AC, Sumida, DH, Tirapelli, CR & Antoniali, C 2016, 'Decreased reactive oxygen species production and NOX1, NOX2, NOX4 expressions contribute to hyporeactivity to phenylephrine in aortas of pregnant SHR', *Life Sci*, vol. 144, pp. 178-84.

Tuo, Q-H, Wang, C, Yan, F-X & Liao, D-F 2004, 'MAPK pathway mediates the protective effects of onychin on oxidative stress-induced apoptosis in ECV304 endothelial cells', *Life Sci*, vol. 76, no. 5, pp. 487-97.

Tyagi, N, Kandel, M, Munjal, C, Qipshidze, N, Vacek, JC, Pushpakumar, SB, Metreveli, N & Tyagi, SC 2011, 'Homocysteine mediated decrease in bone blood flow and remodeling: role of folic acid', *J Orthop Res*, vol. 29, no. 10, pp. 1511-6.

Tyagi, N, Sedoris, KC, Steed, M, Ovechkin, AV, Moshal, KS & Tyagi, SC 2005, 'Mechanisms of homocysteine-induced oxidative stress', *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, vol. 289, no. 6, pp. H2649-56.

Ullrich, V & Kissner, R 2006, 'Redox signaling: bioinorganic chemistry at its best', *J Inorg Biochem*, vol. 100, no. 12, pp. 2079-86.

Upchurch, GR, Welch, GN, Fabian, AJ, Pigazzi, A, Keaney, JF & Loscalzo, J 1997, 'Stimulation of endothelial nitric oxide production by homocyst(e)ine', *Atherosclerosis*, vol. 132, no. 2, pp. 177-85.

Upmacis, RK, Shen, H, Benguigui, LE, Lamon, BD, Deeb, RS, Hajjar, KA & Hajjar, DP 2011, 'Inducible nitric oxide synthase provides protection against injury-induced thrombosis in female mice', *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, vol. 301, no. 2, pp. H617-24.

Vacek, T, Rahman, S, Yu, S, Neamtu, D, Givimani, S & Tyagi, S 2015, 'Matrix metalloproteinases in atherosclerosis: role of nitric oxide, hydrogen sulfide, homocysteine, and polymorphisms', *Vascular Health and Risk Management*, p. 173.

Van Craeyveld, E, Gordts, SC, Singh, N, Jacobs, F & De Geest, B 2012, 'A critical reassessment of murine and rabbit models of atherosclerosis: focus on lesion progression and remodelling', *Acta Cardiol*, vol. 67, no. 1, pp. 11-21.

van Guldener, C 2006, 'Why is homocysteine elevated in renal failure and what can be expected from homocysteine-lowering?', *Nephrol Dial Transplant*, vol. 21, no. 5, pp. 1161-6.

Vasdev, S, Stuckless, J & Richardson, V 2011, 'Role of the immune system in hypertension: modulation by dietary antioxidants', *Int J Angiol*, vol. 20, no. 4, pp. 189-212.

Veeranna, V, Zalawadiya, SK, Niraj, A, Pradhan, J, Ference, B, Burack, RC, Jacob, S & Afonso, L 2011, 'Homocysteine and reclassification of cardiovascular disease risk', *J Am Coll Cardiol*, vol. 58, no. 10, pp. 1025-33.

Vinet, A, Obert, P, Courteix, D, Chapier, R, Lesourd, B, Verney, J, Dutheil, F & Walther, G 2018, 'Different modalities of exercise improve macrovascular function but not microvascular function in metabolic syndrome: The RESOLVE randomized trial', *Int J Cardiol*, vol. 267, pp. 165-70.

Wang, C-y, Chen, Z-w, Zhang, T, Liu, J, Chen, S-h, Liu, S-y, Han, L-y, Hui, Z-h & Chen, Y-m 2014, 'Elevated plasma homocysteine level is associated with ischemic stroke in Chinese hypertensive patients', *European Journal of Internal Medicine*, vol. 25, no. 6, pp. 538-44.

Wang, R, Peng, L, Zhao, J, Zhang, L, Guo, C, Zheng, W & Chen, H 2015, 'Gardenamide A Protects RGC-5 Cells from H(2)O(2)-Induced Oxidative Stress Insults by Activating PI3K/Akt/eNOS Signaling Pathway', *Int J Mol Sci*, vol. 16, no. 9, pp. 22350-67.

Wang, S, Song, P & Zou, M-H 2012, 'AMP-activated protein kinase, stress responses and cardiovascular diseases', *Clin Sci (Lond)*, vol. 122, no. 12, pp. 555-73.

Weintraub, WS, Daniels, SR, Burke, LE, Franklin, BA, Goff, DC, Hayman, LL, Lloyd-Jones, D, Pandey, DK, Sanchez, EJ & Schram, AP 2011, 'Value of primordial and primary prevention for cardiovascular disease: a policy statement from the American Heart Association', *Circulation*, p. CIR. 0b013e3182285a81.

Weyemi, U, Redon, CE, Aziz, T, Choudhuri, R, Maeda, D, Parekh, PR, Bonner, MY, Arbiser, JL & Bonner, WM 2015, 'Inactivation of NADPH Oxidases NOX4 and NOX5 Protects Human Primary Fibroblasts from Ionizing Radiation-Induced DNA Damage', *Radiation research*, vol. 183, no. 3, pp. 262-70.

Wilson, JB, Welsch, M, Allen, J, Thomson, J, Tulley, R & Lefevre, M 2007, 'The association of homocysteine and related factors to brachial artery diameter and flow-mediated dilation', *Metabolism*, vol. 56, no. 5, pp. 641-8.

Wind, S, Beuerlein, K, Armitage, ME, Taye, A, Kumar, AH, Janowitz, D, Neff, C, Shah, AM, Wingler, K & Schmidt, HH 2010, 'Oxidative stress and endothelial dysfunction in aortas of aged spontaneously hypertensive rats by NOX1/2 is reversed by NADPH oxidase inhibition', *Hypertension*, vol. 56, no. 3, pp. 490-7.

Wingler, K, Altenhoefer, SA, Kleikers, PW, Radermacher, KA, Kleinschnitz, C & Schmidt, HH 2012, 'VAS2870 is a pan-NADPH oxidase inhibitor', *Cell Mol Life Sci*, vol. 69, no. 18, pp. 3159-60.

Wu, S, Gao, X, Yang, S, Meng, M, Yang, X & Ge, B 2015, 'The role of endoplasmic reticulum stress in endothelial dysfunction induced by homocysteine thiolactone', *Fundam Clin Pharmacol*, vol. 29, no. 3, pp. 252-9.

Xiao, GF, Xu, SH, Chao, Y, Xie, LD, Xu, CS & Wang, HJ 2014, 'PPARdelta activation inhibits homocysteine-induced p22(phox) expression in EA.hy926 cells through reactive oxygen species/p38MAPK pathway', *Eur J Pharmacol*, vol. 727, pp. 29-34.

Xing, S, Yang, X, Li, W, Bian, F, Wu, D, Chi, J, Xu, G, Zhang, Y & Jin, S 2014, 'Salidroside stimulates mitochondrial biogenesis and protects against H(2)O(2)-induced endothelial dysfunction', *Oxid Med Cell Longev*, vol. 2014, p. 904834.

Xing, SS, Yang, XY, Zheng, T, Li, WJ, Wu, D, Chi, JY, Bian, F, Bai, XL, Wu, GJ, Zhang, YZ, Zhang, CT, Zhang, YH, Li, YS & Jin, S 2015, 'Salidroside improves endothelial function and alleviates atherosclerosis by activating a mitochondria-related AMPK/PI3K/Akt/eNOS pathway', *Vascul Pharmacol*, vol. 72, pp. 141-52.

Yan, Z & Hansson, GK 1998, 'Overexpression of Inducible Nitric Oxide Synthase by Neointimal Smooth Muscle Cells', *Circ Res*, vol. 82, pp. 21-9.

Yang, YK, Wang, LP, Chen, L, Yao, XP, Yang, KQ, Gao, LG & Zhou, XL 2015, 'Coenzyme Q10 treatment of cardiovascular disorders of ageing including heart failure, hypertension and endothelial dysfunction', *Clin Chim Acta*, vol. 450, pp. 83-9.

Yap, S 2003, 'Classical homocystinuria: Vascular risk and its prevention', *J Inherit Metab Dis*, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 259-65.

Yi, F, Zhang, AY, Janscha, JL, Li, PL & Zou, AP 2004, 'Homocysteine activates NADH/NADPH oxidase through ceramide-stimulated Rac GTPase activity in rat mesangial cells', *Kidney International*, vol. 66, pp. 1977-87.

Yusuf, S, Dagenais, G, Pogue, J, Bosch, J & Sleight, P 2000, 'Vitamin E supplementation and cardiovascular events in high-risk patients', *N Engl J Med*, vol. 342, no. 3, pp. 154-60.

Zaragoza, C, Gomez-Guerrero, C, Martin-Ventura, JL, Blanco-Colio, L, Lavin, B, #xf1, Mallavia, B, #xf1, at, Tarin, C, Mas, S, Ortiz, A & Egido, J 2011, 'Animal Models of Cardiovascular Diseases', *Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology*, vol. 2011, p. 13.

Zhang, C, Yi, F, Xia, M, Boini, K, Zhu, Q, Laperle, LA, Abais, J, Brimson, CA & Li, PL 2010, 'NMDA Receptor-Mediated Activation of NADPH Oxidase and Glomerulosclerosis in Hyperhomocysteinemic Rats', *Antioxid Redox Signal*, vol. 13, no. 7, pp. 975-86.

Zhang, J, Chandrashekar, K, Lu, Y, Duan, Y, Qu, P, Wei, J, Juncos, LA & Liu, R 2014, 'Enhanced expression and activity of Nox2 and Nox4 in the macula densa in ANG II-induced hypertensive mice', *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol*, vol. 306, no. 3, pp. F344-50.

Zhang, M, Brewer, AC, Schroder, K, Santos, CX, Grieve, DJ, Wang, M, Anilkumar, N, Yu, B, Dong, X, Walker, SJ, Brandes, RP & Shah, AM 2010, 'NADPH oxidase-4 mediates protection against chronic load-induced stress in mouse hearts by enhancing angiogenesis', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, vol. 107, no. 42, pp. 18121-6.

Zhao, Y, Vanhoutte, PM & Leung, SW 2015, 'Vascular nitric oxide: Beyond eNOS', J *Pharmacol Sci*, vol. 129, no. 2, pp. 83-94.

Zivkovic, V, Jakovljevic, V, Djordjevic, D, Vuletic, M, Barudzic, N & Djuric, D 2012, 'The effects of homocysteine-related compounds on cardiac contractility, coronary flow, and oxidative stress markers in isolated rat heart', *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry*, vol. 370, no. 1-2, pp. 59-67.

Zou, CG, Gao, SY, Zhao, YS, Li, SD, Cao, XZ, Zhang, Y & Zhang, KQ 2009, 'Homocysteine enhances cell proliferation in hepatic myofibroblastic stellate cells', *J Mol Med (Berl)*, vol. 87, no. 1, pp. 75-84.

Zou, T, Yang, W, Hou, Z & Yang, J 2010, 'Homocysteine enhances cell proliferation in vascular smooth muscle cells: role of p38 MAPK and p47phox', *Acta Biochim Biophys Sin*, vol. 42, no. 12, pp. 908-15.

Zulli, A & Hare, DL 2009, 'High dietary methionine plus cholesterol stimulates early atherosclerosis and late fibrous cap development which is associated with a decrease in GRP78 positive plaque cells', *Int J Exp Pathol*, vol. 90, no. 3, pp. 311-20.

Zulli, A, Hare, DL, Buxton, BF & Black, MJ 2004, 'High dietary methionine plus cholesterol exacerbates atherosclerosis formation in the left main coronary artery of rabbits', *Atherosclerosis*, vol. 176, no. 1, pp. 83-9.

Zulli, A, Widdop, RE, Hare, DL, Buxton, BF & Black, MJ 2003, 'High methionine and cholesterol diet abolishes endothelial relaxation', *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, vol. 23, no. 8, pp. 1358-63.